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The First Ten Years


By the Rev. Robert S. Marsden


The
balmy spring air
of the spacious Central High School auditorium at Syracuse, New York, was charged with an expectancy
that was electric. It was June 1, 1936 and the 148th General Assembly of
the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America was in session. Solemnly the Clerk
announced the Permanent Judicial Commission of the church. He announced that
the Assembly was now sitting as a Court of Jesus Christ, and that all should
rise on the entrance of the Commission. He warned in somber tones that everyone
was forbidden to leave the room until the Commission had retired. The
Commission was to report on the judicial cases involving those who had opposed
the rise of Modernism in the denomination. In a stately manner, accentuated by
their black ministerial robes, the Commission advanced across the platform. The
immense congregation filling the auditorium rose to its feet and, when everyone
had again been seated, the Chairman introduced the member who was to read the
first decision.


In the center of the front row of the balcony sat a
young couple earnestly following the reading. The names Griffiths, MacPherson,
Rian, Woolley, Woodbridge, Mclntire,
Machen, Perkins, DeWaard—valiant
defenders of the faith—rang from the platform. The verdicts, expressed in
polite judicial terms but meaning, “guilty,” “guilty,” “guilty,” rang like a
knell through the. room. The reading of the last
decision had begun and the young man on the front row turned and whispered to
his wife, “What shall we do?” Her reply came promptly, “Let’s leave.” The
solemnity was broken ever so slightly by the stir accompanying the young
couple’s exit; human endurance had reached the breaking point as the travesty
progressed, and they could no longer remain.


Thus was one decision made, and throughout the land,
and even across the seas, Christian men and women who loved the Lord were
forced to decide whether they would rather be doorkeepers in the house of God
or dwell in the tents of wickedness. Too often worldly preferment won the
verdict over conscientious duty; but for those whose decision was on the side
of the Lord there was begun the first ten years of happy life in a church
dedicated to His service alone.


The decisions of the 148th General Assembly were no
surprise to anyone. For years the persecution of zealous believers had gone
forward apace in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. By slow but sure process through
the courts of the church, the court of final appeal had been reached. Those who
were pronounced guilty by the church speaking through its highest court were
those who had been engaged in peculiar “crimes.” Some of them had organized a
missions board that was dedicated to the sending forth of missionaries who were
committed to the Bible as the Word of God and who were truly in accord with the
doctrinal standards of the church. At least one of them had taken part in the
organization of an independent Bible camp, and this was adjudged to be an
illegal act although it was not even alleged that anything contrary to the Word
of God was being taught there. One had refused to promise not to criticise the boards and agencies of the church even when
those boards engaged in anti-Biblical practices. The events leading up to that
day in 1936 are well chronicled by one of the participants, the Rev. Edwin H. Rian, in his book The Presbyterian Co?ifhct.


It is sufficient here to say that those who were
declared unfit for the office of the ministry by the Presbyterian Church in the
U.S.A. were those who for years had been
the most ardent defenders of the faith once delivered unto the saints. The
actions which had led up to the convictions—the establishment of Westminster
Theological Seminary, the establishment of Christianity Today and,
later, of The Presbyterian Guardian, the attacks in the courts of the
church upon the Modernism in the boards and agencies, the organization of the
Independent Board for Presbyterian Foreign Missions and the organization of the
Presbyterian Constitutional Covenant Union—were righteous acts; and it was for
such righteous acts that the participants were condemned.


In condemning the most faithful ministers of the
church, the denomination had demonstrated that it was completely under the
control of Modernists and of those indifferent to the gospel. It had come under
the control of those whose interest was not in the
preaching of the truth as it is in Christ Jesus, but in building a church. It
was freely said that the church was for everyone—and the actions of the
assembly made it clear that “everyone” meant Modernists and Bible-believers
alike.


The “sin” for which the most faithful ministers of the
church were condemned was, in the last analysis, the “sin” of refusing to obey
the church even when obedience to the church meant disobedience to Christ. By
carrying their appeals through all the courts of the church and having them
dismissed by the church’s supreme court, those who
were condemned were assured that their condemnations were not simply temporary
actions of ill-advised presbyteries. When the general assembly, on June
 1, 1936, affirmed the condemnations of these ministers, it officially placed
its stamp of approval on grievous and heinous sins of the presbyteries and
synods. The assembly by its official judicial action set up the church as the
supreme authority over the consciences of its members; the authority of the
church was placed above the authority of God; Christ, the supreme Head of the
church, was dethroned. This was in direct contravention of the teaching of the
Bible and of the Westminster Confession of Faith (Chapter I, Section X), and,
in the eyes of many, it constituted official apostasy.


A new church was not necessary merely because there was
Modernism in the old church; Modernism had existed in the church long before
1936. The new church was necessary because the denomination had officially
sanctioned a grave departure from the Biblical doctrine of the final authority
of the Word of God. and because the legal ways of
combating this unbelief from within the church had been exhausted.


The First General Asrembly
of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church was a logical sequel to the events of June
1st. Called at the New Century Club in Philadelphia as the first annual convention of
the Presbyterian Constitutional Covenant Union, the Union dissolved on the morning of June
11th and the First Assembly was constituted in the afternoon of that day. In
the words of the Rev. H. McAllister Griffiths, D.D., who presided and who
offered the constituting resolutions, the church was formed in order “to
continue what we believe to be the true, spiritual succession of the
Presbyterian Church in the United States of America which we hold to have been
abandoned by the present organization of that body. . . .” Those who were
willing to adhere to the declarations were then asked to rise, and in their own
name and in the name of those who adhered to them and by the warrant and
authority of the Lord Jesus Christ they constituted themselves a general
assembly of The Presbyterian Church of America. Ruling Elder Gordon H. Clark,
Ph.D., then presented the name of the Rev. J. Gresham Machen,


D.D.,
Litt.D., for moderator and amid great applause Dr. Machen
was elected. The Rev. Professor Paul Woolley was
elected the Clerk of the Assembly.


Thus the work of The Presbyterian Church of America, as
it was then called, began in its first assembly. The ground to be covered was
one which had not before been trod—the reestablishment of a truly Presbyterian
witness in this country and throughout the world. In general, those who were
undertaking the task were young—the average age of the ministry in the church
is not yet much above thirty years. The pitfalls were well hid and the rather
easy optimism of the first assembly was soon dissipated. The conflict against
Modernism in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. had drawn together a number of
diverse elements in that church. They were united by a common foe but they were
not united by a common objective. A number of those who had been active in
opposition to Modernism in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. resigned from that church and
remained independent rather than join another Presbyterian church. Some who had been most valiant in the fight but who had not directlv been connected with the judicial cases elected to
remain in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. Others joined The Presbyterian
Church of America for a time, only to leave it by the end of the first year.


In spite of all this, the lirst
assembly evidenced a great deal of unanimity, although even then there were
rumblings of dissatisfaction with the distinctly Presbyterian positions which
were taken by Dr. Machen and leaders of the movement.
The Christian Beacon, published by the Rev. Carl Mclntire,
was the voice even then of the dissidents. While the first assembly took
decisive steps to establish a clear testimony, the evidence of a cleavage was
apparent even there. An appeal was made, at least informally, to include in the
doctrinal standards of the church the Declaratory Statement which had been
attached to the Westminster Confession of Faith in 1903 and which is Arminian in character. Pleas were heard to the effect that,
if the new church were to be the spiritual successor of the Presbyterian Church
in the United States of America, it must adopt its whole
constitution and polity. The majority in the church felt that it would be folly
to adopt those elements of the church’s doctrine and polity that had
contributed to its decadence. The assembly elected a Committee 011 the
Constitution and a Committee on Home Missions and Church Extension which was
given broad powers of a commission to operate the church between the first and
second assemblies. It likewise elected smaller committees on Foreign Missions
and Christian Education.


Shortly after the adjournment of the first assembly,
the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America began suit against The Presbyterian
Church of America, charging it with using a name too similar to its own name.
This is a peculiarly blatant example of the vindictiveness of the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A., since at one time that body had
existed in two separate parts with identical names and it had existed in close
comity with the Presbyterian Church in the U. S. (the official name of the Southern
Presbyterian Church) for decades. However, the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. won the suit in the Common Pleas Court and it was subsequently decided not
to appeal the case to the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania but rather to change
the name.


Between the first and second assemblies, the church
expanded rapidly and by the time of the second assembly there were over one
hundred ministers enrolled, compared with the forty-four who had been enrolled
at the first assembly. By the third general assembly, which met in June, 1937,
there were one hundred twenty-eight ministers enrolled.


By the time of the second assembly, which was held in
November, 1936, the growing rupture in the church had become more apparent. The
Committee on the Constitution, through its chairman, the Rev. Ned B. Sionehouse, Th.D., presented its
report which indicated clearly that it was an orthodox Presbyterian church
which was being established. Attempts were made to modify the constitution to
make it more specific in its references to the visible, personal and glorious
return of the Lord Jesus Christ. Presbyterian churches have always welcomed on
equal footing those who accept this precious doctrine, regardless of the
detailed interpretations of it which individuals might give.


During the summer of 1936, The Presbyterian Guardian
had expressed itself in opposition to Modern Dispensationalism
and it was thought by some that opposition to Dispensationalism
meant opposition to the doctrine of the premillennial
return of Christ. The church had from the beginning shown zeal that modern
dispensationalists not be included among its ministry
and eldership, and it was this zeal which brought about attempts to alter the
Confession of Faith. It is significant that those who, at the Second General
Assembly, opposed the adoption of the Westminster Confession of Faith as it
existed prior to 1903, without modification, were almost identical in personnel
with those who eventually left the church in the summer of 1937.


The second assembly showed a great fear of the
centralization of power which had been so evident in the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A. and it determined, as far as
practicable, that no member should serve on more than one standing committee.
This precedent has been observed since that time.


During the winter and spring of 1936-37 there were
growing rumors of disunity in the infant church. The Independent Board for
Presbyterian Foreign Missions had replaced Dr. Machen
with another president, even'though Dr. Machen believed that a real principle was involved and had
openly stood for re-election. A teacher in Westminster Theological Seminary had
resigned from the faculty and it was reported that a new seminary would be
formed. By the time the third assembly met it became evident that schism was
inevitable. Immediately upon the convening of the assembly, there was a contest
over the election of a moderator and the Rev. John J. DeWaard
was elected over the Rev. Milo F. Jamison by a vote of 70 to 23. It was
generally known that Mr. DeWaard represented the
group in the church which was opposed to tampering with the Confession of Faith
and which was opposed to making declaratory statements 011 matters of personal
conduct. The vote for moderator was in about the same proportion as the vote
throughout the assembly wherever the cleavage became apparent. The minority,
apart from seeking a declaration concerning eschatological freedom, pressed
hard for a declaration against the beverage use of alcohol. The majority in the
church made it clear that they opposed all forms of intemperance and that which
would lead to intemperance. Yet they felt that loyalty to Christ forbade their
adopting rules or giving advice which went beyond the Word of God. They held
dear the Biblical doctrine of the adequacy of Scripture to reveal not only what
man is to believe concerning God but also what duty God requires of man. They
maintained that to add man-made rules to the Scripture was as harmful as to
subtract from the Scripture. They had fought the latter tendency in the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and they were prepared to wage just
as strong a baLtle against the former tendency in the
new denomination. Shortly after the assembly, about thirty ministers resigned
from the church and many of them took part in the organization of the Bible
Presbyterian Church and of Faith Theological Seminary.


At the end of its first year the church had gone
through deep waters indeed. Dr. Machen had been the
outstanding leader, and 011 January 1, 1937, Dr. Machen
had died. During the Christmas vacation at Westminster Theological Seminary,
where he was Professor of New Testament and chairman of the faculty, he had
gone to North Dakota to speak in several rural churches
and to hold a rally in Bismarck. He had been troubled with a severe
cold before he left and the winter weather had aggravated the condition which
led finally to pneumonia. On New Year’s Day he went to be with the Lord. At the
time of his death, he was the outstanding New Testament scholar in this
country. He was a gentleman of wide culture and of generous affections. He had a knowledge of the Bible, coupled with unusual wisdom and
foresight such as no other individual in the movement has possessed. His place
has not in any sense been filled in the church. He was deeply loved by his
friends and was greatly respected even by those who most vigorously opposed him.
His death had been followed by the active disaffection of a large section of
the church and the disruption of the Independent Board for Presbyterian Foreign
Missions. In addition to these blows, the Rev. Charles J. Woodbridgc,
who had been general secretary of the Independent Board and who had resigned to
become general secretary of the Missions Committees of the church, withdrew
into another denomination. The Christian Beacon had used its wide
circulation in an attempt to discredit the church throughout the nation. Had
the church been dependent upon man, the remaining leaders would not have had
courage to go on. But their dependence was upon God. The Rev. Edwin H. Rian, who at that time was field secretary of Westminster
Theological Seminary, did valiant service in traveling about the country
encouraging groups here and there to persist in the work to which they had put
their hands.


The withdrawal of so many who had been active in the
church greatly embarrassed the program of the Home Missions Committee. Its
income was cut nearly in half and missionaries were but partially paid for
months at a time. Yet by the time of the fourth assembly, in 1938, the church
had begun its recovery. There was again unity in the church and while the size
of the assembly had shrunk to about sixty commissioners, there was a
determination to go forward. The church continued work on its constitution. It
decided to expand the work of its Committee on Christian Education and
encouraged it to publish tracts. It took action in encouraging the Missions
Committees to secure a full-time general secretary.


The fourth assembly had authorized the calling of a
fifth assembly if action on the Civil Suit should demand the change of the name
of the church and the fifth assembly met in February, 1939, for that purpose. A
number of names had been proposed for the church, and the ones which obtained
the most support were “The Evangelical Presbyterian Church,” “The Presbyterian
and Reformed Church of America,” “The Protestant Presbyterian Church of America”
and “The Orthodox Presbyterian Church of America.” The debate was vigorous and
sometimes heated and lasted from about noon until nearly midnight 011 February 9th. Straw ballots
were taken during the day and at one point it seemed almost certain that the
name “Protestant Presbyterian Church” would be chosen. Yet, led by the Rev.
Everett C. DeVelde and other members of the
Presbytery of Ohio, the champions of the word “Orthodox” persisted in their
endeavors to have that adjective adopted. When they finally won, and the name
The Orthodox Presbyterian Church was adopted, there appeared a remarkable
commentary upon the unity of the church: all groups accepted the new name
graciously, and the whole church has since then become proud of its highly
descriptive name.


The sixth general assembly was perhaps the shortest
anti met, as have five of the last eight assemblies, at Westminster Theological
Seminary. Work was continued on the constitution, and the interest of the
church in what the Bible teaches was demonstrated by the appointment of a
Committee on Texts and Proof Texts to accompany the Confession and the
Catechisms.


The seventh assembly was royally entertained in Cincinnati, Ohio. There was much discussion
concerning oath-bound secret societies and a committee was elected to consider
the matter. This finally resulted in the ninth assembly’s declaration that
membership in the Masonic order is inconsistent with Christianity. At the time
of the Seventh Assembly there was a possibility of union with a small church in
Puerto
 Rico
and preliminary plans for such a union occupied a large portion of the debate.
Complaint was heard in the assembly against what was considered by some to be
the unrepresentative character of The Presbyterian Guardian.


By the time of the Eighth Assembly it was beginning to
be evident that there was growing dissatisfaction in the church regarding its
slow progress. Apparently, at the beginning, at least some ministers had felt
that the church would grow more rapidly than it had. Many reasons were advanced
for the lack of great growth and there was an increasing feeling among a vocal
minority that the leadership of the church, which had been centered in the
faculty of Westminster Theological Seminary, was not broad enough in its
outlook. A committee of nine was elected by the eighth assembly “to study the
relationship of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church to society in general, and to
other ecclesiastical bodies in particular, with a view to bringing in to the
next general assembly recommendations suggesting ways and means whereby the
message and methods of our church may be better implemented to meet the needs
of this generation and The Orthodox Presbyterian Church may have an increasing
area of influence and make a greater impact on life today.” The Eighth Assembly
continued to plan advancements for the church and there was adequate discussion
and consideration given to various elements of the missionary and Christian
Education endeavors. The assembly completed its work on the constitution, which
was finally adopted.


At the ninth assembly, which met in Rochester, New York, the discussion centered around the report of the Committee of Nine. A majority of
the Committee had made a number of recommendations, including one for a
committee to study the matter of cooperation with evangelical churches and one
to the effect that the assembly make a declaration regarding the teaching of
the Word of God on the matter of Christian liberty and its proper use. These
and other recommendations were vigorously opposed by a minority of the
Committee and by a number of commissioners. Ultimately the recommendation
concerning cooperation with evangelical churches was defeated by a narrow
margin and the recommendation concerning Christian liberty was passed, with
some modifications. The Committee, however, was not continued and fear was
expressed that, had it been continued, it might have become a “super-committee”
which would engage in activities similar to those of the dreaded General
Council of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A.


The tenth assembly was marred in its discussion by
procedural difficulties and confusion over parliamentary law. The debate
centered largely around a proposal to engage in mission work in Peru, a
complaint against certain advice which the Presbytery of Philadelphia had given
to the Presbytery of Ohio, and the conduct of Jewish Missions. The assembly was
apprehensive lest the Committee on Foreign Missions should engage in union
activities in Peru which would compromise the
distinctive witness of the church. The assembly also initiated steps which
should ultimately lead to the publication of an Orthodox Presbyterian Hymnal.


At the eleventh assembly a number of controversial
matters were presented for debate, and proposal was made that Westminster Theological
Seminary be placed under the jurisdiction of the church. Exception was taken to
the position which The Presbyterian Guardian had taken on several
issues, and an attempt was made to have the Guardian removed from the
budget of the standing committees. A proposal that the church unite wTith the American Council of Christian Churches
led to the formation of a committee to consider such affiliation. A great deal
of feeling was generated by questions which were raised concerning the beliefs
of Gordon H. Clark, Ph.D., whose application for licensure had been given
preliminary consideration by the Presbytery of Philadelphia. Yet this assembly
also made substantial advances in the progress of the church and showed itself willing to consider seriously questions which were
raised before it. Considerable attention was given to the matter of Christian
Education and a sizable report of the Committee on Local Evangelism was
presented to the assembly. This was one of several such reports which the Rev.
Calvin K. Cummings, the chairman of the Committee, has presented and which
demonstrate the interest of the church in reaching the unsaved with the gospel.


During the summer of 1944, Dr. Clark had been ordained
by the Presbytery of Philadelphia and much of the time of the twelfth assembly
was occupied with the consideration of a complaint which a minority of the
presbytery felt compelled to bring to the assembly against Dr. Clark’s
ordination. The twelfth assembly, which met in May, 1945, was the longest thus
far, and it considered many important matters. It adopted rules of order which
contributed to making its work more efficient and it gave consideration to the
matter of ministerial pensions. It received a well-formulated set of principles
of Christian Education and Pedagogy which was presented by the Committee on
Christian Education. It likewise heard of substantial advances in the fields of
missions and Christian Education. More than half the time was spent on the Clark case and on opposition to The
Presbyterian Guardian. The journal was again recommended by the assembly,
which retained it on the budget of the standing committees.


Since the twelfth assembly an unprecedentedly
large number of special committees have been preparing reports for the
thirteenth assembly which will convene at Westminster Theological Seminary on
May 21st. The minutes of the twelfth assembly reveal that there are now no less
than thirteen such committees, and they are
investigating many pertinent subjects—from the doctrinal elements of a
complaint to the improvement of standing rules. Many hours are spent in their
labors and the willingness of the general assemblies to direct committees to
search the Scriptures is one of the most encouraging features of the progress
of the church. The committee work has largely been done by a comparatively few
individuals who live adjacent to Philadelphia. It is they who have done the most
to shape the later course of the denomination. The following ten men have been
most active in committee work during the past five years: the Rev. Messrs. John
Murray, Robert S. Marsden, John H. Skilton, Ned B. Stonehouse, John P. Clelland, R. B. Kuiper,
Robert Strong. Paul Woolley and Edward J. Young, and ruling elder Murray Forst Thompson.


The first ten years of the life of the church tell a
story of success. The foundations for a very strong church which will be
Presbyterian in government and polity and Reformed in doctrine have been well
laid. The church has grown substantially. The first published statistics are
those of the year which ended March 31, 1938, and they show that the church had
4225 communicant members in 56 congregations. On March
 31, 1945, the church had 73 congregations embracing 5574 communicant members
and, in addition to these, 1838 baptized infants. By the middle of 1938 the
church had become quite stable, and all but two of the congregations whose
statistics appear in the minutes of the fourth assembly appear in the minutes
of the twelfth assembly. The number of ministerial members has not fallen below
one hundred and it has consistently been within a few of that number. Fewer and
fewer of our ministers are laboring in churches that are not members of the
denomination, and a number of those congregations which began as independent
churches have joined the denomination. New churches have constantly been
organized and there are no less than ten chapels and missions that are even now
in the process of organization. Contributions to the work of the church have risen
greatly, and they amounted to over $300,000 for the year which ended in March,
1945. Per capita contributions rose from $30.17 a
communicant member in 1940 to $54.30 for the 1944-45 fiscal year. Per capita
contributions of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church are thus more than double
those of most churches, and the church stands among the very highest in the
whole country in this matter. These gains have been made possible through the
almost incredible self-sacrifices of ministers and laymen alike. Thoughts of
worldly preferment and comfort have been thrown to the winds by large numbers
of people in the church and the most sacrificial efforts have been made to
enable the local churches to become established. Many laymen, as well as
ministers, have given not only of their income but of their meager capital to
enable their local church and the whole denomination to go forward. No such
history of success could be written without recording these sacrifices.


But the success cannot adequately be measured in terms
of growth. The first ten years of the church’s life have witnessed many other
signs of great vitality, in 1937, when great temptations were placed before the
church to depart from the Scripture, the church, at great cost, withstood the
temptations. At that time it was fully realized that the church would be able
to make a much more popular appeal if it did not adhere strictly to the Bible
and to the Bible alone. Yet the church was willing to pay the price of lack of
popularity to remain truly a church in which the Word was the supreme
authority.


The church has likewise shown an ability to do things
thoroughly and in good order. A perusal of the minutes of the several general assemblies, will make it clear that, while the method of
doing business is sometimes tedious, the business is well done. The reports
which the committees have presented from time to time have shown a great amount
of work and a most commendable zeal for the truth. The church has not been so
busy doing things that it has had no time to do things right. It has been
willing to give time and energy to searching out the truth as well as to
applying it to the needs of our day.


The church has also shown a willingness to engage in
controversy. Sometimes, to be sure, too large a portion of its energies has
been spent in controversy, but when a church ceases to be willing to engage in
controversy it has ceased truly to live. In any Bible-believing church, there
will be differences of opinion concerning the message which the Bible teaches
and the program of the church which the Bible authorizes. Time after time the
church has shown a willingness to look into controversial matters in an attempt
to discover what the Bible does teach. It has done this with a determination to
follow that teaching regardless of what the consequences may be. It did that
when it investigated oath-bound secret societies; it did that when it
authorized a committee on song in the public worship of God; it did that when
it erected a committee to study the question of theological education.
Proposals to delineate the relationship of ministers laboring in other
denominations were examined in the light of the Word. The possibility of a
federation of Reformed churches and of union with at least one other church has
been investigated, and the proper relationship of a truly Reformed church to a
council of Bible-believing churches has been examined. Biblical methods of
conducting evangelism and of conducting the work of Christian education have
carefully been sought. Truly Biblical missions have been established throughout
the country and in at least four foreign lands. Special committees have been
erected by every assembly, and to them has been committed the task of
discovering what the Bible teaches on the several subjects that have occupied
the church. To be sure, sometimes the church has been impatient in insisting
that a satisfactory answer be immediately found to problems which have troubled
the church for centuries. Yet the willingness to investigate questions that are
properly brought before it is one of the most hopeful things in the whole
history of the church.


It is the opinion of your historian that all the
dominant elements of the church are zealous for the establishment and
development of a truly orthodox Presbyterian witness. Opinions differ, indeed,
on comparative details concerning what a truly orthodox Presbyterian church is
and upon how it can be established and made to grow in our present age. But
since the church has shown itself willing to submit itself to the Word of God in
all things, there is good hope that the several elements in the church will
find their common ground in the Word of God which all confess as their only
infallible rule of faith and life. May the God of all grace grant
that, if the Lord tarries, those who examine the history of The Orthodox
Presbyterian Church at the end of its first hundred years may find there a
church that was firmly established in its first ten years! May He grant that it
will continue to grow and expand in complete loyalty to the Lord and to His
Word until the kingdoms of this world become the Kingdom of our Lord and of His
Christ—until the roll of God's elect is complete and the Lord Jesus Christ
returns with power and great glory to subdue all things unto Himself!


The Committee on Foreign Missions


The Orthodox Presbyterian Church was born of a controversy
that had its focus in a Board of Foreign Missions. Hence it is not surprising
that it should be a church that is vitally interested in foreign missions. The
constituency of the church was almost entirely recruited from those who had
supported the establishment of the Independent Board for Presbyterian Foreign
Missions and, when the members of that Board were disciplined in the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., it was those who were to make up
the new church which championed their cause. The First General Assembly
appointed a committee on foreign missions, and when this committee reported to
the second assembly it took cognizance of the Independent Board; the assembly
recommended that Board to the churches. The second assembly elected a committee
of five, without any authority to receive and disburse funds or to carry on
foreign missions. It was at the instance of a majority of this committee, led
by its chairman, the Rev. P'ranklin S. Dyrness, that the third assembly determined to erect a
standing committee to carry on foreign missions activity. The third assembly
thus proceeded to the election of the Committee on Foreign Missions. In
conjunction with the Committee on Home Missions and Church Extension, it
elected the Rev. Charles J. Woodbridge as general secretary. Mr. Woodbridge had
been general secretary of the Independent Board, but he served the committees
only two months and then resigned and transferred to another denomination.


The first missionaries, with the exception of the Rev.
Malcolm C. Frehn, had all been missionaries under the
Independent Board and by the time ot
the fourth assembly there were seven missionaries under appointment. Their
ranks were increased to nine by the end of 1938, and these original
missionaries included, in the order of their appointment, Mr. and Mrs. Richard
B. Gaffin, the Rev. R. Heber Mcllwaine,
the Rev. Egbert W. Andrews, Mr. Frehn,
the Rev. and Mrs. Henry W. Coray and the Rev. and
Mrs. Bruce F. Hunt. They were laboring in China, in Japan and in Manchuria.


These missionaries all worked effectively in their
fields until about 1940. By that time the Japanese had overrun the part of China occupied by our missionaries and
had imposed unwarranted restrictions upon the work of the missionaries in Manchuria and Japan as well. It became increasingly
difficult for the missionaries to carry on their work, and under the
restrictive policy it became unwise for the Corays,
the Gaffms and Mr. Mcllwaine
to return to the fields after their furloughs. In the meantime the Japanese
were preparing for war and, in order to unify the spirit of the people already
conquered, they ordered that obeisance be made at the Shinto shrines. Our
missionaries were one in opposition to this idolatry and the Hunts particularly
were in a position to be very influential in seeking to persuade Koreans in
both Korea and Manchuria to refuse obedience to the
blasphemous pretensions of the Japanese emperor. Ultimately Mr. Hunt was
arrested and jailed for his opposition to shrine worship and it was not until
the Hunts, the Frehns and Mr. Andrews were
repatriated in the summer of 1942 that Mr. Hunt was freed.


Two months before the return of the remaining
missionaries from the Orient, the committee made its first appointments in what
might be termed its post-war activity. It was not until 1943 that the Rev.
Clarence W. Duff was able to sail for Eritrea where a pioneer missionary work has
been started. He was joined the following year by the Rev. Charles E. Stanton
and, in 1945, by Mrs. Duff, Mrs. Stanton and the Rev. and Mrs. Francis E. Mahaffy. In that country that had so long been virtually
closed to missionary work, under Italian domination, three stations have been
established, in Ghinda, in Aralali
and in Assab.


The committee is planning the reestablishment of its
missions in the Far East. Within the past few months, the Rev. Egbert W. Andrews has been able to tour China while in government service, and he
expects to resume his missionary activity in that country in April, 1946.
Passports have been applied for on behalf of the Rev. and Mrs. Bruce F. Hunt,
and for the Rev. and Mrs. Floyd E. Hamilton, veteran missionaries who were
appointed by the committee late in 1945. The committee expects to reenter China, Manchuria, and perhaps Japan; it would like to enter Korea also.


Financially the committee has been greatly blessed. It
has consistently been able to meet its obligations, and contributions to its
work have increased from year to year. For the fiscal year 1946-47 the
committee has adopted a budget of nearly $20,000.


Since 1938 the committee has been served by the Rev.
Robert S. Marsden as general    secre


tary. Mr. Marsden
serves also the Committee 011 Home Missions and Church Extension. Thirty-five
different individuals have served as members of the committee since it was
established in its present size in 1937, and their hours of consecrated
consideration of the business has established the work of the committee on a
sound basis. It is now prepared    to    expand
   its


work greatly as soon as the world situation makes such
expansion possible.


The Committee on Home Missions and
Church Extension


The Committee on Home Missions and Church Extension has
been the backbone of 1 he Orthodox Presbyterian Church since the very
inception of the denomination. Its erection was proposed as one of the first
items of business of the First General Assembly, and it was elected and given
broad powers by that assembly. During the five-month interim between the first
and second assemblies, it carried on a large part of the business of the church
under the vigorous leadership of the Rev. Edwin H. Rian,
who was elected its general secretary. Mr. Rian, who
also served as field secretary of Westminster Theological Seminary, served the
committee on a part-time basis during the first year.


At the organization of the church, there were a large
number of ministers in proportion to the number of laymen, and the committee
was faced with the tremendous problem of finding fields of service and securing
funds for the support of the ministers. In a very few weeks, numerous
appointments were made and a vigorous campaign to raise funds was carried on by
the committee. Its budget quickly expanded to over $2000 a month and, with only
a comparatively few contributors, it soon felt the pinch of this large budget.
The little churches that had been organized all had pressing local financial
problems, since practically all of them had lost their properties and many of
them represented only small minority groups that had separated themselves from
the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. The burden of supporting the committee
fell largely upon individual donors. Numerous donors gave most sacrificially
and gifts, such as one for $2500 from a poor widow, heartened the committee in
its work.


During the first year the committee undertook the
full-time support of fifteen missionaries and granted partial support to
sixteen others. Nearly half the pastors and those who were organizing churches
were dependent upon the committee for at least part of their support.


In the seven months between the second and third
assemblies, the committee became less dependent upon a few individual donors
and the churches began regular contributions. However, after the schism that
rent the church in the summer of 1937, the committee entered into a period of
great financial distress. Despite the fact that under the financial pressure
numerous fields were compelled to assume self.-support, and despite the gradual
reduction of the number of missionaries, by the summer of 1938 the situation
was acute. During that year Dr. Robert Strong carried on the work as volunteer
general secretary and his fine work under most difficult circumstances assisted
the committee over a perplexing period.


It soon became apparent to the committee that, if the
work were to be prosecuted vigorously, it needed a full-time general secretary.
It was felt that the work could most advantageously be carried on in
conjunction with the Committee on Foreign Missions and the committees united in
employing the Rev. Robert S. Marsden for that
important post in the summer of 1938. During that summer, the financial
condition of the committee was truly alarming. Salaries of the missionaries had
had to be reduced to a pittance and for September of that year the missionaries
received only thirty-one per cent of their meager allowances. Under the very
able leadership of Mr. Marsden from that time until
the present, the committee's work has continued to advance. The congregations
themselves have assumed an ever larger amount of the budget and the work has
been greatly aided by gifts from a large number of individual donors. From
October, 1938, until the present, the cash receipts of the committee have
aggregated $250,000 and the committee’s budget for the fiscal year 194G-47 is
nearly $60,000.


The history of the committee cannot, however, be well
told in terms of receipts and disbursements. It can best be told in terms of
devotion to the gospel and self-sacrifice on the part of the missionaries and
the donors. When we consider the sizable number of missionaries who were
willing to give up the security of a large denomination and cast in their lot
with a small group that could offer them no earthly reward beyond the joy of
their service to Christ and to His gospel, we have considered something of the
history of the committee. When we consider the large number of individuals
scattered all over this country and, indeed, all over the world, some of whom
have even sold their possessions to make the work of the committee possible,
then we have begun to appreciate something of the history of the committee.


Of the present organized congregations of the church,
fully half of them have either been started under the auspices of the committee
or have received financial aid from the committee at one time or other. This
has been the primary work of the committee, and its activity has had a profound
influence upon the whole character of the church. In late years the committee’s
work has been aided by the Rev. George W. Marston as
field missionary. He has been active in surveying fields for new churches and
in aiding established churches to find more suitable locations. Beside the work
that is definitely related to home missions and church extension, the
successive assemblies have assigned to the committee a great many special
tasks, and it is under the auspices of this committee that the Tenth
Anniversary celebration is being held.


No history of the committee could be complete without
some reference to the faithfulness of the members. The committee has been truly
representative, for forty-eight different men have served as members during the
ten years. No individual member takes credit for the triumphs of the committee,
yet without the faithful attendance of the members to their duties the work
would have been impossible.


The committee feels that its work has only begun and
even now it has planned an aggressive program of church extension. May the God
of grace give the committee humility, courage and faith to seize the
opportunities for service for the furtherance of His kingdom!


The Committee on Christian
Education


For ten years the general assembly has had a Committee on
Christian Education. The first assembly in 1936 charged this committee with the
task of charting the future Christian educational course of the infant church.
This broad assignment may have meant very little or very much. But the assembly
was wise in selecting for this committee members with strong convictions—men
who maintained that “the triumph of the old organization [the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A.] was due in no small measure to the prostitution of
existing educational agencies through compromise with unbelief, on the one
hand, and to the lack of a full-orbed and consistent system of Christian
Education on the other’’ (Minutes of Second General Assembly, page 23).


Among those who were named to this committee was the
Rev. Calvin K. Cummings, who still actively serves on it. Under his capable
leadership, repeated appeals were made in succeeding assemblies for greater interest
in and support of a “full-orbed and consistent system of Christian Education.”
The committee invited the Rev. Cornelius Van Til,
Ph.D., to address the audiences at the public meetings held in connection with
the assembly. His stirring messages aroused a keen interest in the Christian Day School movement and went far toward
bringing into existence several Christian school societies and a few Christian
schools.


Not until 1939 was the committee authorized to receive
and disburse funds. Shortly thereafter it was publishing tracts and issuing
summer Bible school materials and young people’s lessons. A comprehensive
program of Christian Education was early mapped by the committee. The broad
outlines of that program still serve to describe much of the activity of the
committee. During those lean years prior to the employment of a general
secretary, the work of the committee fell largely on the shoulders of men
already too busy in their own respective fields of endeavor. The Rev. Professor
Edward J. Young, Ph.D., devoted much time to supervising the printing and
mailing of tracts. With the assistance of Miss Ruth Stahl of the Calvary Church
of Willow Grove, hundreds of tracts were mailed to students in seminaries
throughout the land; thousands of others were mailed to individuals and
churches, all of which took countless hours of tedious work in handling orders
and keeping accounts straight.


When funds were available for issuing tracts, the
question arose as to what could safely be recommended for use among the
churches. The lack of sound literature, true to the Reformed Faith, was
appalling. The Rev. Lawrence B. Gilmore, Th.D.,
another member of the committee, produced several tracts of his own writing,
which went through several editions in a few years. He it was who also made
available the summer Bible school materials for the first few years. This was a
gigantic task for one man and no one knows, except their author, how many
hundreds of hours were spent in drawing, typing, stenciling, mimeographing and
assembling materials to which he had already devoted the utmost care in
writing.


A great need for young people’s lessons became
apparent. Another member of the committee, the Rev. Burton L. Goddard, Th.D., wrote, mimeographed and mailed these to a number of
groups for several years.


The committee was able in 1943 to secure the services
of a full-time general secretary. Prior to this time the Rev. Leslie A. Dunn,
as chairman of the committee, bore the main burden of the work. The Rev. Floyd
E. Hamilton was called to the secretaryship and has
given a great impetus to Christian Education in many of our churches. Under his
leadership the committee has made available better Sunday school materials,
stimulated a more adequate program of catechetical instruction, simplified the
young people’s lessons and secured a wider distribution of sound and timely
tracts. Much time was spent by the committee in formulating principles which
should guide it and the churches in promoting Christian Education. This
noteworthy contribution was printed in the 1945 minutes of the general
assembly.


The assembly has acted favorably on all the committee’s
appeals for authorization of increased funds, and sessions have, for the most
part, been prompt in allocating a proper share of benevolences for Christian
Education. The committee has been able to maintain an office, employ a general
secretary and an office staff to issue periodicals and tracts true to the
Reformed Faith.


The committee feels that much has been done but that
much more needs to be accomplished. Junior, intermediate and adult lessons for
the Sunday school are in design but not yet forthcoming. A number of titles for
short and long tracts are on hand, waiting for money to have them printed. A
few of the committee members have felt a need for the issuing of many sound,
popular books and booklets in readable form, to enlighten young and old alike
on the articles of our faith and 011 various timely subjects.


There is a need that the denomination itself should
become more conscious of covenant obligations and engage in an active,
long-range program of establishing a family altar with daily devotions in every
home and catechetical classes in the churches where every child in the church
will be enrolled for weekly instruction by the pastor. The committee believes
that a whole generation of instructed and zealous born-again Christians is
needed in our churches and can only lie brought about by incessant teaching—in
the home day by day, in the church 011 weekdays as well as on Sunday, and in Christian
day schools established wherever there is an Orthodox Presbyterian church. Only
then will we begin to see a church fully awake to the challenge of evangelizing
the world and equipped for the fulfillment of the Great Commission, “teaching
them to observe all things whatsoever I have commanded.’’


Westminster Theological Seminary


By the Rev. John H. Skilton, Assistant Professor of New Testament


Wo tminster Theological Seminary’ is one of the youngest theological
institutions in the United States, but it is also one of the oldest.
It was founded less than twenty years ago—in 1929 —but the tradition of
theological instruction which it represents goes back much further indeed. It
was founded in the year in which the Modernism and the indifferentism which had
long been at work in the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America brought about the reorganization of
Princeton Theological Seminary. And it came into being in order to carry on the
great work to which the old Princeton had been committed for more than a century. It was as
early as 1812 that instruction was first given in Princeton Seminary—the
Theological Seminary of the Presbyterian Church at Princeton, New Jersey, which had been founded by


H


the general assembly of the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America. From the beginning, Princeton
Seminary had been committed to the Reformed Faith and it had maintained its
loyalty to that faith down through the years, without yielding to the New England and the New School theology. Outstanding theologians
and leaders in the church had brought distinction to the faculty. Among them
were Archibald Alexander, Charles Hodge, J. A. Alexander, B. B. Warfield,
William Henry Green, Geerhardus Vos,
Robert Dick Wilson, and J. Gresham Machen. It has
been said that, in the period just preceding the reorganization, Princeton stood at the very height of its
influence. The enrollment had markedly increased. The seminary was offering a
very serious challenge to the Modernism which was advancing in the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A. and it was providing encouragement
and assistance for the struggling forces of historic Christianity throughout
the world. But opposition within the seminary and the opposition without
succeeded in overthrowing the old Princeton. The reorganization in 1929 meant that the old Princeton had come to an end.


With the passing of the old Princeton, it became imperative that some
other seminary be established to maintain its position and to continue its
work. After a number of conferences of ministers and laymen, a temporary
executive committee was appointed on July 18, <929. to
establish a new seminary.1 After intensive work had been done,
Westminster Theological Seminary was opened in Philadelphia on September
 25, 1929, as the real successor to the old Princeton. Robert Dick Wilson, J. Gresham Machen, Oswald 1’. Allis, and Cornelius Van Til,
all of whom had been teaching at Princeton before the reorganization, along with R. B. Kuiper, Ned B. Stonehouse, Paul Woolley, and Allan A. MacRae,
formed the faculty of the new institution. All of the members of the original
faculty had themselves been in some way associated with the old Princeton, either as members of the faculty,
or as students, or both. In Westminster’s second year, John Murray, who had
also received theological instruction at Princeton and had taught there, joined the
faculty. Many students transferred from Princeton to the new seminary. Westminster opened with an enrollment of fifty.


The formal organization of the seminary was completed
011 May 13, 1930, with the adoption of a constitution at the first meeting of
the Board of Trustees. The first president of the Board of Trustees was the
Rev. Frank H. Stevenson, D.D. Dr. Stevenson had been
pastor of the Church of the Covenant in Cincinnati, president of the Board of Lane
Theological Seminary, and a member of the Board of Directors of Princeton
Seminary. He had striven to prevent the reorganization at Princeton and had been very active in the
founding of Westminster Seminary. In the early years of the new seminary, in
addition to his other labors in behalf of the institution, he lectured in the
department of Homiletics and Practical Theology. Others who had been members of
the Board of Directors of Princeton Seminary also became members of the Board
of Trustees of Westminster Seminary.


In the faculty, then, in the student body, and in the
Board of Trustees a vital continuity between the old Princeton and the new seminary was in
evidence. A continuity in procedures and practices
could also be observed. The procedures, methods and practices which Princeton
had developed and tested in her long, rich experience were continued at
Westminster—not as if they were infallible, but as being worthy of retention
until further experience or necessity called for their modification. The
highest scholastic traditions of the old Princeton were also continued at Westminster. Dr. Stevenson, in the early days
of the Seminary, said: “We doubt if the Harvard Law School, or the Medical Department of Johns
Hopkins, celebrated as they are for the rigor of their curriculum, have stiffer
classroom requirements. The willingness of


1 The members of this committee were F. M. Paist, chairman, Rev. Charles Schall, D.D., Rev. Samuel G.
Craig, D.D., Rev. Frank H. Stevenson, D.D.. Morgan H.
Thomas, Edgar Frutchey, T. Edward Ross, John L.
Steele, Roland K. Armes, Rev. Maitland Alexander.
D.D., LL.D., James L. Rankin, Esq., Rev. Walter Duncan Buchanan, D.D., LL.D.. Rev. Roy Talmage Brumbaugh. James F. Shrader,
Esq., and Rev. David De Forest Burrell. D.D. The
following were advisory members: Robert Dick Wilson, Ph.D..
D.D., LL.D., Oswald T. Allis, Ph.D., D.D., and J. Gresham Machen,
D.D., Litt.D.


students to maintain the highest standards of sound scholarship
at Westminster Seminary is securing the right tradition for the future of the
school.” 1


The fundamental continuity between the old Princeton and Westminster Seminary was
clearly stated by Dr. Machen at the opening of the
new seminary. On that occasion he said: “Though Princeton Seminary is dead, the
noble tradition of Princeton Seminary is alive. Westminster Seminary will
endeavor by God’s grace to continue that tradition unimpaired; it will
endeavor, not on a foundation of equivocation and compromise, but on an honest
foundation of devotion to God's Word, to maintain the same principles that old Princeton maintained. We believe, first, that
the Christian religion, as it is set forth in the Confession of Faith of the
Presbyterian Church, is true; we believe, second, that the Christian religion
welcomes and that it is capable of scholarly defense; and we believe, third,
that the Christian religion should be proclaimed without fear or favor, and in
clear opposition to whatever opposes it, whether within or without the Church,
as the only way of salt ation for lost mankind. On
that platform, brethren, we stand. Pray that we may be enabled by God’s Spirit
to stand firm. Pray that the students who go forth from Westminster Seminary
may know Christ as their own Saviour and may proclaim
to others the gospel of His love.” 2


It should be clear, then, that although Westminster
Seminary is a comparatively new institution, it is
also in a proper sense a very old institution. It is in a true sense as old as
the old Princeton. No account of its history can rightly ignore the long
and distinguished history of the old Princeton.


Westminster Seminary was founded because decline in the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. had brought about the fall of the
old Princeton. But that denomination was not the
only denomination which gave evidence of decline at the time. As Professor John
Murray has pointed out,3 the half decade in which Westminster Seminary was
founded was a critical time in the history of different Presbyterian churches
in North
 America and elsewhere and a time in which marks of serious decline were
observed in them. “The seminary came into being,” Professor Murray has said,
“at a time when the very things for which it was
established . . . were being repudiated by large sections of the Reformed
churches in North America and in Europe. . . . When the enemy came in like a flood, God in His
abundant mercy and sovereign providence raised up a standard against him.” r>
Bible-believing students of different denominations at that critical time could
look to Westminster Seminary for the sort of training for the ministry which
they desired. Westminster sought, of course, to provide
properly trained ministers for the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. But it also, like Princeton, welcomed students from different
denominations and from different parts of the world. It, again like Princeton, drew and has drawn its faculty
members from different Reformed backgrounds. The members of its Board of
Trustees have come from a number of denominations. It has been an ecumenical
sort of Reformed seminary, gladly contributing to many
and from many receiving stimulating contributions.


Westminster Seminary, however, was not founded as a
seminary of an interdenominational type—and it has not become such an
institution. It welcomes a true Christian catholicity, but it is opposed to
church unionism of a compromising kind. Its teaching has been Presbyterian.
Although not under ecclesiastical control, it has had great significance for
the ecclesiastical life of our times. Dr. Machen and
others connected with it played a vital part in opposing the unbelief within
the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and in the formation of The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church. It has provided theological training for most of
the ministers of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Many of its friends hare
also given their support to that denomination.


Down through the years, Westminster Seminary by the
grace of God has been sustained and has been enabled to carry on the work for
which it was established. Its history has not been free of difficulties,
conflicts, and crises, but out of them all it has been delivered. It had hardly
opened its doors when the worst financial depression in the history of the United States began. Dr. Stevenson and others
labored successfully for the survival of the seminary during the difficult
years which followed. The death of Dr. Stevenson in 1934 was a very serious
loss to the institution to which he had devoted the last years of his life. The
Rev. Edwin H. Rian has given many years of attention
to the financial needs of the seminary as its field secretary and as the second
president of the Board of Trustees. Despite the fact that the seminary charges
no tuition fees, provides rooms free to students in need of financial
assistance, and has provided scholarships with liberality, it has been able to
reach the present day free of all debt. Friends raised up by God have helped
incalculably in establishing and sustaining the institution.


The size of the enrollment increased considerably in
the early years of the seminary, but subsequently certain crises in the
seminary and in the ecclesiastical situation tended to reduce it. The vigorous
struggle against Modernism in the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. which was conducted by men
associated with the seminary and the triumph of unbelief in that denomination in
1936 lost some supporters for the seminary and all but cut off what had
formerly been its chief source of students. Faithful adherence to the Princeton, indeed the Reformed, tradition
resulted in the loss of other former supporters of the seminary in 1937 and
reduced further the sources of students. In more recent years the war and the
declining interest in some quarters in the conflict between Modernism and
Christianity have brought fresh enrollment problems. Nevertheless, despite all
the difficulties encountered, the enrollment has remained at about the same
medium level for many years, and at times registrations for special courses
have produced a substantial increase. The Rev. Arthur W. Kuschke,
Jr., gave much attention to enrollment matters for some years, in connection
with his work as assistant to the field secretary.


Much devotion, labor and prayer have been involved in
the continuing life and faithfulness of the seminary. And the continued
adherence of the seminary to the Princeton tradition has been immeasurably aided by the
continuity which there has been in the faculty. Very great losses were suffered
in the death of Dr. Wilson in 1930 and in the death of Dr. Machen
in 1937. But most of those who were members of the faculty in the early years
are still with the seminary. Dr. Van Til, Professor Kuiper, Dr. Stonehouse, Professor
Woolley and Professor Murray are still serving on the
faculty. Those who have been added to the faculty have themselves received
theological training at the seminary. Dr. Edward J. Young of the Old Testament
department received both his Th.B. and Th.M. degrees from the seminary and was the first
recipient— in 1935—of a Stevenson Fellowship for study abroad.


Westminster Seminary has been enabled by God’s grace
not only to maintain itself through the years but also to make important
advances. A major advance was made in 1937 when, after eight years in very
limited quarters in central Philadelphia, the seminary moved to its present
beautiful suburban campus of twenty-two acres. The largest of the buildings on
the campus was dedicated on September 29, 1937, as the J. Gresham Machen Memorial Hall.


The library of the seminary has grown constantly. It
has of course been developed as a library of a special, select type, with a
view to meeting the needs of a theological institution. It has been
substantially enlarged and enriched by acquisitions from the libraries of such
theologians as Dr. Robert Dick Wilson, Dr. J. Gresham Machen,
Dr. Geerhardus Vos, Dr. Caspar Wistar Hodge, and Dr. John
Macleod. The valuable Frank H. Stevenson Memorial Collection was established by
Mrs. Frank H. Stevenson in 1940 in memory of her husband. The number of bound
volumes now in the library is approaching 20,000 and the number of pamphlets is
more than 1,800. The librarv receives fifty or more
religious and theological periodicals. Participation in the Union Library
Catalogue project of the Philadelphia Metropolitan Area has made readily
available books owned by the various cooperating libraries. The participating
libraries own between five and six million volumes, a large number of which are
in the field of religion. For several years the library has had the services of
a full-time librarian, formerly of th£
Rev. Leslie W. Sloat and now of the Rev. Arthur W. Kuschke, Jr.


The seminary has given encouragement and assistance to
the production of a Reformed literature. The writings of Dr. Wilson, Dr. Machen, and Dr. Allis have, of course, been influential
throughout the world. But much has been published and much editorial work has
been done by others who have been associated with the seminary—by other members
of the faculty, by members of the Board of Trustees, and by alumni. The writing
of books by members of the faculty has been facilitated in recent years by leaves
of absence granted by the Board of Trustees for the purpose. Books which have
recently been published by members of the faculty are The Witness of Matthew
and Mark to Christ6 by Dr. Ned B. Stonehouse,
The New Modernism? an
appraisal of the theology of Barth and Brunner, by
Dr. Cornelius Van Til, and The Infallible Word?
a symposium to which each member of the faculty has
contributed a chapter. Other books are being prepared. Since 1938 the seminary
has been publishing The Westminster Theological Journal, a medium for
the scholarly expression of the seminary’s basic viewpoint. Through it
contributions can be made to theological learning, and a Reformed evaluation of
current theological literature and movements can be provided. The Journal
is edited by Professor Paul Woolley and Professor
John Murray. It is the real successor to The Princeton Theological Review,
of which Dr. Allis was Faculty Editor for many years. The Harry A. Worcester
Lectureship and Publication Fund was established in 1941 by Mrs. Harry A.
Worcester in memory of her husband, who was a constituting member of the Board
of Trustees of the seminary and who served on the board until his death in
1938, when he was its Vice President. Under the terms of the Worcester Fund,
lecturers or speakers on subjects connected with theological learning may be
brought to the seminary and assistance may be given in the publication of books
or pamphlets which are judged to be worthy contributions to the truth to which
the seminary is committed. Both The Witness of Matthew and Mark to Christ
and The bifallible Word have been published
under the provisions of the Worcester Fund. A vigorous literary offensive
against unbelief and for the truth is in motion.


Other important advances have been made. The seminary
secured authority to grant the degree of Bachelor of Theology in time for its
tenth anniversary observance in 1939, and authority to grant the degree of
Master of Theology in time for its fifteenth anniversary in 1944. The Frank H.
Stevenson Fellowship and Scholarship Fund was
established by Mrs. Frank H. Stevenson in 1935 in memory of her husband. The
chief purpose of this fund is to provide an opportunity for a year’s study
abroad for students of the seminary upon their graduation. This fund has also
provided graduate scholarships for study in this country. The
James H. Montgomery Scholarship Fund w'as established
in 1939. This fund makes available scholarships for graduate study in
Westminster Seminary. Undergraduate scholarships have also been made available
from both the Stevenson and the Montgomery funds. A prize, given in memory of
the Reverend Professor William Brenton Greene, Jr., D.D.. of Princeton Theological
Seminary, is awarded every year. The seminary has profited from visits of
Christian leaders from different parts of the world. Of great importance was
the visit, in connection with the tenth anniversary of the seminary in 1939, of
the Rev. John Macleod, D.D., principal of the Free Church College, Edinburgh, Scotland. Principal Macleod delivered the
commencement address and gave a series of lectures which were subsequently
published in book form under the title Scottish Theology in Relation to
Church History Since the Reformation.9


«
Published in Philadelphia in 1944 by The
Presbyterian Guardian Publishing Corporation.


7 Published in Philadelphia in 1946 by The Presbyterian and
Reformed Publishing Company.


8 Published in Philadelphia in 1946 by The Presbyterian
Guardian Publishing Corporation.


6 Published in Edinburgh in 1943 by the Publications
Committee of the Free Church of Scotland.


Many of the accomplishments of Westminster Seminary
cannot be chronicled. No one, for example, can measure the influence it has had
on the devotional life of many and in the encouragement of a genuine piety. The
convictions, the teaching, and the witness of the seminary unquestionably have
encouraged a rich, wholesome devotional life and a deep piety. One of the
deepest convictions held at the seminary is that “Christian life is founded
upon Christian doctrine as set forth in the Word of God.” Through the years
this conviction has borne abundant fruit. Devotional life at the seminary has
been aided, among other ways, by daily chapel exercises, regular student prayer
meetings, and special days of prayer. Classes are opened with prayer. Again, no
one can measure the part that the seminary has had in the witness and influence
of the pastors, evangelists, missionaries, teachers, church executives and
chaplains who have gone forth from its halls to various parts of the earth.
Their number has been large, and large numbers of men have heard their witness.
In 1944, the year in which the fifteenth anniversary of the seminary was
observed—a convenient point for surveying some of the more tangible aspects of
the seminary’s work—the Rev. Edwin H. Rian wrote:
“During the fifteen years of its life, three hundred fifty-three students from
thirty-four denominations have entered its doors for instruction. Today there
are two hundred twenty-two graduates in thirty-two states and eight foreign
countries. One hundred sixty-two are pastors, thirteen are active missionaries
or missionaries on furlough, fifteen are teachers, seven are evangelists, and
thirteen are chaplains in the armed forces of the United Nations.”10


The great Reformed tradition of the old Princeton has not died. It has lived on,
unbroken and with success at Westminster Seminary—and may
it live long and prosper! May Westminster Seminary always be able to witness,
with Dr. Machen: “Though Princeton Seminary is dead,
the noble tradition of Princeton Seminary is alive.
Westminster Seminary will endeavor to continue that tradition unimpaired; it
will endeavor, not on a foundation of equivocation and compromise, but on an
honest foundation of devotion to God’s Word, to maintain the same principles
that old Princeton maintained.”


w “Westminster’s Fifteenth Anniversary,” The
Presbyterian Guardian, Jan. 10, 1944, p. 7. For further information
about the history of the seminary and for an account of the struggle between
Modernism and orthodoxy within the Presbyterian Church in the United States of America, see Mr. Rian’s
book, The Presbyterian Conflict, Grand Rapids, 1940.


Foreign Missionaries of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church


With the exception of Mr. Andrews, all of these foreign
missionaries are stationed in Eritrea, East Africa. Mr. Andrews is laboring in
China


(The Committee regrets that
a photograph of the Rev. Clarence W. Duff was not available for publicatit












The Presbytery of California


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


The Presbytery of California came into being on September
 10, 1936, in the Y. M. C. A. Building on South Hope Street, Los Angeles. At this meeting seven ministers
and one elder constituted the presbytery. First moderator and stated clerk were
the Rev. Donald K. Blackie and the Rev. William Harllee
Bordeaux.


Growth in those first months was quite rapid,
especially in the Los Angeles area. By the time of the disruption
which resulted in the formation of the Bible Presbyterian Church in 1937, there
were eight congregations and a large number of ministers in the presbytery. In
July of that year, because of that secession, there remained only two churches
and five ministers. From that time on, the growth of the presbytery has been
slow but steady. At present there are nine congregations, three chapels and
fourteen ministers. Within its geographical bounds are California, Oregon and Washington.


In the past year and a half, three churches have
acquired permanent edifices of their own. At the present time, three others are
in the process of building and two more are contemplating construction in the
very near future.


The Presbytery of California in its present strength is
largely the result of home missions work of the
denomination. Besides aid-receiving pastors, there are two full-time home
missionaries in the presbytery. The Rev. Bruce F. Hunt is laboring in the
extreme southern part of California and has been used in the
establishment of one church and another unorganized work. Dr. James B. Brown
has labored for more than a year in Seattle, Washington, and has established a work there
soon to be organized. Mr. Hunt is supported by the denomination’s Home Missions
Committee while Dr. Brown is the presbytery’s own appointee and is supported
entirely by the churches of the presbytery.


Missionary Enterprises of the
Presbytery of California


Seattle, Washington


Dr. James B. Brown, field
missionary of the presbytery, has succeeded in establishing an encouraging
group at the Orthodox Presbyterian Chapel, 27 tG Alki Avenue, Seattle, and expects that soon it will
become the first Orthodox Presbyterian church of that city. The services of
this group of about twenty-five Christians include morning and evening worship,
Sunday school, young people’s meeting and weekday prayer meeting. In north
Seattle Dr. Brown also meets one afternoon each week with a group of about a
dozen persons. When the work at the chapel is finally organized into a church,
Dr. Brown hopes to be able to build up one or two more groups within the bounds
of Seattle.


National City, California


This is one of the two groups being served by the Rev. Bruce
F. Hunt. The first meeting was held in August, 1944, and growth has been slow.
The average attendance in early 1946 has been forty at Sunday school and thirty
at worship service. A mid-week prayer meeting and a Sunday young people’s
meeting are conducted, and twenty-eight children are enrolled in a public
school released time class. Recently the congregation has moved to a larger
building in a better location and, in one month, more than forty strangers
attended services. The group has voted to make a monthly contribution of
twenty-five dollars toward the support of a minister to work in near-by Santee, with the understanding that he
shall use part of his time in extension work.


Westminster Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Bend, Oregon







Pastor:


The Rev. Robert E. Nicholas


Ruling Elders:


Norman H. Coleman    R. Ewart
Jewell


George F. Freeman
   Bertram Ramsay


O
f the twenly churches in Bend, central gateway to the Oregon
Cascades, none has a more attractive site than the Westminster Church, situated on the Deschutes River across from a park, not far from
the central business district. With the mortgage paid and a growing building
fund, tentative plans call for enlarging the building and beautifying the
grounds as quickly as this proves feasible.


Organized in the fall of 1936 with sixty-seven charter
members, the church more than doubled in size under its first pastor, the Rev.
Glenn R. Coie.


In addition to the regular services of the Lord’s Day,
a combined worship and Sunday school service is held in the afternoon in
Alfalfa, an agricultural community fifteen miles east of Bend. Junior Machen
League meets during the week, with the Senior League assembling before the
Sunday evening song and gospel hour, at which time the Machen
League choir usually sings. There is a choir for the morning service also.


Westminster is a missionary-minded church with
an aciive women’s society whose monthly programs
effectively combine business and inspiration, prayer and study. When the Sunday
school decided three years ago to give half of all offerings to missions, its
giving doubled and now averages twenty-five cents per member each week.


Highlighting the summer, in addition to a vacation
Bible school, is the Suttle Lake Conference for young
people sponsored by this church but attended by individuals and groups from
points as far distant as Seattle.







Present pastor of the church, succeeding Mr. Coie in the fall of 1944, is the Rev.


Robert E. Nicholas. A graduate of Wheaton College and Westminster
Seminary, Mr.


Nicholas
came to Bend after a year as general secretary
of the League of Evangelical Students and a three-year pastorate in the Congregational
churches of Roscommon and Luzerne, Mich.
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Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church


9212 South Western Avenue Los Angeles, California


Pastor:


The Rev. Robert H. Graham


Ruling Elders:


Robert Anderson    George
   Miles


(trace Church of Los Angeles was organized in April, 1942, under
the leadership of the Rev. Floyd E. Hamilton. Shortly after he returned from Korea, Mr. Hamilton heard of a Sunday
school conducted by Mr. Carl Olson and Mrs. Frances Browning in Mrs. Browning’s
home. These two had been praying for a church in this needy community and were
thankful when Mr. Hamilton offered to start an Orthodox Presbyterian church. A
store was rented and, in a few months, a larger one, formerly a Japanese Chop Suey Restaurant, was converted into a church.


In January, 1943, Mr. Hamilton accepted an appointment
as general secretary of the Committee on Christian Education and the Rev.
Robert H. Graham was called as pastor. By the fall of 1944 the Sunday school
had grown to such proportions that it was a problem to take care of the
children on Sundays. The church was also enjoying large attendances. By paying
$1000 down, the church gained title to a $6500 lot on the corner of 94th and
Western Avenues. But before the members were ready to build, they were given
two months’ notice to vacate their store building. There was no place to go, so
a tent was erected on a lot at 9212 South Western Avenue. But plans for the new Sunday
school building are going forward, and have been approved by the city; a builder
has been secured and actual work should be in progress by the time these lines
are published. The architect’s sketch of the proposed building is reproduced
below.


At present there are thirty-seven members in the church
and one hundred twenty-five in the Sunday school.


The pastor, the Rev. Robert H. Graham, was graduated
from Westminster Seminary in 1932. For ten years he was pastor of Grace
Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Middletown, Delaware.


Covenant
Orthodox Presbyterian Church


1623 University Avenue Berkeley, California







Pastor:


I he Rev. Robert K. Churchill


Ruling Elders:


George D. Moore
   David Neilands


Stanley Renouf


Covenant Church was started in Berkeley in 1937 by a few' interested laymen
and one elder from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. When Mr. Churchill was called to
the pastorate, there wrere seven charter
members; several church services had already been held.


Mr. Churchill received his A.B. degree from the University of Washington in 1933 and was graduated from
Westminster Theological Seminary in the class of ’36. He was one of those who w'ere ordained at the First General Assembly of The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church when it met in Philadelphia in June, 1936. Mr. Churchill was
doing home missions work in Washington and Oregon when he was called to the Berkeley field in April, 1937.


Covenant Church has gone through many vicissitudes,
but a steady growth has been maintained. The first location was in a lodge
hall, three flights up, in downtown Berkeley. The second hall which housed the
church was next door to a theater, 011 the second floor; this hall was a Thcosophical library during the week, and seances and meetings of spiritualists were held Sunday
afternoons. For the past three years, the church has been meeting in a store
building on a main street in the city, near good residential districts. The
church and Sunday school have expanded more rapidly during this period than at
any time in the church’s history.


After receiving financial aid from the Home Missions
Committee for seven years, the church became self-supporting in April, 1945. At
present a building fund of $5000 has been raised. As this is being written, it
has just been announced that the church building has been sold and the
congregation must move. Present plans are to purchase a home which can be
remodeled and used as a church for a few years.


Covenant Church bears testimony to the fact that
the difficulties of starting a new church of Orthodox
  Presbyterian standards are tremendous. Yet the grace of
God has been sufficient, and the members are fully persuaded of God’s leading.
They believe therefore that there are great things ahead.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


1823 Turk Street San Francisco, California







Pastor:


The Rev. Cari. A. Ahlfei.dt


Ruling Elders:


Frank
C. Mowat    David T. Kreiss


The First Church of San Francisco was organized in 1940 under the leadership of the Rev.
Robert L. Atwell and, during his ministry, the membership and attendance
doubled. In the spring of 1943, Mr. Atwell was called to Grace Church, Westfield, N. J.
There followed three months during which the church was without a pastor. At the end of June the Rev. Carl A.


(See “First, San Francisco,” Page 30)







Westminster Orthodox Presbyterian Church


4652 Eagle Rock Boulevard Los Angeles, California


Pastor:


The Rev. Robert B. Brown


Ruling Elders:


Hf.nry E. Wadf. Robert D. Sander Robert O. Lovik


AA^estminster Church was organized 011 October 21, 193b, under the leadership of the Rev. E. Lynne Wade, with
thirty charter members drawn largely from a group of persons who had already
withdrawn from two local congregations of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A.
Early in 1937 the church moved to a store building in which worship services wTere held until


(See “Westminster, Los Angeles,” Page 30)


Beverly Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


Woods and Repetto
Avenues Los Angeles, California







Pastor:


The Rev. Dwight H. Poundstone


Ruling Elders:


Frank P. Carter
   Mason    Simpson


Paul A. Grimes    Merle    West


T_Jnder the
leadership of their pastor, the Rev. Donald K. Blackie, a group of faithful
Christians withdrew from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. in August of
1936, and formed a congregation of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Leaving behind them a new church building, they met
first in a tent, then in a clubhouse, and finally in the remodeled store
building which they now occupy.


In the spring of 1939 Mr. Blackie accepted a call to
another church, and the congregation of Beverly Orthodox Presbyterian Church
called as their pastor Dwight H. Poundstone.


Mr. Poundstone was born in Los Angeles, California, July 7, 1913. He received his A.B. degree from
the University of California at Los Angeles in 1936. In that same year he
entered Westminster Theological Seminary, receiving his Th.B.
from that institution in 1939. A month after his graduation he accepted the
call of the Beverly Church. At present he is moderator of the Presbytery of
California. He has also served the Presbytery in the capacity of Stated Clerk.


Beverly Church has always been a self-supporting
church. Its communicant membership numbers 123. Thirty-three communicants were
received during the church year 1944-45. This was probably the church’s most
encouraging year from the standpoint of numerical increase.


The Sunday school has prospered in spite of very
limited facilities. In January, 1945, the average weekly attendance was 84; in
January, 1946, it was 126. Seven or eight classes crowd into the auditorium and
kitchen of the church. The Beginners’ Department, Young People’s Class, and
Men’s Bible Class meet in homes near the church. The Primary Department meets
in a garage behind the church.


About two years ago a Wednesday morning prayer meeting
was started to supplement the regular Wednesday evening meeting. Attendance at
prayer meetings has more than doubled. To keep missionary interest at a high
level, a missionary prayer meeting is held on the second Wednesday evening of
each month, and missionary speakers are featured.


A Women’s Guild meets once a month to sew and carry out
other missionary activities. A Young People’s Society meets each Sunday evening
before the church service. Following the evening service, a “hymn sing” is held
in one of the homes of the congregation.


Beverly Church is still meeting in a store building;
but it is the hope and prayer of every member and friend of the church that
before another year they will have a building of their own which will meet the
needs of an active church in a new and growing community.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


4120 Long Beach Boulevard Long Beach, California


Pastor:


The Rev. Henry W. Coray


*


Ruling Elders:


Richard Aldcroft
   Henry    L.    Albright


Edwin Kashishian


The
First Church of
Long Beach was organized in the spring of 1941. The Rev. Henry W. Coray met
with a group of interested friends and held two services in a home. The group
was invited to worship in a store building where some Christian young people
were conducting a Sunday school every Sabbath. Sixteen charter members formed
the church and requested the


(See “First, Long Beach,” Page 30)


Valley Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Santee, California


Moderator of Session:


The Rev. Bruce F. Hunt


Ruling Elders:


Jan deBoer
Phil Conard


The
Valley Church was received into the presbytery on
January 18, 1946. Under the leadership of the Rev.
Bruce F. Hunt, its hrst public meeting took place
about two years earlier at La Mesa, with nineteen persons present.
After the initial meeting the regular weekly meetings were under layman
leadership and Mr. Hunt visited the group once a month. In spite of the lack of
an adequate meeting place and the ill health of the leader, the group continued
under this arrangement until August, 1944. At that time Mr. Hunt gave up his
work in Los Angeles and, under the appointment of the
Home Missions Committee of the General Assembly, began


(See “Valley, Santee,” Page 31)


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


8130 N. E. Sandy Boulevard Portland, Oregon







Pastor:


The Rev. Lawrence R. Eyres


Ruling Elders:


Chari.es F. Tichenor E. S. Warden David Munroe


The
First Church of
Portland, Oregon, had its beginning in September, 1943, under the auspices of
the Committee 011 Home Missions and Church Extension. Through the efforts of
the Rev. George W. Marston preliminary surveys were
conducted and an excellent neighborhood was selected in northeast Portland where hundreds of new homes have
been built during the war and where more building is expected.


Progress has been slow but gratifying since the
beginning. A Sunday school with an active enrollment of seventy-five has been
built up. Building limitations alone have kept the enrollment from going much
higher. In July, 1944, the church was organized with eleven communicant members
and has almost doubled since that time. The number of covenant children all but
equals the adult membership, indicating that the membership is made up mostly
of young and growing families.


The church has, in addition to an active and promising
Sunday school, a strong Women’s Missionary Society, a young women’s organization
known as “The Chapel Guild” and a men’s group known as “The Men’s Forum.”


Until December of last year a small store building
housed the church and Sunday school. Then, however, the congregation was forced
to vacate these original quarters and meet in the homes of members. A building
project is now under way which should be completed this year.


Pastor and founder of the church is the Rev. Lawrence
R. Eyres. Mr. Eyres was
graduated from Wheaton College in 1935 and from Westminster
Seminary in 1938. He was ordained in November of the same year in Second Parish
Presbyterian Church, Portland, Maine. Mr. Eyres
served two summers in Maine under the Committee for the
Propagation of the Reformed Faith in New England, and still under those auspices
assumed his first pastorate of the Deerfield Community Church, Deerfield, New Hampshire. He remained in Deerfield until August, 1943, when he left to
accept the appointment to the Portland field. He became pastor of the Portland Church in October, 1944.


’The
Rev. Bruce F. Hunt, field missionary of the denomination
in California, was born in Pyengyang, Korea, in 1903, the son of missionary
parents. He was graduated from Princeton Seminary in 1928 and ordained to the
ministry of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. He served for seven years as a
missionary of that church in Korea, but withdrew from the denomination
in 1936; in that same year he was appointed as a missionary to Manchuria under the Independent Board for
Presbyterian Foreign Missions. He served under that board for two years, and
was then appointed by the Committee on Foreign Missions of The Orthodox
Presbyterian Church, serving in that capacity until December, 1943. For his
uncompromising stand against the Japanese in the matter of shrine worship, he
suffered imprisonment and privation for many months, but was finally released
and repatriated. Mr. Hunt hopes soon to be able to return as a missionary to
the Orient.







The
Rev. William Harllee Bordeaux is General Secretary of the American
Council of Christian Churches. He was graduated from Westminster Seminary in
1931 and from 1935 to 1944 taught church history, homiletics and public
speaking at the Bible Institute of Los Angeles. Then, for one year, he was Dean
of the Los Angeles Baptist Theological Seminary, leaving to assume his present
duties with the American Council.







The
Rev. Clifford S.
Smith is pastor of Calvary Memorial Church
of Manhattan Beach, California, which was organized by a group of
Bible-believers who withdrew from the Community Church (Congregational) over the issue of
Modernism. A graduate of Westminster Seminary, Mr. Smith was formerly pastor of
Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church, Bridgeton, N. J., and directed the publishing
activities of Covenant House, publishers of The Home Evangel and numerous
gospel tracts.







First, San Francisco (From Page 25)


Ahlfeldt and his family arrived to begin work.


Until June, 1944, the church shared the building of the
Old Westminster Church, Independent. Thereafter it became
necessary to procure a meeting place of its own. For
some eight months a former restaurant was rented and, in December, 1944, a fine
property was purchased about a half mile from the former location. It consisted
of a lot with a large home upon it. The home was remodeled to provide an attractive
auditorium, Sunday school assembly room, and classrooms. On March
 11, 1946, the first services were held in the new building.


The church has a communicant membership of sixty-three
and twelve baptized children. Among its organizations are the Sunday school,
two Machen Leagues, the Women’s Auxiliary, and the
Young Mother’s Group. There is a Bible class for children during the week. Once
each month a service is held at a rescue mission downtown. Also once each month
a service is held at a large home for elderly people. The church ministers to a
number of medical and nursing students, and many service men have attended
worship.


The field in San Francisco is marked by great transiency. This has produced a lack of established
families in the make-up of the church. It is hoped, however, that the close of
the war will bring more stable conditions and a more permanent constituency.


The pastor, Mr. Ahlfeldt, is
a graduate of the University of California at Los Angeles (1933) and of Westminster Seminary
(1936). He organized and served as pastor of the Covenant Church of
Indianapolis for seven years before coming to San Francisco.


Westminster, Los Angeles (From Page 25)


July,
1945. Growth was slow but steady. In January, 1937, Mr. Wade organized Bethany
Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Glendale and served both churches for about
eight months; he left the Los Angeles church in October, 1938.


The Rev. Russell D. Piper became pastor in 1939 and
remained until ill health forced his resignation nearly five years later. Under
his pastorate a Building Fund was inaugurated which eventually enabled the
church to purchase its present building. The Rev. Bruce F. Hunt then served as
stated supply until the summer of 1944, at which time the Rev. Robert B. Brown
was installed as pastor. During his pastorate the church acquired its present
building in Eagle Rock, and its testimony to the gospel of sovereign grace is
increasingly being felt in the community.


Mr. Brown, a native of Nebraska, was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1938. In the same year he was ordained as an evangelist by the
Presbytery of Philadelphia. He served as a home missionary in Canada, in Maine, and in New York City; from 1939 to 1944 he was pastor of
Jennings Church, Logan-Fontenelle
Chapel and Goff Terrace Mission, Omaha, Nebraska, leaving to assume the pastorate of
the Los Angeles church.


First, Long Beach (From Page 27)


Presbytery of California to receive them
as a congregation. At the spring meeting of Presbytery that action was
taken.


In the summer of 1943, a second work was started in
another section of Long Beach. A $10,000 property was purchased
and for some time Mr. Coray held preaching services
in both places. Later, Mr. Paul Lovik was engaged as
stated supply at the First Church, releasing Mr. Coray
for full-time service at the Grace Community Chapel. In the autumn of 1945, the


Bo


owners of the store building where the First Church group was meeting rented to
business people and at present both groups are worshiping at the Chapel, though
incorporated as the First Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Meanwhile the Chapel
has been sold and a building program to erect a three-unit church is currently
being launched.


The total communicant membership is fifty-one and there
are seventeen covenant children. The church has also a flourishing Women’s
Missionary Society and a Machen League which has
received considerable stimulus since the veterans have returned from overseas.
The location for the new church is in the most rapidly developing section of
the city and promises to strengthen the testimony of the church.


Valley, Santee (From Page 27)


to devote his full time to the San Diego area. In November the group began
to hold services in a small store in Santee and there was a slight increase in
attendance. In the spring of 1945 they voted to call a recent seminary graduate
and assume his full support, but none was available. The services of Mr. Robert
Knudsen, a student at Westminster Seminary, were secured for the summer months.
In the fall they were forced to give up the store building. Mr. Joseph Franken,
a member of the group, offered the use of a dairy building on his property and
with the help of other members it was remodeled for meeting purposes. During
the remodeling, services were held in the chapel of the County Farm at Santee and proved such a blessing that
they were not abandoned when the dairy building was ready for occupancy. Thus
five regular services are held in Santee each week.


Although only eleven charter communicant members and
ten covenant children comprise the organized congregation, the average of
non-members attending the various services has been fifty-five during the early
months of 1946.


In 1945 the Valley Orthodox Presbyterian Church
contributed $573 93 in offerings, and twenty per cent of all offerings has been sent to the various committees of the church and
presbytery for benevolence purposes.


The Presbytery of the Dakotas


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


The Presbytery of the Dakotas, erected by the Committee on Home
Missions and Church Extension, held its first meeting in the First Evangelical
Church of Bismarck on September 30 1936, at the call of the appointed
convener, the Rev. Samuel J. Allen of Carson, North Dakota There were
at that time five ministers and eight churches in the presbytery.


Originally the Presbytery of the Dakotas included only the states of North Dakota and South Dakota, but later it was enlarged to
include Nebraska, and still later Colorado.


There are at present sixteen churches, four chapels,
and eleven ministers; and three persons under care of presbytery looking toward
the gospel ministry. The four chapels are located at Omaha (Logan-Fontenelle);
Lincoln (Pioneer, Burnham); Oak Creek, Colorado; and Rock Hill, North Dakota. The Sunday schools of the
presbytery are contributing to the support of Miss Mary Roberts to help
maintain her as a missionary worker at the Logan-Fontenelle
Chapel.


The presbytery sponsors a Young People’s Bible
Conference every summer. Since the presbytery does not own a conference ground,
the conference has met at various places in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Nebraska.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


East 31st Avenue and Downing Street Denver, Colorado







Pastor:


Thk
Rf.v. W. Benson Male


Ruling Elders:


Wesley E. Stromer    Virgil Bellinger


John A. Robertson    Rollin Whitehead


Leslie Stiles
   Karl Higgins


The
Second
Congregational Church of Denver, Colorado, applied to the Presbytery of the Dakotas to become a member church of the
denomination 011 September 22, 1944, and was accepted. Public announcement of
the organization of the “First Orthodox Presbyterian Church” was made at a
special service Sunday afternoon, December 10, 1944, with an appropriate program and an
address by the Rev. Robert S. Marsden, General
Secretary of the Home and Foreign Missions Committees of that denomination.


The “mother” church was founded in 1879 and through its
long history of service to Christ was widely known as a Bible-believing,
missionary-minded church. Two outstanding pastors of former days are Dr.
Addison Blanchard, pioneer evangelist and Bible teacher, and Dr. John C. Page,
now of Westmont Col-lege.
Many young
people have gone
from her doors to serve as missionaries, pastors, and Christian workers in
various parts of the world.







Because
the church was opposed to the Liberal ism which has over-w h e 1 m ed the Congregational denomination,


(See “First, Denver,” Page 42)


Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church


3951 Randolph Street Lincoln, Nebraska















Pastor:


The Rev. Delbert E. Schowaeter


Ruling Elders:


Loiie Horton
Barker Guy Herbert Graham Edwin Richard Mockett


Faith Church was founded largely through the
efforts of Dr. James B. Brown, then a field worker of The Orthodox Presbyterian
Church, and the Rev. Thomas M. Cooper, its first pastor. A number of persons,
who were dissatisfied with the state of unbelief in the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A. and its unfaithfulness to the
doctrinal standards, formed the nucleus of the new church. The first meeting
was held January 30. 1938, in the home of Mr. and Mrs. G. H.
Graham. Services were held in homes of various people interested in the
cause and, by the beginning of March, they were able to rent a small church
building.


Faith Church was formally organized July
 22, 1938, during a week of special meetings conducted by the Rev. Jack Zandstra. At that time the congregation applied for
admission to The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Seventeen persons signed the
charter, and Mr. Graham was elected the first elder of the church.


Mr. Cooper left Lincoln in the fall of 1941 to accept a
call in the East. He was succeeded by Dr. James B. Brown in October of that
year. During Dr. Brown's pastorate, Faith Church took another forward step. The
congregation purchased a property at the corner of 40th and Randolph Streets
which had formerly served as a Lutheran church. It was built originally to
serve temporarily as a church, with the intention of converting it into a
parsonage later. The facilities are adecptate for
present needs. Faith Church has come close to the point of
wiping


out its indebtedness.







In the fall of 1944, Dr. Brown resigned to serve as a
home missionary in the Pacific Northwest. His successor is the present
pastor, the Rev. Delbert E. Schowalter. Mr. Schowalter was born in Jackson, Wisconsin, in 1914. Soon after graduation
from high school he received definite convictions that he should enter the
gospel ministry. After working several years, he attended Wheaton College, graduating in 1940. Mr. Schowalter was graduated from Westminster Theological
Seminary in 1943.


Pioneer Chapel R. F. D. No. 1 Lincoln, Nebraska


Pastor:







The Rev. Delbert E. Schowalter


(Pioneer Chapel is under the care of the Session of
Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church)


Pioneer
Chapel serves a
small community at the southwestern edge of Lincoln outside the city limits. An old
brick church, in disuse for many years and used as a barn for storing alfalfa hay, was renovated. Most of the work was done by Dr. James
B. Brown. With the spirit of a pioneer missionary, he built a new roof, laid a
new floor, dug a basement and installed a furnace. Also the walls were painted
on the inside and other necessary repairs were made. Dr. Brown spent most of
the summer of 1941 in this work, beginning early in April. From time to time,
he received assistance from the people in the community and from inmates at a
reformatory near-by.


The church building was dedicated on November
 16, 1941. The Rev. Robert S. Marsden was in charge of
the dedication service. Sunday school was instituted the following Sunday.
This, however, was not the beginning of the ministerial work in the community.
Dr. Brown had already laid a groundwork by holding
Bible classes in the homes since January, 1941. On February
 14, 1943, an organization of Pioneer Chapel was effected under the care of the
session of Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Seven persons were received into
the church. Others were added later.


Pioneer Chapel is not yet ready to operate on its own.
It is hoped that in the not too distant future the chapel will have progressed
sufficiently to warrant this step. It is at the present time served by the Rev.
Delbert E. Schowalter, pastor of Faith Church.







The
Rev. Andrew Culver Gordon was born and educated in Philadelphia, with the exception of four years
at Wheaton College. A candidate for the ministry under
care of Philadelphia Presbytery of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., he withdrew in 1936 and was
ordained at the First General Assembly of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.
From 1937 to 1941 he served as pastor of the churches at Bancroft, Manchester and Yale, S. D. In 1941 he entered
the U.S. Army as Chaplain and served until early 1946 in the United States, Alaska and the Aleutians.


The Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Aurora, Nebraska







Pulpit Supply:


The Rev. R. Heber McIlwaine


Ruling Elders:


Thaddeus Marvin Scott Aaron
Oswald


The first Nebraska congregation to be received into
the denomination was the church in Aurora, which was organized under the
leadership of Dr. James B. Brown. Upon his resignation in July,
   1937,    as    pastor
   of    the    Federated
   Church    of Aurora, he immediately arranged
to hold


services    in    a
   funeral    home.    There
   were    about    sixty present
at this first meeting and, of this


number, fourteen signified a desire to become members. On
September 23rd, a meeting for the formal organization of the congregation was
held in the home of Dr. Brown. By this time forty-one people were ready to be
enrolled as charter members of the new church. Five of them were elected
elders, and a call was issued to Dr. Brown to be their pastor. The congregation
was received by the Presbytery of the Dakotas at its meeting a month later.


Dr. Brown tendered his resignation to the congregation
in May, 1938, to become a field worker in Nebraska under the Home Missions Committee
of the denomination. However, he continued to fill the pulpit throughout the
month of June.


Calvin A. Busch was unanimously called to be the next
pastor. He continued his ministry until his resignation in 1943.


The church was without a pastor for over a year, but
the pulpit was supplied by the Rev. John Barkman, and
members of the Grace Bible Institute of Omaha, Nebraska. In August, 1944, the


church called the Rev. Walter J. Magee, and he served as
pastor for a little over a year, until October, 1945. The Rev. Delbert







E.
Schowalter of Faith Church, Lincoln, conducted evening services each
Sunday from that time until the end of the year. The Rev. R. Heber McIlwaine then became pulpit supply for an indefinite
period.


The church at Aurora has had the misfortune to lose a
large percentage of its membership through change of residence and death. In
addition there have been some who have “fallen by the wayside.” (See “Aurora,” Page 40)


The Orthodox Presbyterian Church


50th and Hickory Streets Omaha, Nebraska







Pastor:


The Rev. Reginald Voorhees


Ruling Elders:


George H.
Alsman, Sr. Harry Faulhaber
Anton Anderson    R.    T.    Kf.rr


Clifford Oak


In
June of 1938 the
Rev. James B. Brown, D.D., field representative of The Orthodox Presbyterian
Church, gathered a group of less than a dozen persons for services. The
services were soon moved to the centrally located Paxton Hotel, and then, two
months later, moved to southwest Omaha. Here permission to use the
building of the Jennings Memorial Methodist Church had been granted by the Methodist
denomination since it had previously given up holding sevices
in the building. The only condition was that the property be kept in repair.


The church began to grow in its new location. A Sunday
school was organized around a group of some thirty children and adults who had
been using the building for Sunday school services even after the Methodists
had abandoned preaching services. In January, 1939, the church called the Rev.
Robert B. Brown, son of the organizer, to be the pastor. On April
 11, 1939, the Presbytery of the Dakotas granted the request of the thirty-four charter members
and received the church into the denomination. Mr. Brown was installed as
pastor the same month.


Arrangements were made in 1940 with the Methodist Church for the purchase of the building,
and payments were completed less than two years later. Since that time a great
many improvements have been added.


In July, 1945, Mr. Brown left to accept a call to the Westminster Church in Los Angeles. In September of the same year the
church called its present pastor, the Rev. Reginald Voorhees.







Mr. Voorhees was born in Philadelphia in 1907. He received his B.A.
degree from Maryville College, Maryville, Tenn., and his M.A. degree from the University of Tennessee. After a brief period of teaching
in junior college and a term of advanced study on a fellowship at Duke University,


Durham, N. C., Mr. Voorhees answered the
call to the ministry and entered Westminster Theological Seminary with the
class of (See “Omaha” Page 39)


36


The Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Manchester, South Dakota







Pastor:


The Rev. Melvin B. Nonhof


Ruling Elders:


Fred G. Ritterbusch    Arthur
   G.    Rundei.i


Organized
with one elder
and fourteen charter members in 1885, the Manchester church was a member of the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. until October
 4, 1936, when, under the leadership of the Rev. George W. Heaton, it withdrew
and has since been an Orthodox Presbyterian church, ft continues to be the only
church in Manchester township.
The members repurchased the church property in the summer of 1943, and achieved
the goal of self-support in 1945. Other ministers who have served the church
are the Rev. A. Culver Gordon and Dr. Daniel Van Houte.


The Rev. Melvin B. Nonhof was
born in Wisconsin, and attended school there. He was
graduated from Mission House College, Plymouth, Wisconsin, and in 1939 from Westminster
Seminary. He assumed the pastoral duties of Westminster Church. Hamill, South Dakota, in 1939, and undertook his present
labors in December. 1942.


Murdock Memorial Orthodox
Presbyterian Church


Bancroft, South Dakota Pastor:


The Rev. Melvin B. Nonhof Ruling Elders:


George Reiser
   George Smith    Russell    Olmsted


In 1889, "The First Presbyterian Society of Bancroft,
S. D.” was organized. The leader was the Rev. G. W. McKinney, and there were
eight charter members. Mr. McKinney was then serving the Manchester church and a point northwest of
Bancroft. Through his efforts dating back two years, the congregation came into
existence. He is quoted in an early record as saying, “Home missions ... is the
life of the church.”


When a building program was undertaken, the name of the
church was changed because of a generous gift from the Murdock family in Minneapolis, Minn. This building was dedicated in
1892.


The congregation continued as a member-church of the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. until October
 4, 1936. The withdrawal coincided with the Manchester church’s action.


After a civil court trial over title to the property,
which was given to the U.S.A. church, the people repurchased
their building and manse in 1942. The congregation achieved the goal of
self-support in April, 1945.


The same men have served the Murdock church who labored
in Manchester.


The Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Yale, South Dakota Pastor:


The Rev. Melvin B. Nonhof Ruling Elders:


Edward Cooper    John Feicke    Glenn    Foote


The Yale Community Church was begun in the early 20’s, and is
the youngest of the three congregations making up this field. After its
organization, it was supplied by the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., having a loose connection with
that denomination.


When, in 1936, the Manchester and Bancroft congregations withdrew
from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., the Yale church took no action. Those sympathetic to the OPC attended services at either Bancroft
or Manchester. However, during the ministry of the
Rev. A. Culver Gordon, meetings were first held in the schoolhouse and later in
the church building, unused during all this time. Action pointing to the
organization of a new congregation was begun and carried on under Mr. Gordon
and Dr. Van Houte. In December, 1942, the Presbytery
of the Dakotas received this congregation as a
member and Mr. Nonhof was installed as pastor.


The congregation meets in the Community Church building, which it uses for the
cost of maintaining the property.







Though
small, Yale was the first of the churches in this field to become
self-supporting. It did this in 1944.


All three congregations have active Ladies’ Aid
societies and Sunday schools.


None
has any indebtedness and extensive improvements have been and are being made.
There are possibilities for growth in each field.


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Volga, South Dakota Pastor:


The Rev. Louis E. Knowles Ruling Elders:


George
O. Cotton Lester Kleinjan
   John    D. Kleinjan George Martinson


In the autumn of 1936 more than four-fifths of the
congregation of the Olivet Presbyterian Church with their
pastor, the Rev. Charles L. Shook, withdrew from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., and joined
the Presbyterian Church of America. Approximately
one year later the congregation was deprived of the use of its church property,
which was awarded to the Presbytery of Huron by a court decision. The present
church structure and manse were immediately constructed, and the congregation
assumed the new name of Calvary Church.


Since its formation in 1936, the church has been
blessed of God both in things material and spiritual. The membership of the
congregation has shown a gradual growth and today stands at 103 communicant
members and twenty-seven baptized infants. The property of the congregation is
entirely    free    of    debt,
   and    plans    have been
   laid    for several improvements.


This progress    was
   made    under    the
   leadership    of the first pastor and
organizer of the new


congregation, the Rev. Charles L. Shook. Mr. Shook continued to
serve the Calvary Church until October, 1944, when he
accepted the call of Covenant church of Rochester, N. Y. After


serving a period as stated supply, the Rev. Louis E. Knowles
became the pastor in October, 1945. Mr. Knowles is a graduate of Westminster
Theological Seminary and is serving his first charge in Volga.







Organizations of the church and their officers are:
Sunday school, Mr. Edwin Gie-bink, superintendent;
Ladies’ Missionary Society, Mrs. L. E. Knowles, president; Ladies’ Aid Society,
Mrs. J. M. Johnson, president; and the Machen League,
Miss Marjorie Carr, president.


Omaha (From Page 36)


1936.
An eight-year pastorate in the Grace Presbyterian Church, unaffiliated, West Pittston, Pa., was terminated to come to the church
in Omaha.


The present communicant membership of sixty-seven is
almost double the charter membership. The enrollment in Sunday school is
seventy-five. There is an active Women’s Missionary Society, and both a Junior
and Senior Machen League. The church conducts a
summer Bible school.


The church also supervises the Chapel in the Logan-Fontenelle housing district and counts the Chapel mission
worker, Miss Mary Roberts, among its members. The Chapel Sunday school meets on
Sunday afternoon, and the Children’s Bible Hour on Tuesday afternoon. The young
people’s group meets on Tuesday evening.


Bethel Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Alexandria, South Dakota







Pastor:


The Rev. Russell D. Piper


Ruling Elder: Charles Like


JL
wenty-one persons
signed the charier membership list of Bethel Church in 1937, and although there has
been a turnover of the membership, the total is the same at the present time.
The church was served by the Rev. Jack Zandstra until
the time of his resignation in 1939, and he was succeeded by the Rev. Walter J.
Magee who remained until 1944. The Rev. Russell D. Piper, formerly of Los Angeles, was installed in May, 1945, and is
the present pastor of Bethel Church and Trinity Church of Bridgewater.


The church holds one worship service each week, at 9.45
on Sunday morning. This service is held in the former building of the Seventh
Day Adventist church of Alexandria, which organization is no longer in
existence.


Mr. Piper, a native of Illinois, has lived also in Oklahoma, Montana, California, Minnesota and Kansas. He is a graduate of the University of California at Los Angeles, the Bible Institute of Los
Angeles, and in 1938 of Westminster Seminary. He was ordained in 1939 as a
minister of the denomination, and installed as pastor of Westminster Church, Los Angeles, which church he had been serving
as supply pastor. He remained at Westminster Church until ill health forced his
resignation five years later. In March, 1945, he accepted the call to the joint
pastorate of the Alexandria and Bridgewater churches.


Aurora (From Page 35)


Of six members who were in the armed forces, one lost
his life. Lieutenant Earl V. Swedberg was killed
while on a mission over Europe. His loss was not only a loss to the congregation, but
also to the denomination, for he was under care of Presbytery and had planned
to enter Westminster Seminary after his discharge.


At present, the Sunday school enrollment is rather
small, for there are few covenant children in the church. However, the average
attendance of those enrolled is holding up quite well. During the pastorate of
Mr. Busch, there was an active young people’s group which called themselves
Crusaders for Christ. Due to various conditions, this work has been
discontinued. The Women’s Missionary Society is quite active, and continues to
hold monthly meetings which are well attended. The meetings are conducted with
enthusiasm, and the interest in missions is fine.


Westminster Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Hamill, South Dakota Pulpit VacaTit







Ruling Elders:


Vernon
Hossle    Marvin Brolinf.


Clyde Jones
   Ernest Covey


Trinity Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


Bridgewater, South Dakota


Pastor:


The Rev. Russell D. Piper


Ruling Elders:


Joseph
R. Hofer    Leo
   Bartling    Emmett
Burroughs


Organized
in the autumn of
1936 under the leadership of the Rev. Jack Zandstra, Trinity Church closed its charter membership roll
with sixty-seven communicants. A small Mennonite church building was purchased
and moved four miles to the present location, where it still serves as the
church home. Mr. Zandstra served as pastor until his
resignation in 1939, at which time the Rev. Walter J. Magee was called to the
joint pastorate of Trinity Church and Bethel Church of Alexandria and
served until 1944. In May, 1945, the Rev. Russell D. Piper of Los Angeles assumed the pastorate of the two
churches.


The membership of the church has suffered both because
of the doctrinal stand of the church and because of an exodus from Bridgewater to the larger cities; the roll at
the present time is in the neighborhood of fifty.


Two worship services are held each Sunday, and there is
a flourishing Ladies’ Aid Society and Ladies’ Missionary Society which has
recently begun to interest the men of the church in the cause of missions.
Other organizations include the Sunday school, Machen
League (both senior and intermediate), choir, girls’ quartet, girls’ trio and
male quartet. The Sunday school has recently added a beginners-primary
department, which meets on the second floor of a downtown office building.
There are three classes in this new department. And finally, for the first
time, a men’s Bible class has been organized.


Bethel Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Carson, North Dakota Pastor:







The Rev. Walter J. Magee


Ruling Elders:


William Huber    Henry
   Scherer


On
August 2, 1936, twenty-nine members of the First
Presbyterian Church of Carson voted to sever their affiliation with the
Presbytery of Bismarck of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. because of that denomination’s
grievous departure from the Bible. The congregation continued as the First
Presbyterian Church of Carson, and affiliated itself with the Presbyterian
Church of America.


It continued to meet in the old church building until
the Presbytery of Bismarck succeeded in persuading two members to go to court
and claim the property; the court ruled in favor of these two plaintiffs. The
congregation then met in the Fire Hall in Carson from December, 1936, to May, 1937,
when it began meeting in its own building. The decision ol the civil court made
it necessary for the church to reorganize under another name, which it did
under the name of “Bethel.”


The present church building was purchased by the
congregation from the North Dakota Conference of Seventh Day Adventists and
moved from its location thirteen miles northwest of Carson. It is located on a lot given for
that purpose by Mr. and Mrs. E. E. Erickson, members of the congregation.
Although this congregation has lost heavily in numerical strength, mainly
through removal of members to other parts of the country, it continues a stanch
and faithful witness to the Reformed Faith.


Mr. Magee, a native of western Pennsylvania, was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1935. He has served pastorates in South Dakota and Nebraska, and has recently moved to his
present field of labor.


First, Denver (From Page 32)


its position as a member became increasingly embarrassing
and difficult. Pressure was brought to bear by denominational leaders in an
attempt to force cooperation with the liberal program, but the church stood
true to its faith in God’s Word, even though this often necessitated calling
ministers from outside the bounds of Congregationalism. In 1938 the church’s
life was at a low ebb, and the pastor resigned. The
Rev. W. Benson Male, a minister of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church, had just
arrived in Denver with the purpose of establishing a
church. In the providence of God, he was brought to the church in its time of
need and was called as pastor.


His
call naturally did not appease the Congregational leaders and after a period of
conflict, the little church found itself enmeshed in foreclosure proceedings.
God graciously provided able lawyers and, after more than a year of hearings,
the account was settled for about $7,000 ($10,000 less than the plaintiff’s
“Shylock” demands). The church then became the First Church of Denver in The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church, and its adequate building was retained for the
preaching of the gospel.


The church is active in many fields of Christian
service. It has a thriving Sunday school, Young People’s Society, Women’s
Missionary Society, Choir, Orchestra, Saturday Morning Bible School and other organizations. It
regularly conducts services in the Denver General Hospital and the Denver Rescue Mission, and
is an active participant in Chief Yahmonite Bible
Camp. Its communicant membership is 105.


Mr. Male was born in New York but moved to Colorado at the age of twelve. In 1927 he
was graduated from Denver University, and in 1931 received the
certificate of the Denver Bible Institute. The next two years were spent in
evangelistic work. He was graduated from Westminster Seminary in 1938. During
his student years he served as pastor of two churches in Colorado and while attending seminary he was
pastor of the Bible Testimony Church of Norristown, Pennsylvania. In 1929 he
founded the Young People's Fundamental Bible Conference of Northwest Colorado.
He has also served as chairman of the Home Missions Committee of Dakotas
Presbytery, director of Camp Chief Yahmonite Bible
Conference, and is on the governing boards of the Denver Rescue Mission, Denver
Evangelical Released Time, Inc., Denver Evangelical Association, and Denver
Youth for Christ. He has been serving his present pastorate since December,
1938.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Leith, North Dakota Pastor:


The Rev. Walter J. Magee


Ruling Elder:


Charles W. Brown


This
church was
originally organized with forty-two members in 1910, a few years after the country was
opened to homesteading. Construction of a church building was begun in 1912. A number of the homesteaders had
come from the same    community in    Nebraska where need


had developed for a larger church, and that congregation
gave to them    the    bell from the
   old


church there for their new church in Leith.


On August 2, 1936, the congregation, by unanimous
   action, under    the
   leadership of    the


Rev.
Samuel J. Allen, renounced the jurisdiction of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., and later affiliated itself with
The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Although there was no continuing U. S. A. Church
congregation, the Presbytery of Bismarck claimed the property and took the
matter to court. But the District Court, in view of the unanimity of the action
of withdrawal, awarded the property to the defendants.


The Board of National Missions then informed the Leith congregation that, in view of this
action of the court, the mortgage had become due and payable. The congregation
then began




k










in good faith to pay off the mortgage, thinking that when
it was all paid they would have clear title to the property. But when all but
about a hundred dollars had been paid, the congregation learned that the
Presbytery of Bismarck, claiming to be no party to the negotiations between the
congregation and the Board, had appealed the case to the North Dakota Supreme
Court. And as this is written (Feb. 6, 1946), the right to title of the property is pending the
decision of that Court. The case was presented to the Supreme Court on December
 11, 1945, but as yet 110 decision has been rendered.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Lark, North Dakota Pastor:


The Rev. Walter J. Magee Ruling Elders:


Gerkit Vanden Bgrg
   Frank    A.    Wagner


In
August, 1936, under
the leadership of the Rev. Samuel J. Allen, thirteen members withdrew from the
First Presbyterian Church of Lark to form the First Presbyterian Church of
America. Of the original thirteen only three are now left, the rest having
moved away.


The group was invited to hold services in the Christian
Reformed Church at Lark and gratefully accepted, leaving the U. S. A. Church
building which later was sold and moved out into the country, where it is now
being used as a farm house. The members of the Christian Reformed Church at
Lark united with the First Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Lark, and the total
membership of the church now is twenty-six, of which number fifteen are
communicant members.


In November, 1945, the church bought the building from the Christian
Reformed denomination and there is at present only a small amount of the
indebtedness yet to be paid. The congregation is grateful to God for His rich
blessings.


This church and the sister churches at Carson and Leith were served by the Rev. Samuel J. Allen until the
fall of 1940, and by the Rev. John F. Gray from
the fall of 1940
until the summer
of 1944. The present pastor, the Rev. Walter
J. Magee, began his pastorate in October, 1945.


The Presbytery of New Jersey


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


,A.ccording to the direction of the First
General Assembly of the denomination, the committee entrusted with the erection
of the Presbytery of New Jersey carried out preparations for presbytery’s first
meeting in West Collingswood, N. J., September 8, 1936. The Rev. Clifford S. Smith was
elected the first moderator and Dr. Alexander K. Davison the first stated
clerk. The roll of presbytery at that time included nine ministers and fourteen
ruling elders, making a total of twenty-three members. At the present time,
there are twice as many ministers and approximately three times as many ruling
elders as there were ten years ago.


The ten Jersey churches of the presbytery are
distributed over the state so that the territory covered stretches from Passaic in the north all the way to
Wildwood in the south. In addition, the promising congregation of Fort Lauderdale, Florida, of which the Rev. John C. Hills is
pastor, is also a church of the presbytery, so that the bounds of presbytery
are quite extensive indeed!


One particular missionary project in which the
presbytery especially rejoices is the Boardwalk Gospel Pavilion at Wildwood, N.
J. (see page 50). Standing in a prominent place on the famous Wildwood
boardwalk is a substantial building dedicated to the task of preaching the
gospel of Christ to the thousands that throng this ocean resort every summer.
During the season of 1945, the first summer of the Pavilion's operation,
attendance at the services was increasingly encouraging. Plans are now being
laid for enlarging the program of evangelism for the coming season. While the
Pavilion is a project of the presbytery, enthusiastic response has come from
the entire church. To the Rev. Leslie A. Dunn, pastor of the Wildwood church,
much credit must be given for the vision that was his in the first place, and
for the industry with which he, in particular, carried forth the Pavilion
project.









Presbytery’s Gospel
Pavilion at Wildwood, N. J.










Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church


600 Westfield Avenue Westfield, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Robert L. Atwell


Ruling Elders:


J. Enoch Faw, Sr.
   James Harkema


H.
M. Partington
   Samuel Pitt


Nicholas Hornsby


(trace Church of Westfield was organized in 1936 in the home
of Mr. J. Enoch Faw. 1 here were seventeen names on the
roll when charter membership was declared closed. Mr. Donald


C.
Graham, who had conducted Sabbath evening services in the Faw
home each week since June, 1936, was called as student pastor and the following
spring was ordained and installed. First elders were Mr. Faw
and Mr. H. M. Partington, former session inembers of the Presbyterian Church of Westfield, of which
the Rev. Edwin H. Rian had once been assistant
pastor. Dr. Lawrence B. Gilmore served as moderator of session until May, 1937.
and his services were of inestimable value during
those formative months.


In April, 1938, the congregation moved from the Legion
Hall to the Y.M.C.A. for Lord's Day services. In 1940, presbytery dissolved the
pastoral relationship with Mr. Graham that he might be free to accept a call to
Morristown. N. J. The more than four years of his pastorate had
been marked by steady growth and many manifestations of God’s approval.


A call was extended to the Rev. John Patton Galbraith
and he served until called to Kirkwood in 1942. The Rev. Robert L. Atwell
began his ministry in Westfield in April, 1943. Plans for a new
building had been vigorously launched by Mr. Galbraith in 1941 and resulted in
the purchase of an excellent property in July, 1943. This building has since
been used for all the services of the church, and the second floor constitutes
the manse. The location is considered the best in town for a new church and the
lot sufficiently large to provide for future expansion.


Mr. Atwell, a native of Western Pennsylvania, was graduated from Grove City College in 1930 and from Westminster
Theological Seminary in 1935. Congregations of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church
were organized during his ministry in Harrisville and Branchton, Pa., and in San Francisco, Calif.


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Amwell


Ringoes, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. John F. Gray


Ruling Elders:


William H. Brewer    Howard Shepherd


William Fiess
   George Smith


Clinton Housel
   James Stryker


Because of the official unbelief of the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A., a group of members of the Larison’s Corner Presbyterian Church withdrew from that
denomination. Meeting for organization at the home of Mr. and Mrs. Stephan Dani on January 17, 1937, the group numbered sixty-six
persons.


At this initial meeting, assembled for the praise and
worship of God, the student pastor, Mr. Bruce H. Wideman,
delivered the sermon. Services continued at the homes of two elders, but
feeling the need of an adequate meeting place, negotiations were begun and the
present building was obtained. The group voted to apply for admission to The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church and was received as a particular church of the
presbytery.


Six elders were installed at the service on April
 14, 1937, and in May of the same year, Mr. Wideman was
ordained and installed as the first pastor, following his graduation from
Westminster Theological Seminary.


Since 1937 many improvements have been made in the
building, the auditorium, the basement and heating plant, and the grounds. The
congregation was incorporated 011 June 5, 1939. On October
 22, 1944, a sufficient amount was received in the Building Fund offering to pay
the indebtedness on the building, and a Mortgage Burning Service was held. The
financial


responsibilities of Calvary Church have always been met by free-will
offerings.







After having served the congregation faithfully for
seven years, Mr. Wideman accepted a call from the
Olivet Presbyterian Church, Charlottesville, Virginia and began his work there in
January, 1944.


A call was extended to the Rev. John F. Gray and he
began his ministry in Ringoes in June of the same
year. Mr. Gray is a graduate of Wheaton College and Westminster Theological
Seminary. He had previously served three churches in North The Auditorium of
Calvary Church    Dakota.


Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church


41 6 White Horse Avenue White Horse, Trenton, New Jersey







Pastor:


I'he Rev. H. Wilson Albrighi


lluiing Elders:


Archie
R. Jackson    Combs
   H.
   Francis


Mii.ton A. Campbell    Justus L. Bryan


It
was a dark
evening in spring when a certain student of Westminster Seminary first visited
the Grace Church of White Horse, Trenton, N. J. As he walked along, he hoped
he could find the church for it looked, he had been told, very much like the
other houses on the street. It was without a screened porch, however, for the
home had been remodeled so that the porch was now a part of the church
auditorium. He found the place ablaze with lights. The first persons he saw
were the pastor and his helper slicing coffee cake and heating cocoa for
refreshments. From the cellar came the voices of young people, for they were
having a good time playing ping-pong, checkers, and putting puzzles together.


But the games were soon over, and the lesson period was
conducted in the church auditorium. The young people took part too, and very
well. They were learning about the Christian faith and life. Refreshments
followed and then dismissal. Similar meetings were held on another night each
week for the younger boys and a Bible Picture Hour in the afternoon for the
children.


This was the church founded by the Rev. Leslie A. Dunn
and a handful of faithful men and women in December, 1938. Mr. Dunn had left
the church in Columbus, N. J., rented the home in White Horse and opened it for
services. Their numbers had been increased when the Faith Church in Trenton, under the Rev. Bruce A. Coie, united with them.


An excellent work with the young people was begun by
Mr. Dunn and continued by Dr. Lawrence B. Gilmore who served the church until
the spring of 1943 when he was followed by the Rev. H. Wilson Albright, the
present pastor. From the original thirteen, the membership has grown to include
forty-five communicant members. The Sunday school enrollment has nearly doubled
in the past three years. The property which Mr. Dunn had rented was purchased
by the church and is nearly free of debt. A building fund is growing steadily
and self-support has been nearly achieved.


Grace Church finds itself in a community where there is
some growth and where many are yet to be reached with the gospel. She has
enjoyed a rich measure of the Lord’s blessing and is grateful that He has been
pleased to use the church in bringing souls into the kingdom of heaven and in
building up His people in the faith.


Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church of the Oranges


56 South Munn Avenue East Orange, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Alexander K. Davison, S.T.D.


Ruling Elders:


Charles A. Freytag Matthew McCroddan L. Halsey Perry


T,1e Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian Church of the Oranges was organized in October, 1936,
with twenty-four charter members. The preparatory survey work had been carried
out by Richard W. Gray, a senior at Westminster Seminary, together with Alfred
E. W. Stapf, now a trustee of the congregation. Two
days prior to the organizing of the church, the late Dr. J. Gresham Machen had addressed a public gathering at the Lincoln
School in East Orange in the interests of the evangelical movement whose chief
aim was to perpetuate the testimony of historic Presbyterianism in the
metropolitan area of New Jersey.


The original elders, still serving, were Matthew McCroddan, Charles A. Freytag and
L. Halsey Perry. The first communion service was conducted by the Rev. Charles
J. Woodbridge, at which time the first new member was added to the roll. Dr.
Lawrence B. Gilmore served as temporary moderator of the session.


Mr. Gray was ordained and installed by the presbytery
as the first pastor. Under his capable leadership, the congregation grew
steadily so that in nine years its membership increased threefold. On October
 1, 1945, Mr. Gray accepted a call to the Calvary Church of Bridgeton, New [ersey. He was succeeded in the Orange church by Dr. Alexander K. Davison.


Dr. Davison, who was installed on January
 9, 1946, was born in Northern Ireland of Presbyterian stock. He entered the London University in 1922 and completed two years of
undergraduate work at Queen’s University, Belfast. Dr. Davison came to the United States in 1927 for study, completing his
A.B. courses at Creighton University. He was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1931 (Th.B.) and received his Master’s
degree in 1935. He also holds a doctorate in theology from Temple University. Ordained in the Canadian
Presbyterian Church, he served for three years in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan. In September, 1936, Dr. (See
“Covenant, East Orange," Page 58)







Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Rio Grande Avenue, Between Pacific and New Jersey Avenues Wildwood, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Leslie A. Dunn


Ruling Elders:


Frank V. Ki.ine    Edward
   K.    Hibbs


The
first worship
service of Calvary Church was held on Sunday,
 July 7, 1936. Over a hundred members, together with the Rev.
Leonard Pitcher, left the First Presbyterian Church and moved into a vacant
store building one block from the old church. A healthy Sunday school crowded
into all the available space and an enthusiastic congregation gathered week by
week to hear the gospel free from compromise with Modernism.


Following Mr. Pitcher, the Rev. James L. Rohrbaugh became the pastor of Calvary Church until the Rev. Leslie A. Dunn came
to occupy the pulpit in January, 1941. Mr. Dunn is a native of Wisconsin, and was graduated from Wheaton College in 1932 with the B.A. degree. In
1936 he received his Th.B. degree from Westminster
Seminary and in 1943 the Th.M. degree. Mr. Dunn
served the Presbyterian Church in Columbus, N. J., until 1939, then organized
the church in White Horse, Trenton, N. }., where he remained until he moved to
Wildwood.


Calvary Church played a big part in promoting the
establishment of the gospel work now being carried on in the Gospel Pavilion on
Wildwood’s busy boardwalk during the summer months. A picture of the Pavilion
appears on Page 45. Last Summer Calvary Church held its Sunday evening services
there, and averaged over a hundred in attendance each week.


On July 7, 1946, the tenth anniversary of the
church, the dedication of a new church located on Rio Grande Avenue between Pacific and New Jersey
Avenues will be held. The new structure will seat 170 in the auditorium and 150
in the Sunday school rooms. The location of the new building is several blocks
from the nearest church and is on the titain throughfare leading into Wildwood.


Calvary Church extends a cordial invitation to
Orthodox Presbyterians everywhere to make Wildwood their vacation spot. A finer
beach cannot be found anywhere. Services every night in the week are held on
the boardwalk and Calvary is delighted to welcome visitors to its Sunday
services.


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


137 West Commerce Street Bridgeton, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Richard W. Gray


Ruling Elders:


C.
Preston Sellers
   Leslie W. Gibson


Robert
M. Garrison    Jesse C. Gump


Frank H. Fitch    Samuel Iredell


William
J. Kerr    Carlisle C. Gale


Howard
B. Clark    Herbert F. Trostle


O
n the first
Sunday in 1935, the Rev. Clifford S. Smith began his pastorate at the West
Presbyterian Church of Bridgeton. Despite the opposition of the modernist
forces in the West Jersey Presbytery, he was installed. This battle was the
beginning of an attempt of the Modernists to maintain control of the West Church. Mr. Smith began almost immediately
to instruct the people concerning the issue which was coming to a head in the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A. After    attending
   the    Syracuse    Assembly
   in    1936, he returned to preach a
   sermon    on


“Why
I    Am    Resigning    from
   the    Presbyterian    Church
in the U.S.A.’’


Following that, the session called a congregational
meeting at which time the church by a vote of 67 to 24 decided to withdraw from
the West Jersey Presbytery.


The presbytery refused to accept Mr. Smith’s
resignation and proceeded to “unfrock” him. It also took steps to take over the
church property. A trial ensued. The judge directed the jury to award the
property to the presbytery. The jury at first refused. Not until it was
threatened with being held in contempt of court did the jury, whose sympathies were
with the congregation, acquiesce.


Several churches in Bridgeton offered the evicted people a place
of meeting. They accepted the invitation of the American Legion to use its
facilities.


Soon the present property was purchased, just a few
doors from    the    beautiful stone







church they left. O11    the
   first    Sunday    in


1939
the building, remodeled by the men of the church, was dedicated.


In July, 1945, Mr. Smith resigned the pastorate, and in
October of the same year, the Rev. Richard W. Gray of East Orange became the second pastor.


Mr. Gray was graduated from Wheaton College in 1934 and from Westminster
Seminary in 1937. I11 1936, he organized the Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


(See “Calvary, Bridgeton,” Page 55)


Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


State Street and Landis Avenue Vineland, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Everett C. DeVei.de










Ruling Elders:


Isaac T. Mullen    Edward L. Robinson


Ralph H. Ellis    John Pedersen


Theodore R. Stratton


Covenant Church came into being on Sunday,
 September 13, 1936, when worship services were held at Grange Hall on Wood Street by the Rev. Alexander K. Davison
who had, with a large part of his congregation, resigned the week before from
the First Presbyterian Church (Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A.) in protest against actions of the
Syracuse General Assembly. On the following Thursday, the new congregation was
organized, took its name, called Mr. Davison as pastor, and elected officers.
There are 202 signatures to be found on the original resolutions of protest and
reaffirmation of faith which made up the charter membership.


For seven and a half months Covenant Church continued
to meet in Grange Hall and then, by the providence of God and through the
untiring efforts of the pastor, a large and well-appointed property at one of
the prominent corners of the city—Landis Avenue and State Street—was acquired
at the low cost of $14,250. By careful remodeling, the building which had been
a mansion was made to include an auditorium that seats two hundred people, with
adequate facilities for all the departments of church life, and commodious
living quarters tor the minister and his family.
After eight years, all indebtedness for the cost of the building, alterations,
and new equipment was completely removed and the mortgage burned.


In July, 1941, Mr. Davison resigned as pastor in order
that he might become a chaplain in the Army. The congregation later extended a
call to the Rev. Everett C. DeVelde of Cincinnati, who accepted and was installed on February
 12, 1942.







Through these ten years of its existence,


Covenant Church has progressed in every way. The
church occupies a prominent part in the spiritual life of Vineland, and its testimony is known over a
wide area. Its well-rounded program, its services and special efforts have a
city-wide appeal. It has] a present communicant membership of 23<1 and
a Sunday school enrollment of 218^


(See “Covenant, VinelandPage 57)


Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Pittsgrove, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Edward B. Cooper


Ruling Elders:


Andrew
Botbyl    John D. Graf


Floyd C. Graf    William B. Hitchner


Faith Church was organized in October, 1936 with twelve charter
members. The Township Hall at Pittsgrove served as
its meeting place, with services held on the second floor. Within a short time
Christians who had withdrawn from Elmer, Daretown,
and Woodstown Presbyterian Churches (U.S.A.) were attending and uniting with
the church, together with others from the community.


Since the meeting place was inadequate both in size and
convenience, a lot was purchased in Pittsgrove. On November
 2, 1941, a beautiful Colonial church was dedicated, completed on the outside
with the auditorium and part of the basement inside also completed. During that
year the sum of §3,700 was raised by the small group of Christian people, over
and above the regular funds for church support and missions.


fn two years’ time, when the $1,000
mortgage was paid, the congregation then decided to finish the structure, and
on January 28, 1945, the basement was dedicated. The
finished structure is a beautiful, two-story church building, with an
auditorium seating 150 people. There is a vestibule upstairs, a Sunday school
auditorium, separate primary room, and kitchen. The only indebtedness now is a
mortgage of $1,000.


While the war hit the church rather badly, all services
were maintained. It has been


encouraging to note that the end of the war has resulted in
increased attendance and interest. Sunday school and worship service are held
in the morning, and Machen League and a popular
gospel service in the evenings. Once every month a gospel team holds services
in the Salem County Home, bringing the message of salvation through Jesus
Christ to some fifty inmates.







A
weekly prayer meeting is held on Wednesday evenings, and a Missionary Society
of twenty members meets on the third Thursday of each month. A recently organ-(See
“Faith, Pittsgrove,” Page 59)


Immanuel Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


Elm and Calvert Avenues West Collingswood, New Jersey







Pastor:


The Rev. Edward L. Kellogg


Ruling Elders:


Wilfred R. Moses
   Samuel G. Parker


John Crowe
   Edwin G. Reilly


Calvin A. Duff    Lloyd H. Taylor


Ei.lis A. Gilbert    Alexander Thomson, Sr.


On
the 29th of June, 1936, the congregation of the West
Collingswood Presbyterian Church, under the leadership of its pastor, the Rev.
William T. Strong, voted to withdraw from the jurisdiction of the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A. The following day this decision,
together with the reasons for it, was presented to the Presbytery of West
Jersey of that denomination. The Rev. H. M. Taxis was appointed by the
presbytery to moderate the session. Mr. Taxis wrote the members telling them
there was no difference between their belief and that of his denomination and
urging them to remain.


An effort was then made by the denomination to oust the
congregation from its church building. Nevertheless, the worship services
continued there until October, at which time the congregation voted to leave
the building and meet in the Crescent Theater. Also it was decided that the
name should be changed to Immanuel Presbyterian Church. Services continued in
the Crescent Theater for nearly two years.


With the blessing of Cod and under the aggressive
leadership of Mr. Strong, the church went forward. When the charter roll was
closed, there were 184 communicant members. This number rapidly increased until
at the present time there are 269 communicant and 72 non-communicant members—a
total of 341. The church also has prospered materially. In October, 1937, lots
were purchased at the corner of Elm and Calvert Avenues in West Collingswood. Plans were then made for a
building and the following spring and summer a $15,000 structure was erected.
Since that time it has been completely paid for and a fine manse has been
purchased.


In February, 1943, Mr. Strong, who had served as pastor
from the beginning, obtained a leave of absence and was commissioned as
Chaplain in the Navy. After serving in the Navy for two years, he was honorably
discharged and in November, 1945, resigned as pastor of Immanuel Church and
accepted a call to the First United Presbyterian Church of San Francisco.


During the leave of absence of Mr. Strong, the Rev.
Charles Ellis served as stated supply of the church. Under his leadership, a
mission work was started at Crescent Park and also a Christian Day School
Association was formed. In January, 1946, he resigned and later accepted a call
to the First Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Cincinnati, Ohio. The congregation
then called the Rev. Edward L. Kellogg, who was installed as pastor on the
 15th of May, 1946.


Both Mr. and Mrs. Kellogg were graduated from Wheaton College in 1934 and Mr. Kellogg completed
his seminary training at Westminster Seminary in 1937. After serving as home
missionaries in New York City for nine months, they began work in
Middletown, Pa., where Mr. Kellogg served first as
assistant pastor and later as pastor of Calvary Church. He left to accept the call to Immanuel Church.


When the Immanuel congregation first renounced the
jurisdiction of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. it became an independent
Presbyterian church and continued without denominational affiliation until the
fall of 1942. At that time it applied for membership in The Orthodox
Presbyterian Church and was received by the Presbytery of New Jersey.


Bethany Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


333 Broadway Passaic, New Jersey


Pastor:


The Rev. Carlo Lazzaro


Ruling Elders:


John Harold Adams
   Gustav    L.
   Nelson    Marinus De
Drew


Bethany
Church of
Passaic is the result of the leadership of the Rev. Walter C. Jent in withdrawing from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. in protest against Modernism. Mr. Jent continued to serve the church as its pastor for a
number of years. The pulpit was later supplied by the Rev. Egbert
W. Andrews, now a missionary of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church in China.


The present pastor, the Rev. Carlo Lazzaro,
is a graduate of the Providence (R. I.) Bible
Institute, Wheaton College and Westminster Seminary. He received the Master of Arts
degree at Boston University. Both Mr. and Mrs. Lazzaro have been active in summer Bible school and young
people’s work.


Calvary, Bridgeton (From Page 51)


of the Oranges, N. J. After serving that church
for ten years, he resigned in October, 1946, to become pastor of the Bridgeton church. He has served on several of
the committees of the general assembly, including six years on the Home
Missions Committee. He is a member of the editorial committee of The Wit?iess.


THE FIRST TEN YEARS


Missionary Activities of the Presbytery


Under
the Home
Missions Committee’s policy of extending the witness of the denomination into
new communities which show promise, a survey was undertaken in May, 1945, in a
new section of Fairlawn, New Jersey, known as Warren Point. The results of this survey, made
under the supervision of the Rev. George W. Marston,
field missionary, revealed that out of more than 1000 families interviewed,
well over 300 were definite prospects. Here was a field ripe for cultivation,
with no church nearer than three-fourths of a mile from the center of the
development, and with an exclusive working area three-eighths of a mile in
radius. In June the Rev. Bruce A. Coie, under
appointment by the Committee, assumed charge of the field.


When all attempts to obtain a public building for
services failed, it was decided to purchase a centrally located home in the new
area, using it temporarily for the dual purpose of manse and chapel. The home
is on a too-foot wide boulevard, Fairlawn Parkway, connecting the entire development
south of Broadway with the Warren Point business section. One building
contractor is commencing the erection of four hundred brick homes immediately
adjacent to the church home. A plot of ground on Fairlawn Parkway, Goo feet south of Broadway, main artery connecting Paterson
with New York City, has been purchased and a sign erected advertising the
future location of the chapel. Title was taken to the six-room bungalow of
brick and asbestos shingle early in October, and after remodeling the basement
attractively with knotty pine sheetrock, services were opened in the autumn of
1945. The Sunday school has nearly trebled in its first three months. An
average attendance of twenty-live at the morning worship service is being
maintained. A midweek prayer service has recently been started and an active
young people’s societv is in process of formation.


Other Members of Presbytery







T„,: Rev. James W. Price was born at Cambria, Minnesota, in 1905, and reared in
a Christian home of the old Calvinistic Methodist Church, later merged with the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. He was educated at Moody Bible Institute, Wheaton College, and Westminster Theological
Seminary. In November, 1934, he was ordained to the gospel ministry and
installed as pastor of the Susquehanna Avenue Presbyterian Church by the
Presbytery of Philadelphia of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. Because of Modernism, he and the
congregation withdrew from that communion in January, 1937, and united with The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church in 1938; the church then took the name “Mediator Church.” While pastor there, the church
established a new work in the northeastern section of Philadelphia, erecting a chapel in a new
community and continuing its work in the old community as well. In June, 1945,
Mr. Price became pastor of Emmanuel James W. Price    Church, Independent Presbyterian, at
Morristown, N. J.


The Rev. Bruce A. Coie, who is in charge of the work at
Grace Chapel, Warren Point, N. J., was born in Nebraska in 1907. In 1912 his family moved
to Oregon, residing hrst
in Portland and later in Albany where he was graduated from Albany College in 1929. He taught in the high
schools of western    Oregon    for
   four    years. He    entered Westminster


Seminary
   in    1933,    graduating in
193(1,    and was ordained by







the hrst general assembly of The
Orthodox Presbyterian Church in June of that year. Under appointment by the
Independent Board to India, he resigned in 1937 and labored
under the Home Missions Committee in Trenton. In 1939 he established the church
in Franklin
 Square, Long Island, where he served as pastor for six years. Since June,
1945, he has labored under the Committee in Warren Point.


The Rev. Lewis J. Grotenhuis,
a native of Wisconsin, was graduated from the Wisconsin Memorial Academy, a high school of
   the Reformed Church,    in 1926.
   After    working    for







one year,    he entered Calvin College and    received
   his    A.B.


degree in 1931. He was graduated from Westminster Theological
Seminary in 1934 and ordained to the gospel ministry by Milwaukee Presbytery of
the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. The service was held in the Cedar
Grove Presbyterian Church, in July, 1934, with Dr. Machen
preaching the sermon. He accepted a call from the Harmony (N. J.) Presbyterian
Church, and was installed in October, 1934, continuing as minister of that
church until June, 1937, when he resigned the pastorate and withdrew from the
Presbytery of Newton, becoming a member of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. In October, 1937. a small mission
work was begun at Roxburg, and in September, 1940,
the group moved back to Harmony as the Calvary Community Church, Unaffiliated. Mr. Grotenhuis continues to serve Lewis J. Grotenhuis
   .


as pastor ot
this church.


Covenant, Vineland (From Page 52)


The
financial stewardship of the church has improved each year, the offerings the
tenth year being seventy per cent, higher than those of the hrst
full year.


The Rev. Everett C. DeVelde,
the present pastor, is a native of Chicago, Illinois. He received his B.S. degree from Wheaton College, and a Th.B.
degree from Westminster Theological Seminary, being a member of the first
graduating class of the latter institution. Mr. DeVelde
served as pastor of Centre Presbyterian Church of New Park, Pa., and of Trinity
Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Cincinnati, Ohio, before coming to Vineland. In 1939 he was elected moderator
of the General Assembly of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. He now serves as a
member of the Home Missions Committee of the General Assembly, a director of
the Quarryville Bible Conference, Chairman of the Boardwalk Gospel Pavilion
Committee, and is a member of the editorial committee of The Witness.


The
Rev. Oscar Holkeboer, after    graduation
   from Hope


College,
Holland, Michigan, in 1928,    and
from    Westminster







Seminary
in 1932, became pastor of    the First
   Presbyterian


Church of Oostburg, Wisconsin, in September, 1932. In 1936,
having been “deposed” for opposition to Modernism within the Presbyterian
Church in the U.S.A., he was leader of a group which later became the Bethel
Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Oostburg, Wisconsin; this church began with a
charter membership of 212 communicants.


In 1944, Mr. Holkeboer became
teacher of Bible, Church History and Reformed Doctrine at Eastern Academy in Paterson, New [ersey.
He also teaches in the Reformed Bible Institute of Paterson. He is a member of
the Committee 011 Christian Education of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


CIhapi.ain    (Captain)    Donald C. Graham was graduated from Westminster Theological


Seminary    in Philadelphia
   in    1937. He helped 10 organize the Grace
Presbyterian Church of


America in Westfield, New Jersey. It was in that church, then meeting
in the American Legion Hall,    that    Mr.
   Graham    was    ordained to
the gospel ministry in 1937.    He continued as pastor


of Grace    Church    until
   the    autumn of 1940, when he was called to
   follow Dr.    Lawrence B.


Gilmore as pastor of Emmanuel Presbyterian Church
(Independent) of Morristown, N. J. In September, 1944, he enlisted in the Chaplains
Reserve Corps of the Army and was inducted in November of the same year. In
February, 1945, he was sent overseas with the 163rd Infantry and 41st Division.
After short stays in Manila and one other southern port, he was
stationed at Zamboanga in the Philippines. The Lord richly blessed his
ministry among the men at Zamboanga and there was
scarcely a Sunday that there were not four hundred men at the service. Shortly
after V-J Day, he was sent to Japan and for three months was stationed
at Hiroshima. Recently he has been transferred
to the 25th Division at Nogoya, Japan, as the 41st is being sent back to
the States. On December 30, 1945, he received his rank of Captain.


Covenant, East Orange (Front Page 49)


Davison
withdrew from the First Presbyterian Church of Vineland, N. J., to organize the
Covenant Church of Vineland which he served until July, 1941, when he was called
to active duty as a chaplain in the U. S. Army. He saw action with the First
Armored Division in North Africa and Italy.


O11 May 1, 1942, the Orange congregation purchased
and altered for use a substantial building located in East Orange. In large part this building and
site have been paid for. From its inception the congregation has not only been
self-sustaining but has contributed thousands of dollars to the missionary work
of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Its present strength is eighty-one communicant
members and twenty-four baptized children.


Faith, Pittsgrove (From Page
53)


ized choir composed largely of young
people sings every Sunday. Young people from Faith Church regularly attend Quarryville Bible
Conferences, and good delegations represent the church in New Jersey Machen League activity.


1 he pastor, the Rev. Edward B. Cooper, took the lead in
organizing weekday Bible hours operating on released time in the Monroeville and Daretown Public Schools. About ninety-five children from
each school gather for the study of the Word and high interest is maintained.


Faith Church was organized by Mr. Cooper,
appointed as missionary by the Committee 011 Home Missions and Church
Extension. Before coming to Pittsgrove, he was pastor
of the Community Church of Platte, South Dakota. Refused licensure and
ordination by the West Jersey Presbytery (U.S.A.) because he would not pledge
support to all the boards of the church, he was the first candidate to be
licensed and ordained by the Presbytery of New Jersey of The Orthodox
Presbyterian Church. Mr. Cooper is a graduate of Maryville College (’32) and Westminster Seminary
(’35). For the past two years he has served as Chairman of the Ministerial
Benefits Committee of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Presbytery of New York and New England


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


The Presbytery of New York and New England was convened on August
 6, 1935, in New York City, by direction of the First General
Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of America, with six ministers present,
only two of whom were at that time active members of the presbytery. Five
ministers and three congregations were received at this first meeting. At the
present time there are fourteen ministers 011 the roll and nine congregations.
The moderator is the Rev. John H. Skilton and the
stated clerk is the Rev. Raymond M. Meiners


At the time of the organization of the presbytery,
missionary work had been begun in New England under the direction of the
Committee for the Propagation of the Reformed Faith in New England. This work is now under the Home
Missions Committee of the presbytery. At present the Committee contributes to
the support of the Rev. Kelly G. Tucker in Cornville, Maine, and has from time to time
supported or partially supported summer work in various sections of New England.


Mission Activities Within
the Presbytery


M
r. Edward Wanjon, a deacon in Covenant Church, Rochester, was instrumental in directing his
pastor, the Rev. Charles L. Shook, in the spring of 1945, to a new section in Greece, a western suburb of Rochester. This section at the time consisted
of around 400 homes, which were built in the early 40's. A survey showed that
fifty children could reasonably be expected to attend a vacation Bible school,
if one could be conducted. No meeting place could be found except a vacant pony
barn. After the building was prepared, the children who came to the school
totaled seventy-five with an average attendance of fifty. The closing program
brought an encouraging attendance. The test proved satisfactory.


Another survey was made, this time to determine the
interest in a church. The results indicated that forty-five individuals or
families were definitely interested in having a church started there. When Covenant Church saw the fertility of the field and
that God had opened a way of entrance, they gave permission to enter and
possess the land.


There was no place in the community in which services
could be held. A building must be provided. Viewing the situation, one of the
members of Covenant Church said, “I will build them a church.
I can do it and I feel it is my privilege.” Lots have been bought. Building
plans have been made. Arrangements are being completed for the erection of a
church building this summer. In the meantime, a Bible class is being conducted
by Mrs. Shook for the children in one of the homes.


With several large industrial plants expanding to the
west of the city, prospects are that this section will be in the heart of a
housing development.


Among the Ministers Not Serving as




Pastors . . .















The Rev. John Murray was born at Bonar Bridge, Sutherland, Scotland, and nurtured by his parents in the
fellowship of the Free Presbyterian Church of Scotland. He attended Glasgow University, Divinity Hall of the Free
Presbyterian Church of Scotland, Princeton Seminary, and Edinburgh University. He received the degree of M.A. at Glasgow and the degrees of Th.B. and Th.M. at Princeton. He was instructor in systematic
theology at Princeton in the year 1929-30 and at Westminster Seminary from
1930 to 1938; he has served as professor of systematic theology at Westminster from 1938 to the present. Professor
Murray was ordained to the ministry in May, 1937, by the Presbytery of New York
and New
 England.


He
is a joint-editor of The Westminster Theological Journal.


The
Rev. Burton L. Goddard, Th.D., was born in Minnesota in 1910. He attended the University of Minnesota for two years and received his A.B.
degree from the University of California at Los Angeles. He was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1937 and ordained as an evangelist in The Orthodox Presbyterian
Church. Settling in New England as pastor of the Carlisle (Mass.) Congregational Church, he pursued
graduate studies at Harvard Divinity School, receiving the degree of S.T.M. in
1938 and Th.D. in 1943. During that time he also engaged
in part-time teaching, assisting in the Department of Semitic Languages of
Harvard University and in the Old Testament and Christian Education Departments
of Gordon College and Gordon Divinity School in Boston. Since 1944 he has been Dean of
Gordon College and Divinity School and Professor of Old Testament. For
six years Dr. Goddard has been a member of the denomination’s Committee on
Christian Education.







-1- he Rev.
William Young, Th.D., was born in Brooklyn in 1918. He was converted at about
the age of fourteen. He was graduated front Columbia College, N. Y., in 1938,
from Westminster Seminary with the degrees of Th.B.
and Th.M. in 1941, and from Union Seminary, N. Y.,
with I h.D. in 1944. He was ordained to the ministry
in The Orthodox Presbyterian Church in 1942 and, since the summer of 1944, has
been acting as minister of the Bloor East
Presbyterian Church (Unaffiliated), Toronto, Canada.


Orthodox
Presbyterian Church of the Covenant







Central Avenue Albany, New York


Pastor:


The Rev. Herman T. Petersen


Ruling Elder:


Arthur L. Comstock


In
May, 1942, a
group of earnest Christians who had been carrying on a losing fight against
Modernism in Lisha Kill Reformed Church of
Schenectady separated themselves and organized the Church of the Covenant in a
suburb of Albany. The fight had been climaxed by the
congregation’s attempt to call Herman T. Petersen, a Bible-believer, as pastor;
the classis, dominated by liberals, refused to examine him in accordance with
their regulative procedure, even after the congregation had petitioned and
presented numerous appeals.


The problem of securing a meeting place was not an easy
one, but a large two-family home was found. Through sacrificial giving,
together with a loan, a contract was signed and possession was taken on fitly
1, 1942.


In September application was made to the presbytery for
entrance into The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. At the presbytery’s April,
1943, meeting, the members were examined and the congregation received into the
denomination. And on June 23rd, Mr. Petersen was ordained and installed.


In the spring of 1944, extensive remodeling was
undertaken by the church. The auditorium was enlarged to three times its former
size, and the front renovated. In April, 1945, the second mortgage of $2000 was
burned.


In June, 1944, the Ladies’ Covenant Society was
organized. A very promising Machen League was formed
December, 1945. A Sunday school has been flourishing from the start. And
recently, a hundred new homes opened in the community, greatly widening the
field of ministry for the church.


(See “Covenant, Albany,” Page 68)


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Rugby Road and Glenwood Schenectady, New York







Pastor:


The Rev. Raymond M. Meiners


Ruling Elder:


Robert Y. McCullough


Calvary Church was organized by ten charter members in 1938 in
response to a need of a true gospel witness in Schenectady. On November
 4, 1938, the congregation was received into the Presbytery of New York and New England of the Presbyterian Church of
America. It met in the basement of the Civic Playhouse in downtown Schenectady until October, 1939, when it moved
to its present location, a church building then owned by the City of Schenectady. The building was rented from the
city, and the basement used for services.


In January, 1943, the congregation obtained a mortgage
and purchased the building and large corner lot from the city. The men of the
congregation volunteered the renovating and when the presbytery held its spring
meeting in Schenectady in April, the auditorium which
seats approximately 150 people was ready for use.


The problem of janitor service was solved by setting
aside two small rooms as a bedroom and study for one or two Christian young men
from Union College, who thus are provided lodging and
do the necessary cleaning and taking care of the furnace.


In June, 1943, the first Summer Bible School was held for two weeks. Each year
thereafter has seen an increase in enrollment and in wider influence in the
neighborhood.


During the war, ten communicant members and fourteen
others who were associated with the church served in the armed forces of their
country. Two were wounded, one seriously, but God graciously preserved all of
them from death. Both the pastor and the congregation participated in an
extensive program designed to aid the spiritual life of the service men and to
deepen their interest in the work of the church. Three of these men are
planning to enter the gospel ministry and three others are either in the
ministry or in preparation for it. The present communicant membership of the
church is sixty.







(See “Calvaryj Schenectady,”
Page 64)
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The Orthodox Presbyterian Church







38 Franklin Avenue Franklin Square, New York


Pastor:


The Rev. Robert L. Vining


Ruling Elders:


Walter K. McCullough Frank J. Smart Robert A. Wallace


.A. iter a careful survey of the community had been made by the
Rev. Bruce A. Coie, and prayer services held
meanwhile in homes, regular Sunday school and church services were started on January
 29, 1939, in the American Legion Hall. The initial attendance was 21. Worship
continued there until the building was destroyed by fire. Then services were
held in the Munson Fire Hall. The Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Franklin
Square was accepted as a particular church of the Presbytery of New York and New England on October
 19, 1939.


In 1940, fifty dollars was taken from the general fund
to start a building fund. On October 12, 1941, a building committee was empowered
to rent a property as a church and manse, which building continued as the
church home until 1943.


On April 22, 1942, Mr. Coie
was called as pastor, and his ministry continued until 1945. During his
pastorate the Sunday school and church grew spiritually and numerically,
despite the fact that war work took many church families to other localities.
Early in the history of the church a Women’s Missionary Society and a Machen League were organized, and have contributed to the
spiritual growth of the church. In 1945 a Young People's Choir was formed, and
helps greatly with the worship services.


In 1943 the building committee was authorized to
purchase a property. With the assistance of the Home Missions Committee, the
property at 38 Franklin Avenue was purchased and, after
alterations had been completed, the dedication service of the new church home
was held.


On
November 9, 1945, a manse was purchased.


The Rev. Robert L. Vining was
installed as the new pastor on September 30, 1945-Mr. Vining
is a graduate of the College of Wooster, ’27, and of Westminster Theological
Seminary, ’30. He served as pastor of the First Presbyterian Church, Mifflinburg, Pa., during the first six years after
his graduation; also, Home Missionary of the church in Rochester, N. Y., 1936; and pastor of the
Presbyterian Church (U.S.), Piedmont, W. Va., 1937-45.







Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Worcester, New York







Pastor:


The Rev. John C. Rankin


Ruling Elder:


George B. Crippen


D
uring the
early days of 1936, the Rev. John C. Rankin, pastor of the Worcester church of the Presbyterian Churc h in the U.S.A., had become a member of the Presbyterian
Constitutional Covenant Union because of firm conviction that his denomination
was departing from the faith. He had attempted in numerous sermons through the
years to arouse his congregation to the situation, but there had been little
response. After the Syracuse assembly, Mr. Rankin launched an
intensive campaign of agitation and, due almost entirely to his influence,
officers and members agreed that withdrawal was imperative. Then, when the
people learned that the church property would have to be relinquished, a
general retreat started which ended in a rout.


The organization of Calvary Church began in the local motion picture
theatre in August, 1936, with ten members out of a possible 156. Mr. Rankin was
received as a member of presbytery and on September 17th Dr. J. Gresham Machen preached the installation sermon.


During two of the ensuing years, illness forced Mr.
Rankin to be absent from his pulpit, which was faithfully supplied by the Rev.
Raymond M. Meiners of Schenectady each Sabbath afternoon. For the
past few years, the congregation has met regularly in the home of Ruling Elder
George B. Crippen, who has generously offered the use
of his home for this purpose. The trend as regards active membership and church
attendance, while varied from lime to time, has on the whole been that of
numerical decline.







Mr. Rankin, whose grandfather and father both studied
under Dr. Charles Hodge, spent his pre-college days in the Middle West. He was graduated from Park College in 1910, and studied both at Princeton and Auburn Seminaries. He began his
pastorate in Worcester in 1927.


Calvary, Schenectady (From Page 62)


The pastor, the Rev. Raymond M. Meiners,
was born in Washington. D.C., in 1912.
He entered Union College, Schenectady, to study electrical engineering
but, after his conversion during his freshman year, he felt called to the
ministry. He completed his college course at Elmhurst College, Illinois, in 1935, and was graduated from
Westminster Seminary three years later. He organized Calvary Church and has served as its pastor
throughout its entire life.


Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


2052 St. Paul Street Rochester, New York







Pastor:


The Rev. Charles L. Shook


Ruling Elders:


Louis
H. Jacobs
   Alexander Mijir


William
C. Kurtz    Charles F. Wrav


Ciovenant Church was organized ten years ago by a small group of zealous
Christians. First worship services were held in a hall and in the Y.M.C.A. The
pulpit was supplied by the Rev. Robert L. Vining and,
when he resigned, a pastoral call was extended to the Rev. Robert Moody Holmes.
Mr. Holmes was followed by the Rev. Peter Pascoe and, during Mr. Pascoe’s pastorate, a large house with two and a half acres of ground
was purchased. This supplies ample room for a manse
011 the second floor and the church on the ground floor. The lawn provides
space lor occasional outdoor meetings and church
fellowship suppers during the summer, and there is a modern fireplace for the
use of the young people.


Under “Mission Activities of the Presbytery and Its
Churches” will be found the story of an important missionary activity of Covenant Church in a western suburb of Rochester.


In addition to the usual services of the church, there
is an active Women’s Guild and a Young Women’s Missionary Society. During the
summer of 1945 a Young People’s Bible Camp was held on the church grounds. A
successful vacation Bible school was held in 1945 in the neighborhood of the
church’s new mission chapel, and two Child Evangel Bible Clubs are led each
week by women of the church. Covenant Church has sent two young men into the
ministry, both of


whom are Westminster Seminary graduates. One young woman, a
graduate of Moody Bible Institute, is doing missionary work in Arkansas and another is studying at Moody.







The Rev. Charles L. Shook came to Covenant Church in 1944 from Volga, S. D. He is a graduate of
Westminster Seminary and, during his nine years at Volga, built up an active church with a
new church building and manse. For several summers he successfully conducted a
large Bible camp. With his gifts and experience, Covenant Church looks forward to a future of
blessing.


The
Rev. Gordon H. Clark, Ph.D., is
the son of the late Dr. David S. Clark, Presbyterian pastor of Philadelphia. He was a
member of the Philosophy Department of the University of Pennsylvania and later
taught philosophy at Wheaton College. He was a
ruling elder of Redeemer Orthodox Presbyterian Church, Philadelphia, prior to his ordination by the Presbytery of Philadelphia in 1944. For
a time he was stated supply of the First Church of Cincinnati. He is a
member of the faculty of Butler University, Indianapolis. Dr. Clark
is the only minister to have been ordained in the denomination without completion
of a formal theological seminary course.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church












Taft Road and Kemper Lane Cincinnati, Ohio


Pastor:


The Rev. Charles H. Ellis


Definite concern about the inroads of Modernism in the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. took form during the meeting of
that church’s General Assembly held in Cincinnati in May, 1935. There followed a
lively general interest in the situation, a searching of the Scriptures and of
the subordinate standards of the church, and a study of the extent of departure
from the faith once for all delivered unto the saints.


By October of that year, with the assistance of the
late Rev. Gerard H. Snell, a group of the Presbyterian Constitutional Covenant
Union was organized.


The Cincinnati congregation was organized as a
particular church in Philadelphia during the first General Assembly
of the denomination. A pastoral call was forthwith issued to the Rev. Everett
C. DeVelde, who preached his first sermon in Cincinnati on July
 5, 1936. He remained pastor until he accepted a call from Vineland, N. J., in the autumn of 1941.


The Rev. Marvin L. Derby was called on March
 17, 1942; but after a brief pastorate, he departed to another field of labor.
Dr. Lawrence B. Gilmore took up the work early in the spring of 1943. He
resigned in August, 1945, to become librarian for the Christian University
Association. As a temporary expedient Dr. Gordon H. Clark was made stated
supply. During his short ministry, thirteen persons united with the church. On February
 9, 1946, the congregation issued a unanimous call to the Rev. Charles H. Ellis.


Mr. Ellis, a native of Maine, was graduated from Wheaton College and received his Th.B. and Th.M. degrees at
Westminster Seminary. He was ordained to the gospel ministry by the Presbytery
of New Jersey and for nearly three years served as stated supply of Immanuel Church, West Collingswood, N. J.


The Presbytery of Philadelphia


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


JV^eeting for the first time on June 13, 1936, just two days after the denomination
came into being, the Presbytery of Philadelphia began its work of carrying on
the true spiritual succession of Presbyterianism in and around Philadelphia.


At first Philadelphia Presbytery acted as a
clearing-house, receiving ministers from all over the country who loved the
Reformed Faith and desired to take their stand against Modernism. As other
presbyteries were formed many of these men were transferred to them.


The first roll of ministers contained thirty-seven
names. Knox Church of Philadelphia has the honor of being the first church
received into the presbytery, with Eastlake, Wilmington, and Calvary, Middletown, Pa., being received at the following
meeting of presbytery. Dr. John B. Thwing was elected
the first moderator and the Rev. R. Laird Harris first stated clerk. It was the
privilege of this presbytery to have on its roll the name of God’s devout and
humble servant and leader in the formation of the denomination—Dr. J. Gresham Machen.


Between the First and Second General Assemblies, much
correspondence was carried on by the stated clerk with individuals interested
in the new church. God gave wisdom for the important decisions that faced the
men as the presbytery went through its birth struggles.


The presbytery now has twenty congregations and one
chapel, with thirty-six ministers on the roll. The Rev. John Patton Galbraith
is moderator and the Rev. Henry D. Phillips is stated clerk.


New Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


5140 Walnut Street Philadelphia, Pa.


Pastor:


The Rev. David Freeman


Ruling Elder:


James Smiley


^Jew
Covenant Church came
into being on June 15, 1936, when the pastor and a group of
people walked out on that Sabbath morning from the Grace Presbyterian Church
(U.S.A.) in protest against official Modernism. The newly-formed congregation
immediately became a part of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. There were some
who gave the church no more than a year to live, but contrary to the wisdom of
men, who despise the weak things of this world, the church has had a continuous
existence and has been for some time holding regular Sabbath and weekday
services in West Philadelphia. For about five years this place of meeting has served
also as a witness for the gospel of Christ to the Jews. It is the testimony of
The Orthodox Presbyterian Church to Israel’s Messiah.


More than ten years have passed since the exodus of
1936. The children of the church have grown in stature and in knowledge, and
parents rejoice in their intelligent reception of the truth as it is in Jesus.
One has served his country in battle and another is still in uniform. All are
grateful for the way the Lord has led, and trust that it may be God’s will to
use them to His Name’s honor and glory in the upbuilding
of the faith of believers and the salvation of souls from among Jews and
Gentiles.


Pastor of New Covenant Church is the Rev. David Freeman, who has
conducted a successful program of Jewish evangelization for many years.


Mediator Orthodox Presbyterian
Church and Chapel


2328 Germantown Avenue Philadelphia, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Herbert J. Hoeflinger
Ruling
Elders:




Chari.es M. Mayson
John E. Curry Lindsay B. Wagoner










James F. Orr Charles A. Tichenor
Albert Eisentrager


Edward E. Schlichting


O*
January 27,
1937, the members of the Susquehanna Avenue Presbyterian Church left the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and organized the Mediator Church. The Rev.
James W. Price, who had been the minister at the Susquehanna Avenue Church, left with his congregation and led
the organization of the new church. The congregation established itself in a
hall on Germantown Avenue in Philadelphia and, about a year and a half later,
was received into The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Because the members were eager to extend their
testimony, they undertook to organize a chapel in a new section of Philadelphia. In August, 1940, ground was broken
for the Mediator Chapel at Rutland and Knorr
Streets in northeast Philadelphia. A building was erected and the
Chapel was dedicated in February, 1941.


Mediator Church and Mediator Chapel are one congregation and thus constitute a collegiate
church. One session presides over the spiritual matters of both groups, while
the Mediator Chapel has its own board of trustees to handle its business
affairs. When the Chapel was formed, Mr. Price became its minister, and the
Rev. John Betzold was called as pastor of the Mediator Church. During the war Mr. Betzold entered the army chaplaincy and since that time Mr.
Alan Tichenor has been pulpit supply. The church has
changed its place of meeting from the hall on Germantown Avenue to the Third Church of the Covenanters at Franklin and
Dauphin Streets.


In June, 1945, Mr. Price left Mediator Chapel and the
congregation chose as his successor the Rev. Herbert J. Hoeflinger.
Mr. Hoeflinger is a graduate of New York University and was graduated from Westminster
Theological Seminary in May, 1945. He was ordained by Philadelphia Presbytery
011 October 5, 1945, and was installed as pastor of
Mediator Chapel on the same date. Prior to his call to Mediator Chapel, Mr. Hoeflinger held two summer pastorates in the Presbyterian
Church in Canada and has supplied various pulpits in
The Orthodox Presbyterian Church and in several other denominations.


Gethsemane Orthodox Presbyterian Church


65th Street Below Elmwood Avenue Philadelphia, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Samuel J. Ali.en


Ruling Elders:


Samuel Simpson    Robert Gordon


George McAllister    Donald Rigdon


In
June, 1936, a
group of members of the Faith Presbyterian Church, located at 62nd and Lindbergh Blvd., under the leadership of the Rev.
R. Moody Holmes, renounced the jurisdiction of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. when that body by a judicial action
in effect made the support of unbelief mandatory.


They left a new building which had just been dedicated
to meet in an old garage at 63rd and Lindbergh Blvd. The name of Gethsemane was adopted. Mr. Holmes resigned
the pastorate sometime before Christmas, 1936.


Until May, 1937, the group was led by ruling elder
Donald Rigdon, a graduate of the Pennsylvania Bible
Institute. Without his work, the group would probably have disbanded.


In May, 1937, the Rev. John Patton Galbraith, a
graduate of Westminster Seminary, was called to the pastorate. Convinced of the
unsatisfactory location of the building in which they were meeting, the present
site on 65th Street below Elmwood Avenue was obtained. The obligations
contracted in this move were stupendous. Their assumption was an act of faith which
has been vindicated. The church has met at its present location since December,
1938.


The progress has been slow throughout the years. There
appears to be more life and enthusiasm now than since 1940. The church is
situated in a large industrial section which is predominantly Roman Catholic
and so there are thousands within a square mile to be reached with the gospel.
There are other Protestant churches in the general community, but none within
three blocks, and not one of these is a Bible-believing, aggressively
evangelistic organization.


The Rev. Samuel f. Allen, pastor of the church, was born in Philadelphia. He is a graduate of the Pennsylvania Military College, Chester, Pa., attended Princeton Theological
Seminary for two years and was graduated from Westminster Theological Seminary
in its first class-1930. He was ordained to the gospel ministry in May, 1930.
He served as pastor of Presbyterian churches at Jordan, Montana, and Leith, Carson, and Lark, North Dakota, for a period of ten years. He has
served at the Gethsemane Orthodox Presbyterian Church since October, 1940, and
is a charter member of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Redeemer Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


3944 Walnut Street Philadelphia, Pa.


Pulpit Vacant


Ruling Elders:


Joseph Mitchell    Joseph
   H.    McCi.ay


Redeemer Church was formed in 1936, largely through the work of Dr.
Gordon H. Clark in pointing out the apostasy within the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A. to many of its members. First
minister of the enthusiastic new group was the Rev. Charles G. Schauffele, ordained in the summer of 1937.


Mr. Schauffele was called to
Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church, Harrisville, Pa., in 1938. For a time the pulpit was
supplied by faculty members and students of Westminster Seminary, with Mr.
Robert Nicholas in particular serving the church very ably. The Rev. Thomas M.
Cooper was called to the church in 1939. At the beginning of the national
defense measures preceding the war, the church was weakened by the removal of
many members and friends, and by 1940 it was unable to support a full-time
minister. Services were continued through the work of Dr. Edward J. Young of
Westminster Seminary and four seminary students, Robert Valentine, David Muir,
David Kerr, and Donald Kauffman. Mr. Kerr continued to serve the church for a
year, and Mr. Kauffman was later called to the pulpit.


Redeemer Church has thus far been unable to find a
permanent location, and has faced many financial difficulties during the past
ten years. It has been blessed by carrying on weekly evangelistic services at a
convalescent home near-by for many years. This work has been done through the
cooperation of young people of the church with the students of Westminster
Seminary. One of the most loyal supporters in the work has been the church
pianist, Miss Elizabeth Stevenson.







Hundreds of visitors have worshiped in Redeemer Church. The members have been particularly
happy to welcome many brethren from the Christian Reformed Church to the
fellowship of worship.


Donald Thomas Kauffman, recently called to the
pastorate of the church, had expected to be able to accept the call. However,
late word has been received that Mr.


Kauffman
has declined the call and the pulpit still remains vacant.


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Orange Hall, Harvey Street Germantown, Philadelphia, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Eugene Bradford


Ruling Elders:


William
B. Gaillard    H. Evan Runner


Howard Silbert
   Murray Forst Thompson


J.
William Kingma    Thomas R. Birch


Calvary Church (originally named Calvary Presbyterian Church of
Germantown) was formed July 13, 1936, a month after The Presbyterian
Church of America was established. Thirteen of the organizing members of Calvary Church were constituting
members of The Presbyterian Church of America. Among these was Mr. John Welsh
Dulles who, after serving for upwards of fifty years as a ruling elder in the
Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., left that body in 1936 when almost
eighty-seven years of age. Until his retirement from the session in his
ninety-third year, Mr. Dulles through his unflagging faith and wise counsel has
exerted a profound influence upon Calvary Church.


For a year and a half Calvary Church met above a store at 66 West Chelten
  Avenue in Germantown, Philadelphia, and thereafter in the basement
auditorium of the Germantown Y.W.C.A. In November of 1945 the church moved a
few blocks away to the Orange Hall where it is now meeting. In April, 1942, Calvary Church was ready to break ground for the
erection of its chapel in Mt. Airy, Philadelphia, when building restrictions imposed
by the Federal government stopped the project. The war having terminated, the
congregation has begun to plan anew and hopes soon to become permanently
established in its own property.


Calvary Church has been served by three pastors:
the Rev. Cary N. Weisiger, the Rev. Theodore J. Jansma and the Rev. Eugene Bradford, the present pastor.
Mr. Bradford attended public school in Philadelphia and was graduated from Wheaton College and Westminster Theological
Seminary. During the summers of 1939 and 1940 he preached regularly in an
interdenominational chapel in Ocean City, N. J. In 1941 he was called to the
Faith Presbyterian Church, Unaffiliated, Fawn Grove, Pa., where he ministered until coming
to Calvary Church in 1944-


From the beginning Calvary Church has had an active interest in
Westminster Theological Seminary. All of the pastors of the church were
graduates of Westminster; many seminary students, who
subsequently entered the ministry, were members of the church; the families of
several members of the faculty are members of the congregation; and for many
years a member of the faculty has served as superintendent of the Sunday
school. Calvary Church has been blessed in its close
association with Westminster Seminary.


Calvary Church has always regarded as most
important the systematic indoctrination of the


(See “Calvary, Philadelphia,” Page 91)


Knox Orthodox Presbyterian Church


2216 East Cumberland Street Philadelphia, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. William E. Welmers, Ph.D


Ruling Elder:










Allen R. Hood


The
congregation of Knox Church was the first to apply in 1936 for
admission to the Presbytery of Philadelphia of the newly-organized Presbyterian
Church of America. Under her first pastor, Dr. John B. Thwing,
a vigorous church was established in the Kensington section of Philadelphia. Three pastors or supplies have
succeeded him: the Rev. George W. Marston, the Rev.
Jack Zandstra and the present pastor. Dr. Welmers.


At present the congregation owns its own property free
of debt. This consists of a row house and a double lot suitable for the
erection of a church building. The community, largely Roman Catholic,
constitutes a difficult field, but the church has grown spiritually if not
numerically. Active interest in and generous contributions to the missions work
of the church have always characterized the congregation.


The session numbers only one ruling elder at the
present time. A former elder, William Hood, was killed in action during the
war; his faithful and varied work for Christ’s church is thankfully remembered
and his loss keenly felt. Another former elder, LeRoy
B. Oliver, is now a minister of the denomination.


The Sunday school reaches some children of unchurched families, although it has been a not uncommon
experience that children of Roman Catholic families, after being allowed to
attend Sunday school for a few weeks, are suddenly forbidden to continue. Other
organizations of the church are the Ladies’ Aid Society and the Women’s
Missionary Society.


Dr. Welmers has been pastor
of Knox Church since 1943. While serving the
church, he also taught Chinese and Japanese at the University of Pennsylvania, in the Army Specialized Training
Program, and worked for several months on the Army’s Dictionary of Spoken
Chinese. In June, 1946, the Welmers family began two
years of residence in Liberia and the Gold Coast, West Africa, where Dr. Welmers
will work in language analysis on several native languages, some of them still
unwritten. His greatest hope is to use the science of linguistics to further
the foreign missions program of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Eastlake Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Twenty-seventh and Market Streets
Wilmington, Delaware







Pastor:


The Rev. John I’. Clelland


Ruling Elders:


Thomas C. Harvey
   |ohn \V. Watson


Ralph F. Logue    William C. Miller


Harry W. Frazer    A. L. LeGro


E. L. Harting
   Robert H. Major


The Eastlake congregation, Wilmington, Delaware, was organized in 1896 by the
Presbytery of New Castle of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. For forty years she remained a part
of that church but in June, 1936, withdrew and made application to the infant
Presbyterian Church of America. An unusual feature of the withdrawal was that
on a roll-call vote the congregation decided 101 to o to withdraw. The
congregation was blessed then, and has been since, by unanimity regarding her
affiliation with The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


As a result of the unanimous action internally the
congregation remained unchanged. She had the same pastor, officers and members,
and worshiped in the same building. However, in 1939 the Presbytery of New
Castle, in the name of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., brought suit in the civil courts
for the recovery of the property and in 1941 the property, consisting of church
and manse, was awarded to that presbytery. After negotiations, the congregation
repurchased its properties for the small sum of $7500.


In two years the indebtedness was paid off and in the
past two years more than $7000 has been raised toward the erection of a new
church. In January, 1946, the congregation voted to purchase a lot in the same
section of Wilmington and undertook to raise $5000 a year
for five years for the Building Fund. Within the five-year period it is hoped
that a new and more beautiful house of worship may be built.


The present membership of the congregation is 305,
consisting of 240 communicant and sixty-five baptized members. Active
organizations in the church consist of the Sunday school, Men’s Club, Uadies’ Aid, Missionary Society, and two Machen Ueagues. The church is
situated in a residential section of Wilmington and has a great opportunity to
witness to the saving gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ.


The pastor, the Rev. John P. Clelland,
was born in Grove City, Pennsylvania. He was graduated from Grove City College in 1929 and from Westminster
Theological Seminary in 1932. Immediately upon graduation he was called to the Eastlake Church and is thus now completing his
fourteenth year in that parish. In 1936 he was elected to the Board of Trustees
of Westminster Theological Seminary and became Secretary of the Board the
following year. In 1946, he was elected President of that Board. He has served
on the denomination’s Committee on Foreign Missions since its inception. In
1942 he was moderator of the General Assembly.


Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Middletown, Delaware Pastor:







The Rev. LeRov
B. Oliver


Ruling Elders:


G. Harry
Davidson    George    C.
   Burge


Eugene iYI
inner


(trace
Church of
Middletown, Delaware, was organized February 2, 1938, after the Rev. Robert H.
Graham and forty-two members of Forest Presbyterian Church had renounced the
jurisdiction of the Presbytery of New Castle of the Presbyterian Church in the
U.S.A. Leaving the historic old church building, the small band met first in
the local theatre and then in a lodge hall, but in a few months the blessing of
God upon this group was evident in the rapid progress made in the efforts to
secure a permanent place of worship. Members were able to raise approximately
31500 within the short space of two months, plans were drawn up, ground for the
building was donated by Elder Max Gebhardt, and under
the leadership of Mr. Graham, Elder G. Harry Davidson, and Mr. Groome Mears the beautiful colonial building in which the
congregation now worships was erected. Suitable furnishings for the interior,
including an Everett Orgatron, were purchased or
donated, and the entire project was completely paid for within two years.


Since the organization of the congregation, a number of
the faithful communicants have been received into the church triumphant, but
others have been added to the congregation who have faithfully heeded the call
to contend for the faith once for all delivered unto the saints. There are now
fifty-three communicant members and nineteen baptized children of the covenant
on the roll of the church. An active Sunday school ministering the gospel to
the children of the community, a women’s society, and a young people’s choir
are organizations within the church; and a summer vacation Bible school
conducted each year reaches many of the children in the rural sections
surrounding Middletown.







When
the Rev. Robert H. Graham was called to Grace Church, Los Angeles, in January, 1943, the congregation
called the Rev.


LeRoy B. Oliver, a graduate of Wheaton College and Westminster Theological
Seminary, class of 1942, to be its pastor.


St. Andrew’s Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


3552 Elmley
  Street Baltimore, Maryland







Pastor:


Thf. Rev.
Edwards E. Elliott


Ruling Elder:


Leonard G. Brown


Baltimore has a natural aversion to extremists. The blood-red
issues brought forward by Dr. Machen raised more
eyebrows among the agnostics like Mencken than among the lethargic
Presbyterians.


Under the leadership of Theodore J. Jansma,
a group of protestants gathered at the home of Mrs.
Hiram Woods on July 5, 1936. Preaching services began next
Sunday at the Guild Theater. The congregation organized on September 27th, and
by a close vote, chose the name of St. Andrew’s. There were twenty-nine
signatures 011 the charter roll. On December 27th, }.
R. Cummings, W. V. Derby, and W. A. Mercier were elected and installed as
elders. On May 19, 1937, Mr. Jansma
was ordained as pastor, and his salary was raised from §60 to $100 monthly,
without manse.


Efforts were made to secure a better meeting place, for
the Guild was dark and drafty, and in a run-down neighborhood. But there was
disagreement on the proper location. The loss of Miss Nancy Phillips and the
death of Mr. Cummings meant the eventual breakdown of the Sunday school in
spite of the valiant efforts of Miss Florence Gilbert, the secretary. The
discontinuance of the Sunday school on the last Sunday in January, 1940, made
the rent lower, and the owner of the theater, receiving a better offer from
another religious group, gave notice that St. Andrew’s must leave. A move to an
upstairs auditorium next to the tracks at the end of 25th Street did not prove felicitous. Gloom
settled over a part of the congregation, and on April
 3, 1941, Mr. Jansma’s resignation was accepted. The
session resigned. It was also decided to discontinue regular services except
for the monthly Women’s Society meeting. Miss Gilbert and others objected to
this majority vote, and determined to carry on. At a May meeting, the majority
did not object to the minority idea. These courageous women, numbering only six
or eight, not only saw to it that preaching continued, but actually went ahead
with a building fund. The Rev. R. Heber Mcllwaine did
the preaching and visitation while working as a translator of Japanese at the
FBI, in Washington.


The transfer of elder Leonard G. Brown from Gethsemane,
Philadelphia, to St. Andrew’s and the reception of other new members, brought
new life to the church, and in October, 1942, it was decided to call Mr.
Edwards Elliott for a two months’ survey of the city, to discover a


(See “St. Andrew’s, Baltimore,” Page 92)


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Spruce and Emaus Streets Middletown, Pa.


Pulpit Vacant


Puling Elders:


Lewis W. Roberts    Bernardus
   H.    Vos


TJnder the leadership of the Rev. Robert S. Marsden, eighty adults left the Presbyterian Church in the
U.S.A. in Middletown, Pa., and with their children organized the Calvary
Presbyterian Church of America 011 the 24th of June, 1936. A theater building
served as the first meeting place and later a store building was leased.


In the summer of 1938, Mr. Marsden
became the general secretary of the Home and Foreign Missions Committees of the
denomination and the Rev. Edward L. Kellogg came to assist in the Middletown pastorate. T he following year Mr. Marsden’s pastoral relation to the church was dissolved in
order that he might devote full time to the missions work and 011 the 10th of
December Mr. Kellogg was installed.


In 1940 a beautiful colonial chapel was erected and
dedicated on the 24th of November. With the coming of World War II, thousands
of people were employed at an Army Air Base located at Middletown. To provide housing for these
defense workers, the government erected two developments. In the providence of
God one was located very near the church and many have attended the services
from that development, some also becoming strong members of the congregation.
In the other development a Sunday school is being conducted under the direction
of the church session.


From its organization in 1936 to the present time the
church has experienced a steady growth in membership and attendance. The
congregation is now considering the erection of a larger church building to
meet the present and future needs.







A Christian School Association composed largely of
members of the church was formed in 1944 and in the fall of that year a Day
School with four grades and twenty-six pupils convened in the church building.


In
1945 a second teacher was employed and another grade was added. Though the
school is not under the government of the church,    it
   is    nevertheless    directed
by    a    board consisting of members and officers
of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church    and    the
   classes    meet    in


the church building.


In the spring of 1946 Air. Kellogg left to accept a call to
Immanuel Orthodox Presbyterian Church, West Collingswood, N. J., and at the time this volume
went to press the pulpit was still vacant.


Bethany
Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Nottingham, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Henry D. Phillips


Ruling Elders:


Charles H. Phillips    J. Preston Reburn


Miller G. McDowell    Clarence Davison


Less
than a month
after the organization of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church, a group of
twenty-three persons met to form what was later to be known as Bethany Church.
Services were held in a community hall which was purchased, renovated, and
dedicated as a house of worship in January, 1937. In less than seven months,
the little band of twenty-three had grown until the charter membership list
numbered ninety-two.


First pastor of Bethany Church was the Rev. Peter DeRuiter, who served for seven years. In ig43 he was
succeeded by the Rev. Henry D. Phillips of Baltimore, a graduate of Wheaton College and Westminster Seminary. Mr.
Phillips’ first pastorate had been the Alto Pass Congregational Church in Southern Illinois. From there he had gone as stated
supply to Knox Church of Washington, D.C.


Under God’s blessing, Bethany Church has been
self-supporting throughout its history, contributing to the several committees
of the denomination and to other evangelistic causes. In 1945 more than
one-fifth of the budget was given to benevolences. There are 107 communicant
members and forty-seven covenant children on the church roll. A number of
others from the community attend the services of the church and its
organizations.


Annual highlights include a Summer Bible School; Anniversary Sunday in July, with
high


attendance for communion; a fall Missionary and Evangelistic
Conference; and the regular festive seasons of the church year.







A Missionary and Prayer Band fosters
the interest and work of missions. This Band brings to the congregation
missionaries from the denomination and other speakers. A Young People’s
Fellowship meets on Sunday night, and there is a monthly meeting for missionary
news, business, a time of fellowship, and social recreation. It is this group
which publishes monthly the Bethany Echo. The young people also form (See
“Bethany, Nottingham,” Page 90)


Faith Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Harrisville, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Charles G. Schauffele


Ruling Elders:


Arthur
Armour    Simeon D. Morrison


John
H. Craig    James
   Speer


Alfred W. Brandon E. J. Atwell William E. McBride The Hilltop Sunday School


O n July
 5, 1936, a group of members met in the High
School Auditorium of Harrisville, determined to build a true Presbyterian
church on the doctrinal standards and tradition of the one they had just left.
The pastor, the Rev. Robert L. Atwell, preached at the first service from II
Corinthians 6:17.


The congregation gratefully accepted the gift of a
building lot from Mr. and Mrs. F. E. Karns and on
October 19th ground was broken. “For the people had a mind to work” was the
motto under which friends labored and donated materials which resulted in the
present building. On January 31, 1937, the first service was held in the
new building which had cost approximately $3000. It was dedicated on April
 11, 1937. In four years’ time, the entire indebtedness was met and since that
time pews have been installed and other improvements added. For a short time
the Rev. Calvin A. Busch was assistant pastor during Mr. Atwell's pastorate.
For about one year the Rev. Jack Zanclstra was stated
supply. The Rev. Charles G. Schauffele has been
pastor since October 1, 1940.


Faith Church has long been among the highest
contributors 10 the missions committees of the denomination. This is made
possible by the allocation of the entire Sunday evening offering, as well as
the first offering each month in the Sunday school, to work of the committees.







A
full church program is carried 011, including morning and evening worship
through the year, Wednesday evening prayer meeting, Machen
Leagues, Sunday school and three weekly Bible classes for children. A Summer Bible School, Fall Young People’s Conference,
and Summer


Camp
are now regular annual activities.    The
Sunday School of Faith Church


(See “Faith. Harrisville " Page
93)


New Hope Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


Branchton, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Charles G. Schauffei.e


Ruling Elders:


David Bovard
   Ozra D. Allison


R. Clayton Duffy
   James H. Hartley


!New Hope Church had its beginning under the ministry o£ the Rev. Robert
L. Atwell in June of 1946. However, the congregation is probably the oldest in
the denomination, having been organized in 1881. The whole congregation became
charter members of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church, although only one charter
member of the original congregation in 1881 still remains. The present
congregation paid an old grant mortgage held by the Board of Home Missions of
the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and in return received a quit claim deed
for the property. Today the church is one of the finest in the denomination,
and possesses one of the most beautiful country cemeteries anywhere.


The church has always shared its pastors with Faith
Church of Harrisville.


With the ascendancy of the rural church in these
post-war times, the communities near-by are being
repopulated and one especially is fast becoming a thriving summer colony. With
the aid of a summer assistant, the pastor and people hope to use these timely
opportunities for growth.


A very active Machen League
meets each Friday evening. Weekday Bible classes are held in the surrounding
rural schools. The Sunday school capitalizes on all these elforts
to reach out. With the establishment of Hilltop School near-by, it is hoped that in the
near future the


two fields together will support one pastor while
Harrisville may require another. With true missionary vision, there is no limit
to the possibilities for growth in this field, and the congregation looks
forward to a future of rich blessing.







The pastor, Mr. SchaufTele,
is a graduate of Westminster Seminary. He was formerly pastor of Redeemer Church, Philadelphia, and was called to the Harrisville
and Branchton fields in 1938. He is an active member
of the Committee on Christian Education.


Covenant Orthodox Presbyterian
Church


Blackridge Wilkinsburg, Pa.







Pastor:


The Rev. Calvin Knox Cummings


Ruling Elders:


R. R. Stuart    Clifford Rf.a John C. Smith


O
ne of the last labors of Dr. J. Gresham Machen was a trip to Pittsburgh in the fall of 1936 for the purpose of establishing a
church of the infant denomination. Under the energetic leadership of the Rev.
Robert L. Atwell the work begun by Dr. Machen was
carried forward and a vigorous witness to the Word was established. Starting
with just live faithful Christians meeting in a private home, there is now a
total membership of nearly eighty.


After meeting in a downtown hotel for one year, a large
and centrally located residence was purchased for a church and parsonage. After
seven years in that location, it was decided to move to the unchurched
and growing community of Blackridge in Wilkinsburg. A beautiful colonial brick
building is being erected and meantime services are held in the parsonage.
Before these words appear in print, it is likely that worship in the new
building will have been instituted.


Not one family was lost because of the five-mile jump,
and only 15 per cent of the Sunday school attendance dropped in the process.
Throughout the transition, all regular services and departments of the church
have been maintained.


Pastor of Covenant Church is the Rev. Calvin Knox Cummings, a
graduate of Lafayette College and Westminster Seminary. While
attending college, he became aware of the inroads of Modernism and became
active in the work of the League of Evangelical Students, which organization he
later served for three years as general secretary. Mr. Cummings was one of the
first to be refused ordination by the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. because he would not pledge blind
allegiance to the boards of the denomination. He was ordained to the gospel
ministry at the first general assembly of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church and
has been pastor of Covenant Church since its inception.


Bethany, Nottingham (From Page 87)


the church choir and have sponsored the spiritual nurture
of the church’s men and women in the service. The Intermediate Machen League is for the grade school age; it unites with
the Fellowship 011 Sunday evening, but has its own monthly meetings. There is
an active Sunday school with an average attendance of about seventy.


Valley Forge Orthodox Presbyterian Church


71 o Swede Street Norristown, Pa.


Pulpit Vacant


Ruli?ig Elder:


William E. Brown


'N/ali.ey Forge Church came into being on July 12, 1936, at
the Norristown home of Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Loughin,
with eleven charter members. Most of these had withdrawn from the Port Kennedy
Presbyterian Church (U.S.A.), whose pastor, the Rev. Kelly G. Tucker, had been
asked to resign because ol his opposition to Modernism. The new group met for
two weeks for worship services in Mr. Tucker’s home. Cooperating with Mr.
Tucker in the organization of the church was the Rev. Calvin K. Cummings.


After having been received by the Presbytery of
Philadelphia, the new church held services in the Loughin
home until September, 1936, with Mr. Stanley I. Ray as student pastor and Mr.
Cummings as moderator. The next church home was Norristown’s Odd Fellows Hall. In May, 1937’ Mr- Ray was ordained and installed
as pastor and remained until July, 1938. The Rev. Gerald Heersma
served as supply pastor for several months and became pastor in 1938, leaving
about a year later to assume other work. In August, 1939, Mr. Tucker returned
from missionary work in the South and was called to the pastorate of the
church. He continued until March, 1944, when he accepted a call to the church
at Cornville, Maine. Services had for some time been held
in the pastor’s home, but now the present room was rented and Mr. William C. Goodrow, a Westminster Seminary student, served as student
pastor until his graduation in May, 1945. Mr. Henry Tavares, also of
Westminster Seminary, then took up the duties of student pastor and the church
reports growth under his leadership.


Sunday school and worship service are held on Sabbath
mornings, and a young people’s service precedes the evening worship. It is
expected that a Machen League will be organized in
the near future.


Calvary, Philadelphia (From Page 77)


covenant youth of the congregation, and since it first had a
pastor the church has conducted classes in the Shorter Catechism.


In the fall of 1944 Calvary Church was privileged to receive into its
membership the members remaining on the rolls of Livingstone Memorial Orthodox
Presbyterian Church when that church was dissolved.


There are now 49 communicant members and 22
non-communicant members on the church roll.


St. Andrew’s, Baltimore (From Page 81)


suitable neighborhood in which to relocate the church. This led
the church to purchase the house at 3552 Elniley
  Avenue for 14,500, and to retain Mr. Elliott as preacher. Mr.
Mcllwaine went into the army chaplaincy.


The Rev. Bruce Hunt came lor introductory evangelistic meetings, and a Sunday school
was started. In July, 1945, a branch Sunday school began to function on Sunday
afternoons on Preston Street. There is still much land to be
possessed, but the cjualities of loyalty and
perseverance demonstrated by these faithful members of St. Andrew’s deserve a
special citation.


Knox, Silver Spring (From Page 82)


to provide more Sunday school classroom space. One of its
members, Mrs. Francis E. Mahaffy, is serving in Eritrea, Africa, under the Foreign Missions
Committee. In the past year both a Machen League and
a Missionary Society have been organized. Knox Church now has 39 communicant members, of whom six are charter members, and ten covenant children.


The Rev. Glenn R. Coic,
pastor, was born in St. Joseph, Mo., and received his early education
in Oregon. He attended Lewis and Clark College, graduating in 1928. After teaching
high school in Oregon for three years, he entered
Westminster Seminary. Upon graduation from seminary in 1934, he was ordained
and installed as pastor of the First Presbyterian Church of North Bend, Oregon.
In November, 1935, he was called to the First Presbyterian Church of Bend,
Oregon. In October, 1936, he and a large part of his congregation withdrew, in
protest against Modernism, front the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and established the Westminster
Orthodox Presbyterian Church. After serving this congregation in Bend nearly nine years, he was called to
Knox Church.


Faith, Quarryville (From Page 84)


Faith
congregation met in its own church building with humble hearts filled with joy
and praise to God for His great faithfulness. Repeatedly the congregation saw
evidence of God’s hand in the work. Hearts were again overjoyed when in 1943
all indebtedness was cleared on the entire property valued at $20,000.


As soon as Faith Church secured its twelve-acre site, plans
were made to hold a summer Bible conference in 1937. The pastor, joined by
seven other ministers of the denomination and four laymen, organized the
Quarryville Bible Conference Association. A large barn on the property was
renovated for a dormitory, and a conference dining hall and auditorium building
was erected to accommodate the ninety-eight delegates who attended the first
Young People’s Conference in June, 1937. Each year since then the conference
has grown in size and usefulness. In 1945 there were three conferences held, with
294 delegates from nineteen Orthodox Presbyterian churches. Buildings and
equipment have been added and the Conference Association has become
incorporated as a non-profit association. Many have found Christ as their Saviour and Christians have been deepened in the faith as a
result of the ministry of these conferences during the past nine years.


The pastor, the Rev. Franklin S. Dyrness,
a son of the manse, was born in Chicago and is a graduate of Wheaton College. He taught for one year at Wheaton Academy before entering seminary. After two
years at McCormick Theological Seminary of Chicago, Mr. Dyrness
entered Westminster Theological Seminary, Philadelphia, and was graduated in 1931. He
served as pastor of the Chestnut Level Presbyterian Church from 1931 to 1936.
Since then he has been pastor of Faith Church and has also served as Executive
Director of the Quarryville Bible Conference Association.


Faith Church has 113 communicant members and
sixteen covenant children.


Kirkwood (From Page 85)


are six separate meetings in the church each Sunday,
beginning at 9:45 a.m. with the Sunday school, of which
Elder William R. Ferguson is Superintendent. Then follows at 11 a.m. the morning worship service in which
a twenty-voice choir sings under the leadership of Deacon Robert P. Watterson. At 7 p.m. the Intermediate Machen
League sponsored by Mrs. John P. Galbraith, the Senior Machen
League sponsored by Mrs. Charles W. Breuninger, and
the Christian Forum, a discussion group for adults, meet. At 8 p.m. the evening worship service is held.
During the past winter, weekly Bible classes have been held 011 Tuesday nights
with Faith Church of Quarryville. When these classes close, weekly prayer
meetings will be resumed. The Berean Missionary
Society, which several authorities have said is the “best” in the denomination,
meets once each month. Mrs. George Haverstick is
President this year. A young people’s group, the Guild and Fellowship,
sponsored by Mrs. Paul N. Thompson, meets once a month, as does the Theophilus Fellowship which is composed largely of young
married couples.


Faith, Harrisville (From Page 88)


Hilltop School


On May 21, 1944, a group of twenty boys and girls,
with a few adults, met in the Ryebread schoolhouse to
form a Sunday school. Most of the children had long been attending weekday
Bible school held after school hours in the schoolhouse. The Sunday school was
the culmination of their desires to have a school 011 the Lord’s Day too. Mrs.
H. N. Christy was the first superintendent and, under her wise and active
leadership, the school has grown to double the size of its early days. Classes
are held for all ages. Freewill offerings make the school entirely self-supporting, with a missionary budget that includes the
missions committees and the American Sunday School Union.


Aided at first by the American Sunday School Union, the
fledgling school voted to come under the care of the session of Faith Church, Harrisville. Since that time a
weekly Thursday night prayer meeting has been well attended. The Home Missions
Committee has sent a summer assistant to the field and in 1945 a two weeks’
summer Bible school was successfully conducted. Since May, 1945, a regular morning worship has also been conducted each
Lord’s Day at 9:30. The present upsurge of interest in rural communities
augurs well for the future of this school and the possibility of its becoming
another Orthodox Presbyterian chapel.


Other Members of Presbytery


The Rev. John Wistar Betzold became a member of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church
when the former Immanuel Presbyterian Church of West Collingswood, N. J.,
joined the denomination. He was graduated from Westminster Seminary in 1943 and for about two years was pastor of Mediator Church. Philadelphia. He entered the Chaplain Corps of
the United States Army in November, 1944. and has served in the Asiatic-Pacific Theatre since May, 1945. He was promoted to the grade of Captain in November,
1945, and at present is stationed in Kaesong, Korea, on duty with the 32nd Infantry
Regiment of the famous 7th (Hourglass) Division. In addition to regular Army
duties, he has preached to several thousand Korean Christians.


The Rf.v. Cornelius
Van Til, Ph.D., is the well-loved
Professor of Apologetics at Westminster Seminary, having served in that
capacity since the seminary’s founding in 1929. He was born in the Netherlands, and received his A.B. degree at Calvin College, Grand Rapids. He was awarded the degree of Th.M. by Princeton Seminary and Th.D.
by Princeton University. After a year in the pastorate, he
spent one year as Instructor in Apologetics at Princeton Seminary; at its
conclusion he was elected a professor but the appointment was not confirmed by
the 1929 General Assembly, due to the reorganization of Princeton. Dr. Van Til
chose rather to come to Westminster Seminary, and has remained there since its
inception. He is a joint-editor of the quarterly Philosophic! Reformata,
and a contributor to the Evangelical Quarterly. I11 1938 he was chosen
Professor honoris causa of the University of Debrecen,
Hungary. Dr. Van Til is the author of The New
Modernism, a recently-published analysis of the theology of Karl Barth and his followers.


The Rev. Ned B. Stonehouse, Th.D., is Professor of New Testament in
Westminster Theological Seminary, having served in that capacity since 1937,
when that position was made vacant by the death of Dr. J. Gresham Machen. He has served The Orthodox Presbyterian Church as a
member of the Presbytery of Philadelphia and of several committees, including
the Committee on the Constitution and the Committee on Home M issions and Church Extension. During eight of the past ten
years he has been connected with The Presbyterian Guardian in an
editorial capacity, being at present joint editor. He has been president of the
Board of Trustees of the Christian University Association since 1944. His
writings include The Witness of Matthew and Mark to Christ, published in
1944, and a chapter in the symposium, The Infallible Word, published in
1946.












He
was moderator of the Thirteenth General Assembly in 1946.


The Rev. Leslie W. Sloat, a graduate of Princeton University and Westminster Seminary, was
ordained in 1933 by Hudson Presbytery of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. and was pastor of Ridgebury and Denton Presbyterian Churches until June, 1936, when he withdrew
from that denomination. Thereafter until 1939 he served as home missionary and
stated supply of Knox Church, Washington, D.C., leaving to become Acting
Librarian of Westminster Theological Seminary, where he remained until 1945. He
received the degree of Th.M. at Westminster Seminary
in 1944. During the academic year 1945-46, he was engaged in graduate study in
the Divinity School of the University of Chicago.


T„ Rev. Edward J. Young, Ph.D., is Professor of Old Testament
in Westminster Seminary, having served in that department since 1936, first as
instructor, then as assistant professor, and, in 1946, as professor. He is a popular
speaker at young people’s conferences and has been active in young people's
work for many years. Dr. Young is a prominent member of the Committee on
Christian Education, the author of Study Your Bible, and a contributor
to the pages of The Presbyterian Guardian, Westminster Theological Journal, Christian
Opinion, The Evangelical Quarterly, and Moody Monthly.


The Rev. Robert S. Marsden, general secretary of the Committees
on Home and Foreign Missions, was graduated from the University of Pennsylvania in 1927. He studied for one year at
Princeton University, two years at Princeton Seminary,
and was    Edward J. Young







graduated from Westminster Seminary with its first class in
1930. He then served as pastor of the Presbyterian Church of Middletown until
its withdrawal under his leadership from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. in 1936. He remained as pastor of
the withdrawing congregation until 1939, but assumed his duties as missions secretary in 1938. Mr. Marsden
was moderator of the Twelfth General Assembly in 1945. He is a member of the
Board of Directors of the Quarryville Bible Conference Association, the Board
of Trustees and Executive Committee of the Christian University Association,
and editor of The Orthodox Presbyterian Messenger.







The Rev. George W. Marston, field missionary of the
denomination, is currently engaged in an aggressive home missionary campaign in
the Chicago area, where three fields have been
opened to the testimony of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church.


Robert S. Marsden    After his graduation from
Westminster Seminary, Mr. Marston


was for some time pastor of the Kirkwood (Pa.) Orthodox Presbyterian Church.
After resigning that pastorate, he became field missionary, aiding churches of
the denomination in important survey work and conducting evangelistic
campaigns.







The Rev. Floyd E. Hamilton, after fifteen years’ service as a
missionary under the Board of Foreign Missions of the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A., resigned from the Chosen Mission
and from the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., and joined the Presbyterian Church
of America, becoming a missionary under the Independent Board lor Presbyterian Foreign Missions. Until forced out of Korea, Mr. Hamilton worked as a
missionary evangelist in western Korea, helping to establish a number of
churches. Returning, he helped to found the Grace Church of Los Angeles, and
since 1943 has been the General Secretary of the Committee on Christian
Education.


The
Rev. Edwin H. Rian, LL.D., general secretary of the
Christian University Association of America, was
active in the launching of that association in 1944 and has devoted his entire
time to its promotion. From 1930 to 1945 he was field representative of
Westminster Seminary, and president of its board of trustees from 1937 to 1946.
During the denomination’s first year, he served as general secretary of the
Committee on Home Missions; he has been chairman of that committee since 1938.
From 1937 to 1944 he was president of the Board of Trustees of The Presbyterian
Guardian Publishing Corporation and a member of the magazine’s editorial
council. In 1944 he was elected moderator of the Eleventh General Assembly. Dr.
Rian is the author of The Presbyterian Conflict,
a history of Presbvterianism in the United States in recent decades.







A he Rev. Clarence LeRoy
McCoy, a native
of Pennsylvania, was for twelve years a
schoolteacher. He was licensed in 1912 and ordained ten years later, spending
eleven years in the active ministry of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. In protest against the rising tide
of Modernism in that denomination, he severed his connection with it and became
a charter member of the Presbytery of Philadelphia of The Orthodox Presbyterian
Church. Necessity has forced Mr. McCoy to take secular employment, but he hopes
to be able again to serve in the active ministry of the gospel.







The Rev. Thomas M. Cooper was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1935 and promptly refused ordination in the Presbyterian Church in
the U.S.A. because of bis
stand against Modernism in the boards of the denomination. For one year he
preached in Lake Andes, South Dakota, then was
ordained as a minister of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church. Following
evangelistic preaching in New England and in Nebraska, he became the pastor of Faith Church, Lincoln, Nebraska, from 1938 to 1941, leaving to
accept a call to Redeemer Church, Philadelphia. For the past three years his
health has demanded secular activity, but he has continued occasional supply
preaching.







The Presbytery of Wisconsin


A Brief History of the
Presbytery


The Presbytery ol Wisconsin was first organized in July, 1936,
as the “Presbytery of Wisconsin and Upper Michigan.” Later the bounds of presbytery
were enlarged to include Iowa and upper Illinois. The late Rev. Arthur F. Perkins
was the first moderator.


The presbytery at the present time consists of five
congregations and nine ministers. The Rev. John Davies, in addition to caring
for his local congregation, serves an extensive missionary field among the Old
Stockbridge Indians in northern Wisconsin. Two of the congregations of
presbytery, at Oostburg and Cedar Grove, withdrew from the Presbyterian Church
in the U.S.A. because of its departure from the
faith. The remaining two congregations, at Milwaukee and at Waterloo, Iowa, were started as small groups of
individuals who were zealous for the Word of God in all its fullness and truth.


The Rev. Jack Zandstra, a
member of presbytery, is conducting missionary work among the Jews in Chicago under the auspices of the Christian
Reformed Church. The Rev. George J. Willis, also a member of presbytery, served
as chaplain in the U. S. Navy.


Old Stockbridge Orthodox
Presbyterian Church


Gresham, Wisconsin


Pastor:


The Rev. John Davies


Ruling Elder:


Harry Shepard


O ld Stockbridge Church is composed mainly of Mohican
Indians who used to attend the John Sargent Memorial
Presbyterian Church near Gresham, Wisconsin. For many years this flock had been
very poorly shepherded, but from 1930 to 1935 the Rev. Arthur F. Perkins and a
ruling elder who took care of pastoral duties did
intensive evangelistic and pastoral work among them.


Many of the Indians were dissatisfied when they
witnessed the persecution of Mr. Perkins, fiery evangelist and untiring field
worker among home mission fields, and they looked forward to having a minister
of the “new” church who held to the “old” faith and the “old” Book.


The Rev. and Mrs. John Davies started work among the
Menominee and Stockbridge Indians under the direction of Mr. Perkins 011 August
 11, 1936. The Presbytery of Wisconsin of the Presbyterian Church of America had
been organized by Mr. Perkins, W. H. Kielhorn, and
the former pastor of the Stockbridgers who had been
ejected by Winnebago Presbytery, July 30, 1936. The Davieses
pitched their tepee in Neopit. one
of the two main villages of the


(See “Old Stockbridge, Gresham,” Page 102)


Calvary Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Cedar Grove, Wisconsin


Pastor:


The Rev. Dean YV. Adair


Ruling Elders:


Henry Huibregtse Peter Otte Austin Voskuil Vonley Voskuil




Chester Heuver Lewis LeMahieu Herbert Prange Edward Voskuil










.A.nd Abram passed through the land unto
the place of Sichein, unto the plain of Moreh . . . and there builded he
an altar unto the Lord, who appeared unto him. And he removed
from thence unto a mountain on the east of Bethel . . . and there
he builded an altar unto the Lord, and called upon
the name of the Lord” (Genesis 12:6-8). “And Abraham planted a grove in Beersheba, and called there 011 the name of
the Lord, the everlasting God” (21:33). Our father in the faith erected
two temporary altars before a permanent place of worship (Jamieson, Commentary,
in loco)—which also is the story of Calvary Church.


The church was organized June
 9, 1936, in Village Hall, its first place of meeting. The cornerstone of the
present edifice was laid on the sixth day of November, and the basement of the
structure was the second. The sanctuary was dedicated to the Lord four years
later on the fourteenth day of November.







The
church purchased an adequate dwelling this past year to house its pastor.


The
pastors have been John J. De Waard, who was installed
January ig, 1937; George J. Willis, December
 22, 1940; and Dean W.


Adair,
October 9, 1945. Mr. Adair comes to the church from
a varied experience as missionary in Maine and pastor in the Dakotas.


Mission Fields of the Presbytery


Three
mission fields
were opened in the Chicago area in September and October,
1945. During the first four months, sixty-eight families were represented
either by church or Sunday school attendance. The work was spearheaded by the
Rev. George W. Marston, field missionary of the
denomination. Mr. Marston is assisted by the Rev. fack Zandstra and the Rev. Leslie
W. Sloat.


Westminster Chapel meets at 3140 West 95th Street, Evergreen Park. At South La Grange, meetings are held in the home of
Mr. and Mrs. Sloat at 744 South gth
Avenue. Westchester Orthodox Presbyterian Chapel meets in the Westchester
Village Hall at Maywood.


Bethel Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Oostburg, Wisconsin







Pastor:


The Rev. John Verhage


Ruling Elders:


John I*. Daane    Harold Eernisse


Earl DeMaster
   Audley Holle


James DeZoute
   Abram Smies


Bethel Church came into being on September
 11, 1936, under the leadership of the Rev. Oscar Holkeboer,
in an upper room of a hatchery building, the only available space for the
meeting. The members adjourned late that night, after four elders and four
deacons had been chosen, a building committee appointed, and societies
organized. Two days later the first service was held in the Village Hall, in
which place services were continued until the present beautiful church was
dedicated in 1938. There were 133 who signed the charter at the first meeting,
but that number increased to 212 about two months later, and the present
communicant membership is 240. Since almost the entire population of the town
can claim church affiliation, communicant membership has depended largely upon
the professions of faith of the covenant children.


Sunday school enrollment is about 135 and the Bible
classes have 85 pupils. It is expected that members of the church will be
instrumental in launching a Christian Day School in Oostburg in the fall of 1946.
With the cooperation of the local Christian Reformed church, lots for a school
building have been bought and plans for the school are materializing.


Mr. Holkeboer remained as
pastor until 1944, when he accepted an appointment to teach in Eastern Academy, Paterson, N. J. The
church was without a pastor for fourteen months, after which a call was
extended to the Rev. John Verhage and accepted by
him. Mr. Verhage was formerly pastor of the First
Evangelical and Reformed Church of Green Bay, Wis. He was reared in the
Christian Reformed Church.







The
Rev. Jacob Mellema was born at Kollum, Friesland, The Netherlands, in 1893 and came
to the United States in 1915. He attended Grundy College and the University of Dubuque, graduating in 1929. He was
ordained by the Presbytery of Dubuque of the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A. He pursued graduate studies at Purdue University and Southern Baptist Theological
Seminary, Louisville, Kentucky. He served an independent Reformed
church in Wisconsin and from 1934 to 1937 supplied the
pulpits of three Methodist churches in that state. Since 1937 he has been
engaged in mission work at Fairchild, Wisconsin.


Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church


2607 North Fiftieth Street Milwaukee, Wisconsin







Pastor:


The Rev. Richard B. Gaffin


Ruling Elder:


C. Harold Gaffin


A.pril 29, 1938, is the date which marks
the organization of Grace Orthodox Presbyterian Church under the leadership of
the Rev. William A. Swets. The record shows that nine
persons covenanted “to walk together as disciples of Jesus Christ ... In
complete reliance upon God ... to glorify the Name and further the cause of our
Lord Jesus Christ.” Of the original nine members only three remain as active
members, the others having moved away. Mr. Clarence Stark, the first elder,
served faithfully until he too was forced to leave Milwaukee because of failing health.


Services were held in the Y.M.C.A., in the home of the
pastor, and then at 4714 W. North Avenue. There were many difficulties
during the early days with some misunderstanding 011 the part of those who
might have joined, the moving away of some of the members, and the location of
the place of meeting. Faithfully those who were active determined to continue
after their first pastor left to work in another church. The Rev. Leland C.
Jorgensen accepted the call to come and help this small congregation being
supported by the Committee on Home Missions and Church Extension. Mr. Jorgensen
was installed on April 24, 1939, and labored earnestly until he
received the call to a larger field in Canada. On January
 18, 1942, Mr. Jorgensen preached his final sermon as pastor of Grace Church.


A fresh start was made when the present pastor, the
Rev. Richard B. Gaffin, came in October, 1942. There
were times of discouragement, as when the church was forced to leave its
meeting place in August, 1944. The Lord’s hand is now seen in this move, for a
Building Fund was started. Services were held in the home of the pastor and the
Sunday Bible school began to grow. The regular weekday
Bible Class for children has reached many with the gospel and those who have
been able to continue coming are being nurtured with the Word and are growing
wonderfully. A lot has been purchased and paid for, and the gospel is being
extended in a new section of Milwaukee by personal calls of the pastor and
members and elsewhere by letter and tract distribution.


Mr. Gaffin, a native of Colorado, was graduated from Westminster
Seminary in 1935, immediately thereafter becoming a missionary to China under the Independent Board for
Presbyterian Foreign Missions. In 1937 he was appointed by the Committee on
Foreign Missions of The Orthodox Presbyterian Church and served under that
committee until 1942. He has been a missionary under the Home Missions
Committee from 1942 to the present.


First Orthodox Presbyterian Church


Sixth Street and Byron Avenue Waterloo, Iowa







Pastor:


The Rev. Edward Wybenga


Ruling Elders:


Jacob Kortenhoeven
   Glenn    A.    Andreas


James DeJonge


The First Orthodox Presbyterian Church of Waterloo, Iowa,
was organized as a congregation on March 24, 1939, with a charter membership of nine
persons. This was the outcome of over two years of preliminary work in seeking
to establish a church that would be true to the Reformed Faith. First contacts
were made with a few subscribers to The Presbyterian Guardian. They had
some knowledge of the movement and were receptive to its approach.


For over five years the people met for worship services
in as many different meeting places. Finally, on April
 5, 1942, they had the joy of dedicating their own beautiful sanctuary.


The church building, together with the grounds,
required an expenditure of approximately $18,000. Later, a manse was purchased
at a cost of $6,000 to house the pastor’s family. Both church and manse are
free of debt. The building, colonial in style, will seat 120 people.


The church maintains a rather full program during the
entire year. It includes, besides the Sunday school and the two worship
services on Sunday, weekly catechism classes for the covenant children,
semimonthly meetings of a men’s society, a monthly women’s missionary meeting,
a weekly meeting on Wednesday night for instruction in Christian doctrine and
church


history, and a summer vacation Bible school of two weeks’
duration.







The church has faithfully supported all phases of
denominational work, and has endeavored to uphold its precious Reformed
heritage in all of its teachings, activities, and outward relations.


The pastor is the Rev. Edward Wybenga,
who has served this church faithfully since its beginnings. Mr. Wybenga completed his college work in 1930 at Calvin College, Grand Rapids, Mich., taught school for six years, and
was graduated from Westminster Theological Seminary with the class of ’36.


Old Stockbridge, Gresham (From Page 97)


Menominee Reservation. For two weeks work was done with
the children in a Bible school and visitation and preaching were carried on.
The approximately 4000 Menominees are dominated by
the Roman Catholic Church. Protestant pastors have been told by the Indian
agent to cease labor among them. This has not deterred the Davieses
from bringing the gospel to them by schools, cabin evangelistic meetings, and
personal work during the past ten years.


However, after two weeks, the Davieses
moved their tepee twelve miles south, never to sleep in it again, for the Stockbridgers took them in and a goodly number of the
Indians came out of the John Sargent Memorial Church
to attend the services successively held in the Morgan Siding public school,
Town Hall, “converted” saloon, and now again the public school. The remaining
John Sargent Memorial group has since been very small
and has had hardly any Sunday school services since the Sunday the new school
started.


There are about 200 souls that look to the Old Stockbridge Church for spiritual ministrations, and
many more than that of Mohicans, Menominees, Oneidas, Winnebagoes
and Chippewas to whom Mr. and Mrs. Davies bring the
gospel in one way or another, that “by all means we might save some.” The
number of twenty-three communicant members on the roll of the organized church
does not really represent those who look forward to seeing a house of worship
erected at Morgan Siding for the worship of God and the proclamation of the
gospel. The church now has the basement and trusts that it may finish a humble
frame building with its small fund of $575 this coming summer.


The Rev. Jack Zandstra. a graduate of Calvin College, completed his seminary course at Westminster in 1934. In 1936 he withdrew from
the Presbyterian Church in the U.S.A., under which he had been serving
two churches in South Dakota. Deposition followed promptly, the
doors of the two churches were locked against him and his congregations, and he
was ordered to vacate the manse. These actions resulted in the two Orthodox
Presbyterian churches at Alexandria and Bridgewater, S. D. In 1939 Mr. Zandstra supplied the Harrisville and New Hope Churches for eight months. In 1940 he was a
home missionary in Omaha, Nebr., and then served Knox Church, Philadelphia, during the leave of absence of its
pastor. In 1943 he


took up his present duties at Nathanael
Institute, Chicago, a Jewish mission of the Christian Reformed Church. He has
also assisted the Rev. George W. Marston in
establishing three mission points in the Chicago area.







The Rev. George J. Willis, a graduate of Wheaton College and Westminster Seminary, was
ordained by the Presbytery of Wisconsin in 1941. During his seminary days, he
served as student pastor of Atonement Church, Philadelphia, and in the summer of 1939 labored
as a home missionary under the Presbyterian Church in Canada. He was pastor of Calvary Church, Cedar Grove, Wis., from 1940 to 1944, resigning to
become a chaplain in the U. S. Navy, where he served for two years, receiving
his discharge in May, 1946.


Ministers
of the Orthodox Presbyterian Church


January 1, 1946



 
  	
  Adair,
  Dean W., 1936-*Agnew, William J., 1936-44 Ahlfeldt,
  Carl, 1936-Albright, H. Wilson, 1943-Allen, Samuel J., 1936-Andrews, Egbert W., 1936-Arcularius, Philip duB.,
  1936-37 Atwell, Robert L., 1936-Baak, Henry P., 1942-43 (?)

  Balcom, Curtis A., 1936-Beatty, F. E„ 1937 (?)'37 (?)

  Betzold, John Wister, 1943-Blackie,
  Donald K., 1936-42 (?)

  Blair, J. Edward, 1936-42
  (?)

  Bohn, Martin J.,
  1939-Bordeaux, William Harllee, 1936-Bradford,
  Eugene, 1941 -Brown, Benjamin M., 1936-37 Brown, James B., 1936-Brown, Robert
  B., 1938-Buffler, M. Nelson, 1936-37 Busch, Calvin A., 1938-Buswell, J.
  Oliver, Jr., 1936-37 Campbell, Charles L., 1936-38 (?)

  Chrisman, Charles Dana,
  1936-37 (?) Churchill, Robert K., 1936-Clark, Gordon H., 1944-Clelland, John
  P., 1936-Clowney, Edmund P., 1942-Coie, Bruce A., 1936-Coie, Glenn R.,
  1936-Cooper, Edward B., 1936-Cooper, Thomas M., 1936-Coray, Henry W., 1936-Cummings,
  Calvin K., 1936-Davies, John, 1936-Davison, Alexander K., 1936-Derby, Marvin
  L., 1938-44 DeRuiter, Peter, 1936-43 (?)

  DeVelde, Everett C., 1936-DeWaard, John J.,
  1936-Dieffenbacher, Arthur J., 1936-38 (?)

  Dodd, Albert B., 1936-44
  Duff, Clarence W., 1939-

  * Deceased while

  
  	
  Dunn,
  Leslie A., 1936-Dyrness, Franklin S., 1936-El liott,
  Edwards E., 1943-E11 is, Charles H., 1943-Eyres, Lawrence R.,
  1938-Faucette, A. Franklin, 1936-37 Faurot, Jean
  H., 1937-41 Fiol, F’rank
  L., 1936-43 *Fleck, W. K., 1936-Floge, William C., Jr., 1937-1937 Freeman,
  David, 1936-Frelin, Malcolm C., 1937-Gallin, Richard B., 1942-Galbraith, John
  Patton, 1937-Geisenheiner, Fred, 1936-37 Gilmore, Lawrence B., 1936-Goddard,
  Burton I,., 1938-Gordon, Andrew Culver, 1936-Graham, Donald C., 1937-Graham,
  Robert H., 1936-Gray, John, 1941-Gray, Richard W., 1937-Gray, William, 1939-45 (?)

  Green, William P.,
  1936-40 Griffiths, H. McAllister, 1936-37 Grotenhuis,
  Lewis J., 1937-Hamilton, Floyd E.,
  1936-Hamilton, Frank, 1936-37 Harris, R. Laird, 1936-37 Heaton, George,
  1936-37 Heerema, Edward, 1939-Heersma, Gerald A.,
  1937-42 Heydenburk, F’rank
  H., 1936-37 Hills, Edward Freer, 1939-Hills, John C., Jr., 1941-Hitchcock,
  Alonzo D., Jr., 1936-40 Hoeflinger, Herbert,
  1945-Holkeboer, Oscar, 1936-Holmcs, Robert Moody, 1936-41 Hunt, Bruce F.,
  1936-Hutchison, G. Arthur, 1937-Jamison, Lewis H., 1936-37 Jamison, Milo F.,
  1936-37 Jansma, Theodore J„ 1937-44

  minister in the church.

  
 





















 
  	
  Jent, Walter C., 1941-Jones, Desmond,
  1937-37 (?) Jongewaard, Lawrence, 1936-Jorgensen, Leland C.,
  1938-44 Kelley, Alford, 1936-37 Kellogg, Edward L., 1937-Kielhorn, W. H.,
  1936-37 (?)

  Kim,
  C. S., 1936-42 (?)

  Knowles,
  Louis E., 1945-Kooyers, J. Mulder, 1936-36 (?) Kuiper, R. B., 1937-Kuschke, Arthur W., 1940-Lazzaro,
  Carlo, 1945-Long, Luther Craig, 1936-42 *Machcn, ). Gresham, 1936-37 MacRae,
  Allan A., 1936-37 Magee, Waller J., 1936-Mahaffy, Francis E., 1944-Male, W.
  Benson, 1938-Marsden, Robert S., 1936-Marston, George W., 1936-Mattison, E.
  E., 1936-37 (?)

  McCoy,
  Clarence L., 1936-Mcllwaine, Reginald Hebcr.
  1936-Mclntire, Carl, 1936-37 Meiners, Raymond M.,
  1938-Melletna, Jacob, 1936-*Misholf, Ivan D.,
  1938-41 Mitchell, Thomas H., 1936-38 Murray, John, 1937-Myers, David K.,
  1936-37 (?) Nicholas, Robert E., 1940-Nonhof, Melvin B..
  1940-Oliver, LeRoy B., 1943-Olson, Arthur O.,
  1937-Osborn, Edward Hill, 1936-37 Pascoe, Peter, 1938-44 Pearson, M. A.,
  1936-37 (?)

  * Perkins, Arthur F.,
  1936-Petersen, Herman T., 1943-Phillips, Henry D., 1937-Piper, Russell D.,
  1939-Pitcher, Leonard S., 1936-39(7) Poundstone,
  Dwight H.. 1939-Price, James W., 1938-Rankin, John
  C., 1936-

  
  	
  Ray, Stanley I., 1937-39 Rian, Edwin H., 1936-Rohrbaugh, James, 1936-40 Schauffele, Charles G., 1937-Schowalter, Delbert E„ 1945-Shaw,
  J. Lyle, 1936-Shook, Charles L., 1937-Simpson, J. F. Minor, 1936-37 Skilton, John H., 1936-Sloat, Leslie W., 1936-Smith.
  Clifford S., 1936-Stanton, Charles E., 1940-Sterling, Charles G., 1936-37 Sterrett, Charles C., 1936-37 (?) Stonehouse,
  Ned B., 1936-Strong, Robert, 1936-Strong, William T., 1936-45 Sutherland,
  Samuel H., 1936-37 Swets, William A., 1937-39 Ter Maat, Christian G.,
  1938-Thomas, Martin Luther, 1936-37 Thwing, John
  Burton, 1936-40 I’oms, J. U. Selwyn, 1936-37 Tucker, Kelly
  Grier, 1936-Van Houte, Daniel, 1938-43 Van Til, Cornelius, 1936-Vaughn, Robert Jackson, 1936-37 Verhage, John, 1945-Vining, Robert L., 1936-38,
  1945-Voorhees, Reginald, 1936-Wade, Edwin Lynne, 1936-Wall, Peter F., 1936-37
  Weisiger, Cary N., Ill, 1937-40 Welbon,
  Henry G., 1936-37 Welmers, William E.,
  1943-Wideman, Bruce H., 1937-44 Wideman, Charles
  E., 1936-37(7) Willis, George J., 1941 -Winkfield,
  O. W., 1936-37 Woodbridge, Charles J., 1936-37 Woolley,
  Paul, 1936-Wortman, Verne V., 1936-37 Wybenga,
  Edward, 1937-Young, Edward J., 1936-Young, William, 1942-Zandstra, Jack,
  1937-
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